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Strategic Report
US economy
forecast to grow

World economy
forecast to grow

3.7%

4.1%

in 2022 (2021: 5.6%)

Investment objective
Over the long term, the Company
aims to achieve capital growth in
excess of the FTSE World Index and
dividend growth greater than inﬂation, as
measured by the UK Consumer Price
Index (‘CPI’), by investing in companies
listed throughout the world.

in 2022 (2021: 5.5%)

Global
Spotlight
US 10 year treasury yield
forecast

Forecast increase in global
earnings per share

2.3%

7.3%

for 2022 (2021: 1.75%)

A brief history
The Company was incorporated
in 1888. Since seven of the nine
original Directors were bankers by
profession, the name The Bankers’
Investment Trust, Limited
was considered appropriate.
The Company has paid dividends on
the ordinary shares every year since
incorporation except in
the years 1892 and 1893 and
has increased dividends paid
each year since 1966.

to 31 December 2022
(2021: 51.1%)

Sources: J.P.Morgan and World Bank
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Performance Highlights

1

Net asset value per ordinary share

Dividend

With debt at par

Per share for year2

2021

120.9p

2020

97.6p

With debt at market value
2021

120.7p
114.0p

2020

97.4p

6.6%

2020

2.154p

2020

2020

2021

1.0%

2020

3.1%

(Discount)/premium at year end4

98.0p

Net gearing/(cash) at year end5
2021

2.176p

Growth

Share price at year end3
2021

2021

2021

(5.7%)

2020

0.4%

Ongoing charge for year

(1.1%)

2021

0.48%

2020

0.50%

Long term growth record to 31 October 2021
Capital return6
Net asset value
Share price
FTSE World Index7
Total return8
Net asset value
Share price
FTSE World Index7
Dividend
Consumer Price Index

1 year
%

3 years
%

5 years
%

10 years
%

15 years
%

24.1
16.3
29.8

40.1
36.5
44.3

60.8
65.2
61.1

174.3
196.1
112.2

172.3
195.7
93.3

26.5
18.6
32.3

49.3
45.5
54.2

79.2
84.4
83.1

247.7
278.1
188.1

295.0
339.6
213.7

1.0
4.2

10.3
6.5

28.0
12.3

71.3
20.3

129.5
41.0

Comparative ﬁgures for 2020 have been adjusted following the 10 for 1 share split on 1 March 2021
1 A glossary of terms and alternative performance measures can be found on pages 89 to 91
2 This represents the four ordinary dividends recommended or paid for the year (see page 76 for more details)
3 Share price is the mid-market closing price
4 Based on the mid-market closing price with debt at par
5 Net gearing/(cash) is calculated in accordance with the gearing deﬁnition in the alternative performance measures on page 90
6 Capital return excludes all dividends
7 For 5, 10 and 15 years, this is a composite of the FTSE World Index and the FTSE All-Share Index
8 Total return assumes dividends reinvested
Sources: Morningstar Direct, Janus Henderson, Reﬁnitv Datastream
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Global: the Investment Case
Investment policy
The following investment ranges apply:
Equities:

80% to 100%
Debt securities and cash investments:

0% to 20%

Investments trusts, collective funds
and derivatives:

0% to 15%

To achieve an appropriate spread of investment risk the portfolio is broadly
diversiﬁed by geography, sector and company. The Manager has the
ﬂexibility to invest in any geographic region and any sector with no set limits
on individual country or sector exposures and, therefore, the make-up and
weighting of the portfolio may differ materially from the FTSE World Index.
The Manager primarily employs a bottom-up stock picking investment
process, across six regional portfolios, to identify suitable opportunities.
While each regional portfolio manager employs their own investment style,
they all pay particular regard to cash generation and dividend growth over
the medium term. The Board regularly monitors the Company’s investments
and the Manager’s investment activity.
The Company can, but normally does not, invest up to 15% of its gross
assets in other investment companies (including listed investment trusts).

Gearing
The Company can borrow to make additional investments with the
aim of achieving a return that is greater than the cost of the borrowing.
The Company can borrow up to 20% of net assets at the time of draw
down (see fuller description on page 29 in the Business Model).

Experienced, high quality team; Focused portfolios
Lead Manager

Alex Crooke
(Appointed 2003, 32 years experience)

UK

David Smith
(20 years experience)

Number of holdings by region as at 31 October 2021
40
35

Europe (ex UK) James Ross
(15 years experience)

30

North America

Gordon Mackay
(26 years experience)

25

Japan

Junichi Inoue
(27 years experience)

Paciﬁc (ex
Japan, China)

Mike Kerley
(29 years experience)

China

May Ling Wee
(24 years experience)

35
31

30
26

20

21

20

15
10
5
0
UK

Source: Janus Henderson

Europe
(ex UK)

North
America

Japan

Paciﬁc (ex
Japan, China)

China

Source: Janus Henderson

Why invest in Bankers?
O

O

O

2

A quality long-term savings vehicle delivering
Growth and Income from Global Equities
A diversiﬁed equity portfolio from Janus Henderson
Investors regional investment specialists
Delivering long-term performance relative to
its benchmark

O

O

55 consecutive years of dividend increases
supported by the investment trust structure
Ongoing charge ratio amongst the lowest of
actively managed equities funds
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Global: the Dividend Story
The investment process for Bankers has always focused on growing both capital and income for investors. The key focus is
on companies that have a history of growing the amount of surplus cash they generate from their businesses. This is called
free cash ﬂow and is deﬁned as the cash generated after paying all operating costs, borrowing costs, taxes and maintaining
equipment. Companies with growing levels of free cash ﬂow have ﬂexibility to reduce borrowings, invest for the future and grow
their dividends over time. Being global we have a greater pool of opportunities to ﬁnd these companies and also diversify across
different regions and sectors. This investment strategy has helped Bankers not only pay dividends every year since 1894 but
also to increase dividends every year since 1966, a 55 year track record. Following the Company’s 10 for 1 sub-division of share
capital (share split) on 1 March 2021, the charts below have been adjusted accordingly.

Annual dividend over past 55 years

Annual dividend growth over past 5 years

2.5

%
10

2.0

8

1.5

6

1.0

4

0.5

2

pence per share

9.4

6.0

6.0

3.1

1.0

0.0
1965 1970

1980

1990

2000

2010

2021

Annual dividend yield each year based on £1,000
invested on 31 October 2011 and dividends reinvested

0
2017
Dividend growth

2018

2019

2020

2021

Revenue and dividend history for the year ended
31 October
2.5

%
8

2.0

7

1.5
pence per share

6
5
4
3

1.0
0.5
0.0

2
-0.5

1
0
2011

-1.0
2012

2013

2014

Source: Janus Henderson

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Revenue
Dividends paid/payable for the year
Retained revenue for the year

2020

2021
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Chair’s
Statement

Sue Inglis
Chair

‘

We believe, on balance, that there is
further upside for share prices this year,
albeit global economic growth is
expected to be more moderate when
compared with last year and headwinds
and uncertainties are likely to lead to
further bumps, and continued stock
market volatility, along the way. We
would expect, on a relative basis, this
environment to be better suited to the
Company’s investment style than last
year’s high-octane markets.

’
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Chair’s Statement
O
O
O
O
O

Net asset value total return increase of 26.5%.
Share price total return increase of 18.6%.
Average discount to net asset value of 0.04%.
Dividend increase of 1.0% to 2.176p per share.
Forecast increase in current ﬁnancial year
dividend of at least 3.0%.

Financial performance
Over the year ended 31 October 2021, the Company’s NAV per
share increased by 24.1% (2020: 3.0%) in capital terms. With
dividends reinvested, the NAV total return per share of 26.5%
(2020: 5.3%) was strong in absolute terms but lagged the FTSE
World Index on a relative basis as the Index achieved a total return
of 32.3% (2020: 4.3%). All returns are in sterling.
The announcement of successful Covid-19 vaccine trials early in
the ﬁnancial year provided further impetus to the economic
recovery that had begun months earlier. The success of Covid-19
vaccine rollouts in most advanced economies, together with
ongoing ﬁscal stimulus and easy monetary support, allowed many
economies to recover more quickly than expected. In the wake of
this recovery came supply chain bottlenecks, labour shortages and
sharp rises in energy prices and the resultant price pressures
propelled inﬂation to levels not seen for many years. As the year
progressed inﬂation concerns grew and led to increased volatility as
investors speculated as to when the US central bank would begin
to tighten monetary policy. Worries over the evolution of Covid-19
continued to recur, particularly in response to news of further
variants and concerns over the effectiveness of current vaccines.
Covid-19 was a massive shock to the global economy and,
inevitably, the recovery was going to be bumpy. Reﬂecting these
bumps, the global stock market recovery was led, at separate
times, by highly cyclical companies rallying on a strengthening
economic recovery and high growth companies, with defensive
equities appreciating but lagging the broader market.
It is disappointing to report underperformance of our benchmark
this year. However, the Company is a long-term investor and our
portfolio has a more defensive tilt than the broader market. This
means that, at times of rampant stock market growth, it is more
challenging for our Manager to outperform the benchmark (but,
in falling markets, our portfolio is generally more resilient than
the broader market).
All our regional portfolios, with the exception of China, delivered
positive returns and two (US and Paciﬁc (ex Japan and China))
outperformed their respective local benchmarks over the ﬁnancial
year. Having been a signiﬁcant contributor to performance since
its inception in 2014, our China portfolio was the biggest
detractor from our overall performance. Its benchmark return was
among the lowest in global markets, and our portfolio
underperformed the benchmark. Whilst there may continue to be
some relative weakness in the Chinese stock market in the short
term, we believe that, on a longer-term view, the investment case
for China remains intact. Details of the performance of the
Company, our regional portfolios and global markets during the
year are included in the Fund Manager’s and Regional Portfolio
Manager Reports in the Annual Report.
Our share price total return over the year was 18.6% (2020: 8.1%),
lower than our NAV total return as our shares de-rated from a
0.4% premium at 31 October 2020 to a discount of 5.7% at
31 October 2021. Over the year, our shares traded at an average
discount of 0.04% (2020: average premium 0.3%).

Revenue and dividends
I am pleased to report that the Company’s revenue in 2021 has
recovered faster from the initial effects of the pandemic than
I anticipated in my statement last year, with our revenue earnings
per share increasing by 29% to 2.17p (2020: fell 22% to 1.68p).
The Board, therefore, is recommending a ﬁnal quarterly dividend of
0.55p per share, to be paid on 28 February 2022 to shareholders
on the register of members at the close of business on 28 January
2022. If approved by shareholders at the forthcoming AGM, this
will result in total dividends per share for the year of 2.176p (2020:
2.154p), an increase of 1.0%, which is double our forecast for the
year. This will be the Company’s 55th successive year of annual
dividend growth.
The ability to use the revenue reserve to help smooth the level of
dividend payments over the longer term is a distinguishing feature
of investment trusts. After taking into account the recommended
ﬁnal 2021 dividend payment, if approved, approximately
£0.2 million (2020: £6.4 million), equivalent to 0.015p per share
(2020: 0.491p per share), will be transferred from our revenue
reserve. Adjusted for that transfer and the third and ﬁnal dividends,
our revenue reserve at the year-end amounts to approximately
£24.1 million (2020: £24.3 million), or 1.84p per share (2020: 1.87p
per share). Higher expected dividend receipts, together with the
revenue reserve, gives the Board conﬁdence to forecast dividend
growth of at least 3%, equivalent to total dividends of 2.24p per
share, for the current ﬁnancial year.

Borrowings
The Company has traditionally maintained a range of borrowings
to provide balance between longer-term and short-term maturities
and between ﬁxed and ﬂoating rates of interest. During the year,
the Company issued £37 million senior unsecured ﬁxed rate private
placement loan notes at an annualised coupon of 2.28% maturing
in 2045 and €44 million senior unsecured ﬁxed rate private
placement loan notes at an annualised coupon of 1.67% maturing
in 2041. The Board considers that such ﬁnancing on the terms
obtained to be highly attractive. The issuance, which anticipated
the repayment of the Company’s £15 million 8% debenture stock
due in 2023, gives our Manager more scope to take advantage of
suitable investment opportunities within the Company’s existing
gearing limit and is expected to enhance long-term investment
returns for shareholders. The Company also has in issue £50
million senior unsecured ﬁxed rate private placement loan notes
at an annualised coupon of 3.68% maturing in 2035.
The Company’s £20 million short-term borrowing facility with
SMBC Bank International plc expires in February 2022 and we
are in the process of renewing it for a further two years. The
Company continually reviews opportunities to deploy gearing
and the short-term facility gives our Manager additional ﬂexibility
to invest and create returns for shareholders.

Share split, issues and buy-backs
At last year’s AGM, shareholders approved a resolution to subdivide each ordinary share of 25p into 10 ordinary shares of 2.5p
each (the share split). The share split took effect on 1 March 2021.
Prior year ﬁgures reported in the Annual Report have been adjusted
for the share split.
When the shares are trading at a premium, the Company may
issue new shares (or sell shares out of treasury) to meet market
demand. Conversely, when the shares are trading at a discount,
the Company may buy back shares, taking account of prevailing
market conditions, the level of the discount (both absolute and
relative to the Company’s closest peers) and the impact on the
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Chair’s Statement (continued)
NAV per share. The Company only issues new shares (or sells
shares from treasury) and buys back shares at prices which
enhance the NAV per share and when it is considered in
shareholders’ interests to do so. During the year, the Company
issued 14,750,000 new shares (2020: 65,510,000 issued or sold
from treasury), raising gross proceeds of £26.3 million (2020:
£57.0 million) and bought back 2,031,754 shares (2020: none) to
be held in treasury at an aggregate cost of £2.3 million. Since the
year end, no further shares have been issued or bought back.

A focus on ESG matters
Environmental, social and governance matters have been a focus
for the Board over the last three years as we believe their
integration into the Company’s investment process are important
elements in achieving its investment objective. In recognition of
the growing importance of ESG matters, our Manager has been
investing in this area through expanding its dedicated resources.
Our approach to ESG is covered on pages 24 to 26. Financial
reporting has been developed over centuries. ESG reporting is
evolving much more quickly but the current measures have their
weaknesses. The key points now are that the Board discusses
ESG matters with our Fund Manager and Regional Portfolio
Managers when they present to us and we continue to review and
assess the integration of ESG matters into the investment process
and consider the most appropriate metrics for measuring our
portfolio of investments against available benchmarks and other
relevant information.

Board changes
Further to my statement at the half year, recruitment for a new
Director concluded with the appointment of Simon Miller, which
was announced on 27 July 2021, and he joined the Board on
1 January 2022. Simon brings extensive ﬁnancial services
knowledge to the Board. Having served on the Board for nine
years, I will be retiring at the conclusion of this year’s AGM and
Simon will succeed me as Chair of the Board. I will be leaving
the reins of your Company in very good hands.
Richard Huntingford, who joined the Board in September 2018,
stood down as a Director on 31 October 2021 due to his other
business commitments. On behalf of the Board, I would like to
express our gratitude for his valued contribution during his tenure.
The Board plans to start a recruitment process to appoint a new
Director in early 2022.

Management fee
I am pleased to report that we have agreed with our Manager an
additional level to our tiered management fee. Therefore, with effect
from 1 November 2021, net assets in excess of £1.5 billion will be
subject to a management fee at the rate of 0.35% per annum. The
management fee will continue at the rate of 0.45% per annum on
net assets up to £750 million and 0.40% per annum on net assets in
excess of £750 million and up to £1.5 billion. At the timing of writing,
the Company had net assets of approximately £1.6 billion.

pandemic, it will not be possible for shareholders to attend the
AGM in person, but we invite you to join the meeting by Zoom, the
conferencing software provider. The meeting will include a
presentation by our Fund Manager, Alex Crooke. Due to technical
restrictions, we cannot offer live voting by Zoom. Therefore, voting
on the resolutions to be proposed will be conducted on a poll, and
we request that all shareholders submit their votes by proxy to
ensure that their votes count at the AGM.
If you have any questions on the Annual Report or any of the other
business to be transacted at the AGM, please email
ITSecretariat@janushenderson.com in advance of the meeting.
All questions received will be considered and responses will be
available on the Company’s website. There will be an opportunity
to ask questions via Zoom regarding the Fund Manager’s
presentation, details of which will be in the Notice of Meeting to be
sent to shareholders.
Please note that, due to Covid-19, it may be necessary to change
the time or date of the AGM, having regard to the advice of the
public health authorities and UK government closer to the time.
We will keep shareholders updated of any changes through the
Company’s website at www.bankersinvestmenttrust.com and
announcements to the London Stock Exchange.

Outlook
Conﬁdence in the outlook for economic growth is reﬂected in
announcements from central banks signalling intentions to begin
reducing their support through tapering their quantitative easing
and increasing interest rates and the recovery in corporate
earnings is encouraging with global stock market dividend
payments currently expected to return to their pre-pandemic
levels in this calendar year. Nevertheless, the global economy still
faces a number of headwinds. Inﬂation is a key concern and it is
not yet clear whether the current higher inﬂationary environment is
transitory or will be prolonged. It is our Manager’s view that it will
be the latter and it is positioning the portfolio accordingly. The
ongoing impact of Covid-19, including supply chain disruptions,
worries over new variants and imposition of new restrictions on
movement and activities, are likely to constrain global economic
growth and may inhibit corporate earnings in the short term. An
aggressive reduction in central bank support, such as increasing
interest rates too quickly in the event of persistent high and rising
inﬂation, could choke off economic growth.
Short-term headwinds may give way to tailwinds for global
economic growth. As supply chain bottlenecks ease, depleted
inventories will require to be replenished. The Omicron variant is
beginning to appear to be less of a concern than initially feared
and, although it will continue to be disruptive in the short-term,
vaccines should help society and economies to live with Covid.
We believe, on balance, that there is further upside for share prices
this year, albeit global economic growth is expected to be more
moderate when compared with last year and headwinds and
uncertainties are likely to lead to further bumps, and continued
stock market volatility, along the way. We would expect, on a
relative basis, this environment to be better suited to the
Company’s investment style than last year’s high-octane markets.

Annual General Meeting (AGM)
Last year, along with taking precautionary action in amending the
Company’s Articles of Association to allow a combination of virtual
and physical shareholder meetings to be held in the future, the
Board committed to holding physical meetings when restrictions
were not in place and these could be held safely. However, at the
time of writing, due to the current guidance regarding the Covid-19
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Sue Inglis
Chair
17 January 2022

Fund
Manager’s
Report

Alex Crooke
Fund Manager
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Fund Manager’s Report
Performance
‘We live in interesting times.’
It has been an often-used phrase through this period of Covid-19
infection. Robert F Kennedy quoted the expression in 1966 and
went on to say ‘They are times of danger and uncertainty; but
they are also the most creative of any time in the history of
mankind’. This nicely sums up the investment opportunities
over the past couple of years. There has been so much creativity,
including spectacular advancements in medicine, such as new
vaccine techniques, and software allowing us to work and
interact remotely with colleagues and friends. While some
industries have faced huge uncertainty, it is a remarkable
endorsement of government support that there are still cinemas,
music venues or even airlines operating today.
The stock markets have continued to march to the beat from
central banks, the latter creating waves of new money and
support schemes for wages and corporate loans. This massive
increase in money supply has historically pushed asset prices
higher and globally we have seen property, stock markets and
resources all reach new high prices. At the start of the reporting
year, the approval of Covid-19 vaccines in December 2020
buoyed the markets to new highs and supported so-called
‘re-opening stocks’, such as retailers, airlines and resources.
These are sectors that we had reduced materially in 2020 and so
the Bankers portfolio underperformed in this period. The regional
portfolio managers tend to choose companies that have a bias
towards those with dependable earnings, higher margins and
more stable revenues. When the stock market is driven by
momentum, high demand for new issues and risk-taking, then
the portfolio may underperform the benchmark index. Our
investment process aims to limit the downside when the market
falls by focussing on companies with defensive qualities.
The vaccines turned out to be difﬁcult to manufacture, and in high
demand, which led to short supply through the Spring of 2021.
Stock markets wobbled and this allowed us to regain some
relative return until March when the Chinese stock market fell
sharply. The regulators in China started the ﬁrst of their crack
downs on the internet sector, including new rules for the
ecommerce sector. Our investments in China have delivered
signiﬁcant returns over the last ﬁve years but in this recent year
they have failed to keep up with other developed markets.
The government has increased regulation at the same time as
normalising monetary supply to limit the expansion of the property
sector. Although we reduced our investments in the country
through the year, and also focused on less-regulated industries,
the allocation to China was a major drag on performance.
In the Summer and Autumn of 2021, optimism increased that the
vaccines were having a signiﬁcant effect in reducing major illness
and governments in most parts of the world started reopening
their economies. This led to some wildly bullish investor behaviour
sparking meme stocks, strong new issuance and a return to
growth investing at any price. The impact of Covid-19 lockdowns
was now beginning to be felt in terms of dislocated supply chains
and strong demand for key manufacturing components such as
semi-conductors and oil. Prices have risen sharply across all
commodities and many components of the inﬂation price indices.
Central banks initially commented that inﬂation trends were
transitory and reﬂected localised supply bottlenecks but in recent
months have admitted that there are more fundamental grounds
for expecting prices to remain elevated. Investors in stock markets
over the past decade have favoured growth investing, as opposed
to value investing, principally driven by favourable factors such as
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falling interest rates and central bank support. Through this year,
growth investing still outperformed, but only marginally and
cyclical value stocks such as banks and industrials delivered very
strong performance.
The underperformance relative to the benchmark index this year
was partially driven by the asset allocation to China but also
underperformance in key markets such as the UK. The UK
portfolio has struggled to deliver consistent relative performance
since the Brexit vote in 2016, as the weakness in Sterling
impacted the focus on domestic companies. The relative value of
UK stocks compared to the remainder of the world keeps
widening and is at a multi-decade low, signifying there is value in
UK holdings. We have decided to reduce the number of holdings
in the UK portfolio to the 25-30 level that most other portfolios
hold. This reﬂects the reduction of smaller companies that we
have traditionally held in the UK and will focus the portfolio on
our best ideas. The main elements of underperformance this
year came from these smaller companies combined with zero
exposure to oil stocks which performed very strongly as the oil
price surged to over US $80 per barrel.
The European, Japan and North American portfolios are all, to
varying degrees, more growth orientated in their stock selection
and, following very strong relative performance in the previous
year, the ﬁrst two gave up some performance this year under
review. However, the North American portfolio ended the period
marginally above its benchmark, following a strong October
driven by the large tech and credit card stocks. The Japan
portfolio also staged a good second half recovery but, despite
an equally good October return, could not quite return to positive
relative performance. Europe has been more challenging,
reﬂecting derating of some of the best performing holdings from
last year and being underweight the strongly recovering banking
and industrial sectors early in the year. All three of these key
regions have delivered excellent returns over the past 3 years
despite more challenging recent investment conditions.
Finally, one region that struggled in the previous ﬁnancial year
was the Paciﬁc (ex Japan and China) portfolio managed by Mike
Kerley. However, it is pleasing to see that his value and income
driven investment process has delivered a very strong recovery,
outperforming its benchmark by over 17% this year. I prefer to
judge performance in each of our regions over the medium term,
being 3-5 years, rather than a single year when markets can be
driven by very speciﬁc conditions. The sanctions applied to
certain Chinese companies by the US has driven investment
outwards into Asia and we have found good opportunities to
invest in many of the wider Paciﬁc markets.

Environmental, social and governance factors
The recent COP26 conference in Glasgow reminded us that
environmental factors will continue to be an important part of
stock selection in the future. All the investment teams managing
the Bankers portfolio integrate environmental, social and
governance (‘ESG’) factors into their stock selection process,
the ongoing monitoring and ultimately a decision to sell or hold.
We feel that excluding certain sectors because of their industry
characteristics will not contribute to improving the environment
or improve societal harm. Our preferred route is through
engagement and insisting on changes backed up by voting and
only ultimately selling the holding if we ﬁnd we have no inﬂuence.
We have outlined on page 25 some examples of the engagement
during the past year with companies we invest in.
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Fund Manager’s Report (continued)
We take seriously a commitment to vote at all the shareholder
meetings of the companies we invest in and in over a quarter of
meetings we voted against one or more items on the agenda.
The portfolio’s ESG characteristics are disclosed on pages 24
and 25 and again show that the portfolio exhibits a lower carbon
intensity than the benchmark.

Income
We indicated in last year’s report that there were a number of
levers we could pull to improve income generation from the
portfolio and that we had identiﬁed a path to recovery. It has
surprised us just how quickly the dividends have resumed from
the companies within the portfolio. The recovery was sharpest in
the UK and Europe, with many companies not only resuming the
payment of dividends but also restoring those that were
cancelled in 2020. The higher level of gearing within the portfolio
has helped income generation but we have not chased
dividends and decided to hold on to many of those companies
that cancelled dividends because we felt that they were
undervalued. We expect further improvement in the coming year
and hope to see a similar level of special dividend income which
recovered from £0.2m in 2020 to over £2.1m in 2021.

Asset allocation and gearing
As markets recovered and Bankers’ net asset value increased,
the structural gearing reduced as a percentage of asset value.
Long term interest rates remained at very low levels despite the
prospect of rising inﬂation. We felt that the early summer
represented a good time to review the structural gearing,
especially given the impending October 2023 repayment of the
8% debenture. The issuance of both Sterling and Euro loan
notes pushed out the length of the debt proﬁle to 25 years and
also reduced the overall cost of debt. The interest cost of these
notes was below 2% combined and is lower than the overall
portfolio yield.

Outlook
The two key numbers that will determine whether share prices
continue to rise are corporate earnings and the rate of inﬂation.
The impact of Covid-19 has resulted in the suspension of large
parts of the global economy and the next two years should see
the world open to trade and travel. Consumers have on average
built up savings during the lockdowns and are likely to spend
these cash deposits as liberties return, temporarily raising global
economic growth. All of this points to further growth in corporate
earnings to come, however the pace is uncertain while
governments respond to new variants in different ways. As in
previous economic cycles, we expect that share valuations will
de-rate as share prices rise at a slower pace than earnings.
The outlook for inﬂation will dominate central banks’ thinking for the
year ahead. Their response will deﬁne the pace of recovery and
also determine which sectors will lead the market. Our view is that
the sharp rise in price inﬂation is permanent and not transitory.
Wages are now starting to rise and central banks will struggle or be
unwilling to enact policy quick enough to suppress the price of
goods and services from rising further. This outturn can be positive
for equities, as most companies ultimately pass on the price
inﬂation. Over the past year we have been raising the portfolio’s
exposure to companies that beneﬁt from rising interest rates and
inﬂation. This has not helped performance in the short term but we
expect stock picking to be key to performance in the coming year.
Alex Crooke
17 January 2022

Corporate revenue exposure at
31 October
2021

2020

We maintained a positive view of markets and have increased
the gearing of the portfolio through use of the banking facility
and the new loan issuance. The net gearing at the year end
was 6.6%. The increased level of structural gearing results in
a neutral level of gearing in the 5-7% range, however this is
market dependent.

2021
%
UK
8.1
Europe (ex UK)
15.2
North America
34.3
Japan
8.5
Asia Paciﬁc (ex Japan)
3.5
Emerging Asia and Other 30.5

2020
%
8.0
16.0
31.9
9.0
3.5
31.6

Source: Factset

Explanation of movement in net asset value (total return) per ordinary share
Over the year to 31 October, the net asset value (total return) rose by 26.45% compared to a rise in the FTSE World Index of 32.29%.
An estimate of the attribution of the portfolio’s performance between asset allocation and stock selection is given below.
The table below adds that result to the impact of other factors as listed to explain the movement of net asset value over the year.
Portfolio performance

Other factors

Performance of index
Performance of portfolio total return against benchmark
Due to asset allocation
Due to stock selection
Gross performance of portfolio
Due to gearing
Ongoing charge
Timing residual1
Performance of net asset value (total return)

1

32.29
-4.05
-1.37
-5.42
-0.22
-0.48
0.28
-0.42
26.45

The timing residual includes the combined beneﬁt of share issues and share buy-backs of 0.1%
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Portfolio Structure at 31 October
Geographical analysis (equities excluding cash held)

20
21

202

FTSE World Index
2021
%
18.1
18.8
35.4
11.8
10.0
5.9

0
United Kingdom
Europe (ex UK)
North America
Japan
Paciﬁc (ex Japan, China)
China

2020
%
19.4
16.1
35.9
12.4
9.0
7.2

2021
%
4.2
14.0
66.4
6.9
7.2
–
1.3

United Kingdom
Europe (ex UK)
North America
Japan
Paciﬁc (ex Japan, China)
China
Emerging Markets

2020
%
4.0
14.1
64.5
8.2
7.7
–
1.5

Source: Janus Henderson

The Company’s performance against the FTSE indices1
49.2

50
40
30

30.7

35.4

36.6 35.3

33.7

20.6

20

10.5

10

12.1 13.0 11.4

3.9

5.1
-4.1

-3.9

-10

12.0

11.3
0.9

0

-20

29.6

28.4

27.5

-1.2

-18.5 -18.6

-30
UK
Company 2021

Europe
(ex UK)
FTSE indices 2021

North
America
Company 2020

Japan

Paciﬁc
(ex Japan,
China)

China¹

FTSE indices 2020

1 China CSI 300 Index (£)
Source: Janus Henderson

Sector analysis

202

Source: Janus Henderson

10

20
21

0

2021
%
Financials
19.4
Industrials
18.8
Consumer Discretionary 16.9
Technology
15.6
Health Care
9.4
Consumer Staples
7.2
Basic Materials
4.6
Telecommunications
3.1
Real Estate
2.5
Utilities
1.5
Energy
1.0

2020
%
15.7
15.6
17.3
20.3
8.3
9.4
3.1
3.7
3.4
2.2
1.0
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Largest Investments
At 31 October 2021
Ranking
2021

Ranking
2020
Company

Valuation
2020
£’000

Country

Purchases
£’000

Sales
proceeds
£’000

Appreciation/
(depreciation)
£’000

Valuation
2021
£’000

1

1

Microsoft

US

34,450

–

(4,498)

16,918

46,870

2

23

American Express

US

12,825

14,294

(4,594)

12,091

34,616

3

2

Estée Lauder

US

26,875

–

(4,047)

9,096

31,924

4

13

CME

US

17,757

4,947

–

8,148

30,852

5

#

ADP

US

–

22,398

–

6,687

29,085

6

7

American Tower

US

20,181

4,859

–

3,757

28,797

7

#

Home Depot

US

–

19,961

–

7,259

27,220

8

9

Intuit

US

18,269

–

(5,194)

13,451

26,526

9

#

Otis Worldwide

US

–

24,682

–

865

25,547

10

11

Intercontinental Exchange

US

18,122

–

–

6,950

25,072

11

19

Union Paciﬁc

US

13,885

5,924

–

4,647

24,456

12

15

Moody's

US

16,075

–

–

7,234

23,309

13

6

Visa

US

22,449

–

(2,293)

2,262

22,418

14

17

Sherwin-Williams

US

14,719

3,006

–

4,357

22,082

15

4

Alphabet

US

23,517

–

(7,240)

5,747

22,024

16

#

AstraZeneca

UK

–

17,955

–

3,925

21,880

17

8

MasterCard

US

19,852

–

–

1,880

21,732

18

3

Apple

US

25,789

–

(11,038)

6,332

21,083

19

#

Diageo

UK

11,060

3,494

–

5,179

19,733

20

#

Zoetis

US

–

15,464

–

4,114

19,578

21

16

Roper Technologies

US

15,034

–

–

3,596

18,630

22

#

Toyota Motor

Japan

23

21

ICON

US

7,966

7,375

(949)

2,913

17,305

13,136

–

–

3,811

16,947

24

#

RELX

UK

7,210

5,168

–

4,166

16,544

25

5

Amazon

US

23,000

–

(7,280)

700

16,420

362,171

149,527

(47,133)

146,085

610,650

Valuation
2020
£’000

Purchases
£’000

Sales
proceeds
£’000

Appreciation/
(depreciation)
£’000

Valuation
2021
£’000

UK

241,861

110,398

(108,158)

61,821

305,922

Europe (ex UK)

200,652

139,883

(73,909)

52,233

318,859

North America

447,657

129,043

(133,271)

155,886

599,315

Japan

154,518

94,210

(65,816)

16,318

199,230

Paciﬁc (ex Japan, China)

112,339

87,638

(56,997)

26,292

169,272

All securities are equity investments
# Not in top 25 last year
Convertibles and all classes of equity in any one company are treated as one investment

Changes in Investments
At 31 October

China

89,519

53,318

(40,149)

(3,117)

99,571

1,246,546

614,490

(478,300)

309,433

1,692,169
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Distribution of Assets and Liabilities
At 31 October 2021
Geographical exposure
of net assets
Equities
£’000

Fixed
interest
£’000

Current
assets
£’000

Total
assets
£’000

%

UK

305,921

1

35,810

341,732

19.8

(105,439)

236,293

14.9

Europe (ex UK)

318,859

–

–

318,859

18.4

(36,994)

281,865

17.8

Total
liabilities
£’000

£’000

%

North America

599,315

–

571

599,886

34.7

–

599,886

37.8

Japan

199,230

–

–

199,230

11.5

–

199,230

12.5

Paciﬁc (ex Japan, China)

169,272

–

108

169,380

9.8

–

169,380

10.7

–

100,730

6.3

(142,433) 1,587,384

100.0

China

99,571

–

1,159

100,730

5.8

Total

1,692,168

1

37,648

1,729,817

100.0

Expense debtors and creditors have been allocated to sterling for the purposes of this table.

Rates of Exchange
The principal exchange rates at 31 October
2021

2020

1.370

1.293

156.300

135.170

38.12

36.98

1.19

1.11

Korean Won

1601.790

1467.167

Hong Kong Dollar

10.66

10.03

Swiss Franc

1.253

1.185

Australian Dollar

1.825

1.841

New Zealand Dollar

1.915

1.956

US Dollar
Japanese Yen
Euro

Chinese Yuan Renminbi
New Taiwanese Dollar

2021

2020

8.7719

8.6634

Historical Record
At 31 October

Gross
revenue
£’000

2011

Indices of growth3

Ongoing
charge
%

Total assets
less current
liabilities
£’000

Net
asset
value
per
ordinary
share2
p

Market
price
per
ordinary
share2
p

Net
asset
value

Market
price
per
ordinary
share

FTSE
All–
Share
Index

FTSE
World
Index

Dividend
per
ordinary
share
net

UK
Consumer
Price
Index

1.20

1.27

0.40

521,331

45

39

100

100

100

100

100

100

2012

18,593

1.38

1.33

0.42

551,214

48

43

106

112

106

107

105

103

2013

19,6891

1.451

1.41

0.45

678,561

59

58

132

151

125

130

111

105

2014

20,748

1.51

1.48

0.53

693,196

60

56

135

146

122

138

117

106

2015

22,767

1.72

1.58

0.52

777,428

63

62

142

161

122

141

124

106

2016

24,916

1.75

1.70

0.52

991,544

76

69

171

179

132

178

134

107

2017

29,634

2.05

1.86

0.44

1,142,379

88

85

199

221

144

198

146

110

2018

30,547

2.08

1.97

0.50

1,126,410

87

84

196

217

136

202

155

113

2019

31,752

2.16

2.09

0.52

1,228,032

95

93

215

241

140

220

165

115

2020

26,761

1.68

2.15

0.50

1,325,803

98

98

221

255

110

225

170

115

2021

35,027

2.17

2.18

0.48

1,726,067

121

114

274

296

144

292

171

120

1
2
3

12

16,389

Earnings and
dividends per
ordinary share
Total
Earnings dividends
net2
net2
p
p

Company only ﬁgures from 2013, following liquidation of subsidiary
Comparative ﬁgures for the year ended 31 October 2011 to 31 October 2020 have been restated due to the sub-division of each ordinary share of 25p into
10 ordinary shares of 2.5p each on 1 March 2021
Rebased to 100

The Bankers Investment Trust PLC

Annual Report 2021

Regional Portfolio Manager Reports
UK Portfolio
As at 31 October 2021

Fund Manager:

David Smith

Assets:

£305.9m

Allocation:

18.1%

Income:

£11.3m

Total return (£) year to 31 October 2021
Bankers

30.7%

FTSE All-Share Index

35.4%

Review
O

The UK portfolio rose 30.7% during the period, underperforming the FTSE All-Share Index return of 35.4%.

O

The strong performance of the UK market was driven by the successful development of effective vaccines against Covid-19
and the subsequent reopening and recovery of the economy.

O

Holdings in James Fisher and the London Stock Exchange (LSE) were detrimental to performance. James Fisher, the
specialist marine engineer, was impacted by project deferrals in its oil & gas and renewables businesses, while the LSE
disappointed investors after announcing higher investment spending following the acquisition of Reﬁnitiv.

O

Given the recovering UK economy and strong market backdrop, positions in cyclicals and ﬁnancials, such as housebuilder
Vistry and private asset manager Intermediate Capital, performed well.

Activity
We initiated new positions in Anglo American, AstraZeneca and Paragon Banking during the period. Anglo American is a well
diversiﬁed miner with good organic growth prospects given the number of new projects, especially in copper, due to come on
stream in the next few years. Demand for copper should have good long-term structural support given its application in the
electriﬁcation of energy infrastructure. This year Anglo American spun-off its thermal coal business and continues to actively
review the sustainability of its mining portfolio. AstraZeneca has a strong pipeline of potential new drugs within its Research &
Development division in exciting areas, such as oncology. This pipeline together with the acquisition of Alexion Pharmaceuticals,
a specialist in rare diseases, should drive future proﬁt growth. Paragon specialises in buy-to-let mortgages and commercial
lending in the UK with a focus on strong credit quality. Loan pricing in these areas is attractive, given the lack of competition from
the main high street banks, which should support robust returns from the company.
Towards the end of the period, the number of holdings within the UK portfolio was reduced to 30. We sold out of positions where
we had less conviction in their long term potential and invested the proceeds across the rest of the portfolio. In this regard,
holdings in Johnson Matthey, DCC, Imperial Brands and BP, among others, were sold.

Classiﬁcation by market value of investee company
20
2

1

20
2

0

FTSE 100
FTSE Mid 250
Smaller companies

Source: Factset

2021
%
77.0
19.7
3.3

2020
%
76.3
21.6
2.1
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Regional Portfolio Manager Reports (continued)
Europe (ex UK) Portfolio
As at 31 October 2021

Fund Manager:

James Ross

Assets:

£318.9m

Allocation:

18.8%

Income:

£8.2m

Total return (£) year to 31 October 2021
Bankers

27.5%

FTSE All World Developed Europe
(ex UK) Index

33.7%

Review
O

The European portfolio underperformed a very strong rise in markets over the period, delivering a return of 27.5% against
a gain of 33.7% for the FTSE All World Developed Europe (ex UK) Index.

O

The best performing positions included the semi-conductor manufacturer ASML, Austrian bank Bawag and agricultural
machinery manufacturer CNH Industrial. The main detractors to performance included the Dutch conglomerate Prosus,
French online payment company Worldline and Spanish telecoms company Cellnex.

O

Having performed strongly in the previous year, when Covid-19 impacted stockmarkets heavily, the portfolio struggled as
economies recovered because it was under-represented in cyclical sectors such as industrials, energy and resources.

Activity
We initiated several new positions during the period, the most notable of which were in Allfunds, Stellantis and Sanoﬁ. Allfunds
is a high-quality ﬁnancial investment platform business that sits between fund managers and fund distributors, offering services,
including analytics, to both parties. Stellantis is a large automotive producer following the merger in 2021 of Fiat Chrysler and
PSA Group. They have a signiﬁcant opportunity to improve proﬁtability through addressing an inefﬁcient cost structure formed
by this and previous mergers. Sanoﬁ is a French pharmaceutical company which is signiﬁcantly less expensive than peers whilst
showing the ﬁrst signs of improving R&D efﬁciency.
Our most notable complete sales during the period included Embracer, STMicroelectronics and Alstom. At Swedish software
company, Embracer, we were becoming increasingly concerned about the regulatory risks in gaming following new stringent
restrictions being imposed in China. Elsewhere, we decided to sell semi-conductor manufacturer, STMicroelectronics, at a time
of apparently buoyant end-market demand. The sector is prone to very powerful inventory cycles and the lack of visibility for future
pricing meant we were worried by the heightened equity valuation. Finally, we sold the rail and transport manufacturer, Alstom,
as we were concerned by potential integration issues with the Bombardier rail business that they purchased in early 2021.

Classiﬁcation by market value of investee company
20
2

1

20
2

0

Over £20bn
£5bn-£20bn
Under £5bn
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2021
%
65.5
29.1
5.4

2020
%
54.9
37.5
7.6
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Regional Portfolio Manager Reports (continued)
North American Portfolio
As at 31 October 2021

Fund Manager:

Gordon Mackay

Assets:

£599.3m

Allocation:

35.4%

Income:

£4.7m

Total return (£) year to 31 October 2021
Bankers

36.6%

FTSE World North America Index

35.3%

Review
O

The North American portfolio outperformed the benchmark over the 12 months to 31 October 2021, returning 36.6%
compared to 35.3% for the FTSE World North America Index.

O

Markets rallied sharply over the period following successful Covid-19 vaccine trials and the gradual re-opening of economies.
Companies in sectors previously hit the hardest such as those within the energy and ﬁnancial sectors rallied the most
whereas the utilities and consumer staples sectors were relative laggards.

O

Microsoft was the strongest contributor to performance over the year. Whilst ﬁnancial software developer Intuit, American
Express, Estée Lauder and CME, the derivatives exchange, were also strong performers. The most signiﬁcant detractor from
performance was Pinterest, the image sharing and social media platform.

Activity
We initiated a position in Home Depot, the leading home improvement retailer in North America which operates in a category that
is less at risk from disruption from Amazon. We also acquired a holding in ADP, the leading payroll processor in the US with a
long track record of growth whilst generating high returns on capital. Another new name we added was OTIS Worldwide which
manufactures and services elevators. OTIS Worldwide is the global number one in this market and has industry leading margins
and there is an opportunity for management to improve the business further now that it has been spun out of its former parent,
United Technologies. Elsewhere we bought a position in Zoetis, an animal health business with a relatively higher mix of sales
directed towards the more attractively growing companion animal segment.
We also bought a position in Pinterest, a platform that allows people to share images and search products and services that are
of interest. However, following our purchase it became evident that Pinterest’s ability to monetise its platform would be more
challenging than we had envisaged and we subsequently divested of the stock.
Other stocks we sold during the period included Berkshire Hathaway and Facebook. The latter was sold on ESG considerations
as it has become increasingly clear that the platform cannot be controlled in a manner that avoids societal harm whilst at the
same time meeting senior management’s goals in relation to user engagement.

Classiﬁcation by market value of investee company
20
2

1

20
2

0

Over £20bn
£5bn-£20bn
Under £5bn

Source: Factset

2021
%
95.3
4.7
–

2020
%
94.2
5.8
–
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Regional Portfolio Manager Reports (continued)
Japanese Portfolio
As at 31 October 2021

Fund Manager:

Junichi Inoue

Assets:

£199.2m

Allocation:

11.8%

Income:

£3.7m

Total return (£) year to 31 October 2021
Bankers

12.1%

FTSE World Japan Index

13.0%

Review
O

The Japanese portfolio returned 12.1%, slightly underperforming FTSE World Japan Index, which rose 13.0%.

O

During the ﬁrst half of the reporting period, cyclical value stocks signiﬁcantly outperformed quality growth stocks in a
reversal of a trend that has dominated the Japanese market in recent years. The portfolio’s performance was negatively
impacted by this movement.

O

By the summer, it became clear that the pace of recovery was picking up and forward earnings guidance was raised,
beneﬁting growth stocks. The underperformance from the start of the reporting period was steadily eroded as market
investors focused on the prospects for individual stocks rather than macro issues.

O

The largest contributor to the performance was Persol Holdings, a stafﬁng and recruitment service agency, where proﬁtability
improved as the economy recovered and companies started recruiting. The portfolio’s long-term holdings such as Mitsubishi
Corp, Sony and Toyota Motor were also amongst the top contributors to performance. The biggest detractors were some of
last year’s top performers such as Nintendo, SoftBank and Nitori, a home furnishings retailer.

Activity
The portfolio remained focused on high quality businesses that can create shareholder value through generating high levels
of cash return on invested capital. At the start of the reporting period, while investors were focused on Covid-19 macro worries,
we were able to accumulate holdings in companies with potential for long-term earnings recovery. Good examples of these
purchases were Persol Holdings and Mitsubishi Corp, which turned out to be two of the largest contributors to performance
during the reporting period. As the stock market rose to the highest point in 30 years on the back of corporate earnings
upgrades, it has become more difﬁcult to ﬁnd such bargains. Later purchases have focused on idiosyncratic stock-speciﬁc
opportunities and we have recently bought holdings in Astellas Pharma, convenience store retailer Seven & I and home
refurbisher Katitas. These investment cases are expected to be less dependent on an improving macro-economic environment
and focused on management actions to improve proﬁts.
Several long-term holdings such as property developer Mitsui Fudosan, chemical manufacturer Kao and Takeda Pharmaceutical
were divested as their original investment cases became less certain.

Classiﬁcation by market value of investee company
20
2

1

20
2

0

Over £20bn
£5bn-£20bn
Under £5bn
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Source: Factset

2021
%
69.0
24.9
6.1

2020
%
65.5
30.2
4.3
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Regional Portfolio Manager Reports (continued)
Pacific (ex Japan and China) Portfolio
As at 31 October 2021

Fund Manager:

Mike Kerley

Assets:

£169.3m

Allocation:

10.0%

Income:

£5.1m

Total return (£) year to 31 October 2021
Bankers

28.4%

FTSE All-World Asia Paciﬁc (ex Japan)
Index

11.3%

Review
O

The Bankers Asia Paciﬁc portfolio rose 28.4% over the period, outperforming the benchmark FTSE All-World Asia Paciﬁc
(ex Japan) Index return of 11.3%.

O

Positive stock selection was the greatest contributor, although not owning internet giants Alibaba and Tencent was also
beneﬁcial. These companies came under intense regulatory scrutiny as the Chinese authorities clamped down on data
protection and monopolistic practices.

O

The largest contributors to performance were Australian investment bank Macquarie, Chinese software company Chinasoft and
sportswear brand ANTA Sports, which all rose more than 50% over the period. The investment in the VinaCapital Vietnam
Opportunities Fund was also beneﬁcial as the country beneﬁted from the relocation of manufacturing facilities away from China
to avoid US sanctions.

O

The weakness in the Chinese economy, alongside rising input prices, impacted the performance of the sanitary products
manufacturer, Hengan International, which fell 25% and was the largest detractor from returns.

Activity
With Covid-19 continuing to impact the return to normality across the region we continued to focus on the North Asian markets
of Korea, Taiwan and Hong Kong. Lower vaccination rates and a higher dependence on services kept us cautious on South East
Asian countries. At the sector level resources and ﬁnancials had the most attractive combination of value, growth and income
and we have been adding to these areas. In Korea we purchased the bank KB Financial, while in Taiwan we purchased another
bank, CTBC Financial. The addition of Australian copper miner Oz Minerals increased the exposure to resources.
We were cautious on China, as regulatory clampdowns and lockdowns related to a policy of zero tolerance towards Covid has
weakened economic progress and corporate earnings were impacted. We sold positions in ANTA Sports, China Vanke, Sands
China and Hengan International which all have cyclical headwinds, while adding software service company Chinasoft, which is
exposed to the structural trend of internet cloud development.
Other changes include the sale of Thai Beverage, as a lack of tourist arrivals continues to dampen sales, and the acquisition of
Taiwanese notebook and server manufacturer Quanta Computer, which is beneﬁting from work from home demand for laptops
and data centre demand for additional server capacity.

Classiﬁcation by market value of investee company
20
2

1

20
2

0

Over £20bn
£5bn-£20bn
Under £5bn

Source: Factset

2021
%
34.4
42.6
23.0

2020
%
58.6
32.1
9.3
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Regional Portfolio Manager Reports (continued)
Chinese Portfolio
As at 31 October 2021

Fund Manager:

May Ling Wee

Assets:

£99.6m

Allocation:

5.9%

Income:

£1.9m

Total return (£) year to 31 October 2021
Bankers
China CSI 300 Index

(1.2%)
5.1%

Review
O

The Chinese domestic A share equity market, as measured by the China CSI 300 Index, rose 5.1% on a total return basis
through the reported period.

O

The Bankers Chinese portfolio fell by -1.2% thereby underperforming the benchmark index by 6.3%.

O

Investors sought growth and earnings visibility in areas which were the focus of China’s policy support, such as
environmental green technologies, the electric vehicle value chain and domestic semiconductor manufacturing. Growth
stocks with the backing of government policy enjoyed a signiﬁcant re-rating during the period.

O

In particular, ﬁnancials, basic materials and consumer discretionary sectors detracted from performance. Shares in Ping An
Insurance, handset component maker Luxshare Precision and information security provider Venus Technology
underperformed.

Activity
We sold out of Anhui Conch Cement as Covid-19 lockdown impacted the economy at the start of the period providing less impetus
for local governments to increase ﬁscal expenditure. In the healthcare sector, we sold traditional Chinese medicine makers China
Resources Sanjiu and Yunnan Baiyao as revenue growth and margins continued to be challenged. We reinvested proceeds into
Shenzhen Mindray, a leading patient monitoring and invitro diagnostics device maker which has been winning market share
domestically and overseas. We sold our position in Shanghai International Airport as the operating environment under China’s zero
tolerance Covid-19 policy has caused a standstill in international trafﬁc resulting in a signiﬁcant downward renegotiation in the airport’s
rental fees from its key duty free anchor tenant. We exited bus manufacturer Zhengzhou Yutong where revenues and margins were
challenged by weaker demand and higher raw material prices. Longi Green Energy Technology, Sany Heavy Industry and regional
brewer Chongqing Brewery performed well, and we reduced position sizes and locked in investment gains.
We added a position in Beijing Oriental, a waterprooﬁng materials provider which is growing distribution into the lower tier cities in
China from its current tier one city markets. In clean tech, we bought Nari Technology, a leading provider of electricity grid
automation equipment and dispatch solutions. We expect a higher upgrade demand for dispatch systems as the electricity grid
offtakes more renewable energy from traditional fossil fuels. We also introduced a consumer focused bank, China Merchants
Bank, an early mover in China’s wealth management industry where we expect sustained growth given rising income levels.
The shift of China’s household wealth from a heavy exposure to property assets into other ﬁnancial assets will drive future growth.

Classiﬁcation by market value of investee company
20
2

1

20
2

0

Over £20bn
£5bn-£20bn
Under £5bn
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2021
%
80.0
15.8
4.2

2020
%
53.6
39.3
7.1
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Portfolio Holdings at 31 October 2021
United Kingdom
£’000

% of
UK
portfolio

% of
total
portfolio

Investments by value

Sector

AstraZeneca

Pharmaceuticals and Biotechnology

21,880

7.15

1.29

Diageo

Beverages

19,733

6.45

1.17

RELX

Media

16,544

5.41

0.98

Lloyds Banking

Banks

15,495

5.06

0.92

Reckitt Benckiser

Personal Care Drug and Grocery Stores

15,378

5.03

0.91

Compass

Consumer Services

12,136

3.97

0.72

Bunzl

General Industrials

11,582

3.79

0.68

3i

Investment Banking and Brokerage Services

11,481

3.75

0.68

British American Tobacco

Tobacco

11,157

3.65

0.66

Anglo American

Industrial Metals and Mining

10,619

3.47

0.63

Rio Tinto

Industrial Metals and Mining

10,353

3.38

0.61

Burberry

Personal Goods

10,112

3.31

0.60

Coca-Cola Hellenic Bottling

Beverages

10,085

3.30

0.60

Sage

Software and Computer Services

9,651

3.15

0.57

Whitbread

Travel and Leisure

8,851

2.89

0.52

London Stock Exchange

Finance and Credit Services

8,755

2.86

0.52

Intermediate Capital

Investment Banking and Brokerage Services

8,725

2.85

0.52

Vistry

Household Goods and Home Construction

8,504

2.78

0.50

Informa

Media

8,401

2.75

0.50

Paragon Banking

Finance and Credit Services

8,193

2.68

0.48

Hilton Food Group

Food Producers

8,076

2.64

0.48

Big Yellow

Real Estate Investment Trusts

7,970

2.61

0.47

St. James's Place

Investment Banking and Brokerage Services

7,781

2.54

0.46

Schroders

Investment Banking and Brokerage Services

7,543

2.47

0.45

National Express

Travel and Leisure

7,245

2.37

0.43

Cranswick

Food Producers

7,018

2.29

0.41

Bodycote

Industrial Metals and Mining

6,872

2.25

0.41

M&G

Investment Banking and Brokerage Services

6,806

2.22

0.40

Victrex

Chemicals

6,495

2.12

0.38

Industrial Transportation

2,480

0.81

0.15

Fisher (James) & Sons
1

Lehman Brothers Hldgs 7.875%

Fixed interest

1

–

–

305,922

100.00

18.10

1 Fixed Interest
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Portfolio Holdings at 31 October 2021 (continued)
Europe (ex UK)
£’000

% of
European
portfolio

% of
total
portfolio

Investments by value

Sector

Country

Bawag
Novo-Nordisk
Munich Re
Nestlé
DSM
ASML
Roche
Stellantis
Cellnex Telecom
Unicredit
Faurecia
Swiss Reinsurance
Sanoﬁ

Banks
Pharmaceuticals and Biotechnology
Non-life Insurance
Food Producers
Chemicals
Technology Hardware and Equipment
Pharmaceuticals and Biotechnology
Automobiles and Parts
Telecommunications Service Providers
Banks
Automobiles and Parts
Non-life Insurance
Pharmaceuticals and Biotechnology

Austria
Denmark
Germany
Switzerland
Netherlands
Netherlands
Switzerland
Netherlands
Spain
Italy
France
Switzerland
France

15,301
14,986
14,852
13,607
13,568
12,745
12,289
10,976
10,911
10,845
10,652
10,264
10,235

4.80
4.70
4.66
4.27
4.26
4.00
3.85
3.44
3.42
3.40
3.34
3.22
3.21

0.90
0.89
0.88
0.80
0.80
0.75
0.73
0.65
0.64
0.64
0.63
0.61
0.60

Partners
Total

Investment Banking and Brokerage Services
Oil Gas and Coal

Switzerland
France

10,069
9,791

3.16
3.07

0.60
0.58

Sampo
RWE
Danone
Hermès
Moncler
KPN
Amundi
SIG Combibloc
Engie
Enel
Grifols
Worldline
Safran
Allfunds
CNH Industrial
Nexi
SKF
Prosus
Brockhaus Capital
Auto 1

Non-life Insurance
Gas Water and Multi-utilities
Food Producers
Personal Goods
Personal Goods
Telecommunications Service Providers
Investment Banking and Brokerage Services
General Industrials
Gas Water and Multi-utilities
Electricity
Pharmaceuticals and Biotechnology
Industrial Support Services
Aerospace and Defence
Finance and Credit Services
Industrial Transportation
Industrial Support Services
Industrial Metals and Mining
Software and Computer Services
Investment Banking and Brokerage Services
Retailers

Finland
Germany
France
France
Italy
Netherlands
France
Switzerland
France
Italy
Spain
France
France
Netherlands
Netherlands
Italy
Sweden
Netherlands
Germany
Germany

9,398
9,194
8,993
8,852
8,485
8,386
8,385
8,154
8,075
7,508
6,797
6,682
6,588
6,528
6,102
5,936
5,875
4,253
2,021
1,556

2.95
2.88
2.82
2.78
2.66
2.63
2.63
2.56
2.53
2.35
2.13
2.10
2.07
2.05
1.91
1.86
1.84
1.33
0.63
0.49

0.56
0.54
0.53
0.52
0.50
0.50
0.50
0.48
0.48
0.44
0.40
0.39
0.39
0.39
0.36
0.35
0.35
0.25
0.12
0.09

318,859

100.00

18.84

2021
%

2020
%

France

24.5

18.2

Netherlands

19.6

16.3

Switzerland

17.1

17.6

Italy

European geographical distribution at 31 October
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10.3

16.1

Germany

8.7

12.6

Spain

5.6

7.9

Austria

4.8

6.2

Denmark

4.7

5.1

Finland

2.9

–

Sweden

1.8

–

100.0

100.0
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Portfolio Holdings at 31 October 2021 (continued)
North America
Investments by value

Sector

£’000

% of
North American
portfolio

% of
total
portfolio

Microsoft

Software and Computer Services

46,870

7.82

2.77

American Express

Industrial Support Services

34,616

5.77

2.05

Estée Lauder

Personal Goods

31,924

5.33

1.89

CME

Investment Banking and Brokerage Services

30,852

5.15

1.82

Automatic Data

Industrial Support Services

29,085

4.85

1.72

American Tower

Real Estate Investment Trusts

28,797

4.80

1.70

Home Depot

Retailers

27,220

4.54

1.61

Intuit

Software and Computer Services

26,526

4.43

1.57

Otis Worldwide

Industrial Engineering

25,547

4.26

1.51

Intercontinental Exchange

Investment Banking and Brokerage Services

25,072

4.18

1.48

Union Paciﬁc

Industrial Transportation

24,456

4.08

1.45

Moody's

Finance and Credit Services

23,309

3.89

1.38

Visa

Industrial Support Services

22,418

3.74

1.32

Sherwin-Williams

General Industrials

22,082

3.68

1.30

Alphabet

Software and Computer Services

22,024

3.67

1.30

MasterCard

Industrial Support Services

21,732

3.63

1.28

Apple

Technology Hardware and Equipment

21,083

3.52

1.25

Zoetis

Pharmaceuticals and Biotechnology

19,578

3.27

1.16

Roper Technologies

Software and Computer Services

18,630

3.11

1.10

ICON

Medical Equipment and Services

16,947

2.83

1.00

Amazon

Retailers

16,420

2.74

0.97

Adobe Systems

Software and Computer Services

14,630

2.44

0.86

Netﬂix

Media

14,600

2.44

0.86

Thermo Fisher Scientiﬁc

Medical Equipment and Services

14,326

2.39

0.85

The Cooper Companies

Medical Equipment and Services

11,304

1.89

0.67

PayPal

Industrial Support Services

9,267

1.55

0.55

599,315

100.00

35.42
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Portfolio Holdings at 31 October 2021 (continued)
Japan
Investments by value

22

Sector

£’000

% of
Japanese
portfolio

% of
total
portfolio

Toyota Motor

Automobiles and Parts

17,305

8.69

1.02

Sony

Leisure Goods

15,086

7.57

0.89

Shin-Etsu Chemical

Chemicals

10,999

5.52

0.65

Tokio Marine

Non-life Insurance

10,260

5.15

0.61

Mitsubishi

General Industrials

10,050

5.04

0.59

Daiichi Sankyo

Pharmaceuticals and Biotechnology

9,170

4.60

0.54

Seven & I

Retailers

8,259

4.15

0.49

Persol Holdings

Industrial Support Services

7,695

3.86

0.45

Asahi

Beverages

7,585

3.81

0.45

Olympus

Medical Equipment and Services

7,240

3.63

0.43

SoftBank

Telecommunications Service Providers

6,882

3.45

0.41

Astellas Pharma

Pharmaceuticals and Biotechnology

6,742

3.38

0.40

Recruit Holdings

Industrial Support Services

6,096

3.06

0.36

Renesas Electronics

Technology Hardware and Equipment

6,087

3.05

0.36

Nomura Research Institute

Software and Computer Services

6,020

3.02

0.36

Otsuka

Software and Computer Services

5,912

2.97

0.35

Hitachi

Electronic and Electrical Equipment

5,868

2.95

0.35

Z Holdings

Software and Computer Services

5,728

2.88

0.34

TDK

Technology Hardware and Equipment

5,542

2.78

0.33

Keyence

Electronic and Electrical Equipment

5,235

2.63

0.31

Fujiﬁlm

Technology Hardware and Equipment

4,967

2.49

0.29

Sumitomo Mitsui

Banks

4,761

2.39

0.28

T&D

Life Insurance

4,677

2.35

0.28

Pan Paciﬁc

Retailers

4,578

2.30

0.27

Nitori

Retailers

4,395

2.21

0.26

Ryohin Keikaku

Retailers

3,578

1.80

0.21

Murata Manufacturing

Technology Hardware and Equipment

2,764

1.39

0.16

Disco

Industrial Engineering

2,736

1.37

0.16

Mitsubishi Heavy Industries

Industrial Engineering

1,954

0.98

0.12

Katitas

Household Goods and Home Construction

1,059

0.53

0.06

199,230

100.00

11.78
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Portfolio Holdings at 31 October 2021 (continued)
Pacific (ex Japan, China)
Investments by value

Sector

Country

Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing
Macquarie Bank
Oz Minerals
Chinasoft
VinaCapital Vietnam
KB Financial
Taiwan Cement
Samsung Electronics
LG Corporation
SK Telecom
China Yongda Automobiles
CTBC Financial
Woodside Petroleum
Citic Securities
HKT
BOC
AIA
Swire Paciﬁc
Quanta Computers
Sun Hung Kai Properties
Telekomunikasi

Technology Hardware and Equipment
Investment Banking and Brokerage Services
Industrial Metals and Mining
Software and Computer Services
Closed End Investments
Banks
Construction and Materials
Technology Hardware and Equipment
General Industrials
Telecommunications Service Providers
Retailers
Banks
Oil Gas and Coal
Investment Banking and Brokerage Services
Telecommunications Service Providers
Banks
Life Insurance
General Industrials
Technology Hardware and Equipment
Real Estate Investment and Services
Telecommunications Service Providers

Taiwan
Australia
Australia
Hong Kong
Vietnam
South Korea
Taiwan
South Korea
South Korea
South Korea
Hong Kong
Taiwan
Australia
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Taiwan
Hong Kong
Indonesia

£’000

% of
Paciﬁc (ex
Japan, China)
portfolio

% of
total
portfolio

13,339
12,050
11,233
10,496
9,528
9,009
8,744
8,263
8,036
7,944
7,619
7,540
6,965
6,638
6,541
6,410
6,181
6,080
5,873
5,454
5,329

7.88
7.12
6.64
6.20
5.63
5.32
5.17
4.88
4.75
4.69
4.50
4.45
4.12
3.92
3.86
3.79
3.65
3.59
3.47
3.22
3.15

0.79
0.71
0.66
0.62
0.56
0.53
0.52
0.49
0.47
0.47
0.45
0.45
0.41
0.39
0.39
0.38
0.37
0.36
0.35
0.32
0.31

169,272

100.00

10.00

2021
%

2020
%

32.7
21.0
19.7
17.9
5.6
–
3.1

40.1
22.4
14.2
9.8
5.5
4.6
3.4

100.0

100.0

£’000

% of
Chinese
portfolio

% of
total
portfolio

9,205
8,980
8,008
6,763
6,486
6,473
6,207
6,170
6,140
5,762
5,134
5,107
4,256
3,923
2,978
2,843
2,016
1,869
1,251

9.24
9.02
8.04
6.79
6.51
6.50
6.23
6.20
6.17
5.79
5.16
5.13
4.27
3.94
2.99
2.86
2.02
1.88
1.26

0.54
0.53
0.47
0.40
0.38
0.38
0.37
0.36
0.36
0.34
0.30
0.30
0.25
0.23
0.18
0.17
0.12
0.11
0.07

99,571

100.00

5.86

Paciﬁc (ex Japan, China) geographical distribution at 31 October
Hong Kong
Taiwan
South Korea
Australia
Vietnam
Singapore
Indonesia

China
Investments by value

Sector

Inner Mongolia
Longi Green Energy Technology
Midea
Beijing Oriental
Haier Smart Home
China Merchants Bank
Nari Technology Development
China Tourism
Luxshare Precision
Shenzen Mindray
Kweichow Moutai
Sany Heavy Industry
Venus Technology
Ping An Insurance
Angel Yeast
Chongqing Brewery
Jiangsu Hengrui Medicine
China Jushi
Huayu Automotive Systems

Food Producers
Technology Hardware and Equipment
Household Goods and Home Construction
Construction and Materials
Household Goods and Home Construction
Banks
Electronic and Electrical Equipment
Travel and Leisure
Telecommunications Equipment
Medical Equipment and Services
Beverages
Industrial Engineering
Software and Computer Services
Life Insurance
Food Producers
Beverages
Pharmaceuticals and Biotechnology
Chemicals
Automobiles and Parts

All of the above are China ‘A’ shares
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Our Approach to Environmental, Social and
Governance Matters
Our principles

Fundamental factors considered vary, and may include:

The Board believes that integrating environmental, social and
governance (‘ESG’) factors into the investment decision-making
and ownership practices is a crucial element in delivering our
investment objective. ESG considerations are a fully integrated
component of the investment processes employed by each of
the active investment teams at Janus Henderson, our Manager.
These teams, spanning different geographic markets, operate
and are structured in ways that are suited to their respective
regions. This means that ESG considerations are embedded in
ways that are appropriate to the markets in which the teams
invest. They apply their differentiated perspectives, insight and
experience to identify sustainable business practices that can
generate long-term value.

Financial
analysis

Capital structure, balance sheet strength,
revenue growth, free cash ﬂow, earnings
growth, return on invested capital,
leverage ratios

Qualitative
evaluation

Executive management, business model,
industry growth, barriers to entry,
competitive strength, product cycle,
macro cycle

Deﬁning ESG
O

O

O

Environmental factors include climate change, energy
efﬁciency, resource depletion and water and waste
management.
Social factors include employee and community relations,
diversity, quality of life, enhancements in knowledge and
advances in supportive technology for improved
sustainability.
Governance factors include mitigating risks such as
bribery and corruption, questioning board diversity,
executive pay, accounting standards and shareholder
rights and positively inﬂuencing corporate behaviour.

Investment considerations
When employing fundamental security analysis, the
investment teams take a long-term view, seeking to identify
companies differentiated by their sustainable competitive
advantage, strong earnings potential and shareholder-friendly
management teams. As they strive to understand all drivers
of company performance, they also strive to understand the
risks. An evaluation of ESG factors is integral to this.
Governance is a key part of fundamental analysis with good
corporate governance supportive of long-term decision-making
and investment returns. The interpretation of environmental and
social factors can vary in importance depending on the sector
and geographic region in which a company operates.
Nonetheless, each ESG factor, in addition to the quantitative
and qualitative assessments, are important considerations when
calculating the opportunity in an equity investment.
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Environmental Sustainable sourcing, emissions, water
usage, energy dependency, regulatory
impact, waste management
Social

Labour practices, data privacy, workplace
safety, supply chain standards, diversity,
community action, customer support

Governance

Accounting standards, shareholder rights,
voting structure, transparency, compensation,
board independence

Valuation

Discounted cash ﬂow, sum of the parts,
dividend payout, price to earnings, price to
book, free cash ﬂow yield, enterprise value/
EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation, amortisation)

The Manager engages MSCI, a leading global provider of ESG
research, to support their own investment research. The
Manager has a dedicated ESG research team to provide
insights and thematic analysis to support the portfolio
managers. The Company’s portfolio, as at 31 October 2021,
exhibited the following factors, as deﬁned by MSCI analysis.

ESG Quality Score
9.2

Bankers

7.8

Benchmark
0

2

4

6

8

10

Source: MSCI as at 31 October 2021

The ESG Quality Score measures the ability of underlying
holdings to manage key medium to long-term risks and
opportunities arising from environmental, social and
governance factors. It is based on MSCI ESG Ratings and is
measured on a scale of 0 to 10 (worst to best). The score
represents the average weighted score from all holdings that
are covered by MSCI’s database, representing 93% of the
portfolio’s holdings.
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Our Approach to Environmental, Social and
Governance Matters (continued)
Europe
E G – RWE

Carbon intensity (tCO2e/USD million)
81.0 (2020: 87.5)

Bankers

133.8 (2020: 168.1)

Benchmark
0

30

60

90

120

150

Sources: MSCI as at 31 October 2021 and Sustainalytics as at 31 October 2020

Carbon Intensity (Scope 1+2) is a metric used to compare
company emissions across industries. MSCI divides the
absolute emissions by total revenue, meaning the ﬁgure
is expressed in tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent per
USD million of total revenue. The overall Bankers portfolio
is 39% less carbon intensive than the benchmark.

Stewardship and company engagement
Stewardship is an integral and natural part of Janus Henderson’s
long-term, active approach to investment management. Strong
ownership practices, such as management engagement and
proxy voting, can help protect and enhance long-term shareholder
value. Janus Henderson entities support a number of stewardship
codes, such as the UK and Japanese stewardship codes, and
broader initiatives around the world including being a founder
signatory of the UN Principles for Responsible Investment.
The intensive research of the portfolio managers and analysts
involves conducting on an annual basis thousands of
interviews with senior executives and chairmen of companies
throughout the world. These teams naturally develop long-term
relationships with the management of ﬁrms in which they
invest. Should concerns arise over a ﬁrm’s practices or
performance, they seek to leverage these constructive
relationships by engaging with company management or
expressing their views through voting on management or
shareholder proposals. Escalation of the engagement activities
depends upon a company’s individual circumstances.
Illustrated below are a case from each regional portfolio where,
during the past 12 months, Janus Henderson has engaged
with companies held within the portfolio on matters that relate
to environmental (E), social (S) or governance (G) topics.
UK
E S – Severn Trent
Discussions with management regarding the award of part of the
government’s Green Recovery Fund. The meeting discussed the
proposed projects and the beneﬁts to local communities and the
environment. Separately, the company’s schemes for making
bills affordable to vulnerable customers were discussed.

Discussed with management accelerating the rundown of
coal assets and pivoting towards renewable energy
generation. Discussions were extensive and covered
investment plans, funding and potential disposals. The various
stakeholders within the business were outlined and it was
debated how their interests were represented. The company’s
decarbonisation plan will continue to be monitored.
North America
E – Sherwin-Williams
A wide-ranging debate with management concerning
controlling the risk of environmental damage from their
manufacturing processes and targets for use of renewable
energy. New targets for launching sustainable products, the
energy mix and reduction in water usage have since been
issued by the company. Lead in products remains an issue
but is now a very small proportion of sales.
Japan
G – Fujiﬁlm
Fujiﬁlm has a complicated operating structure. We discussed
how management could simplify the business and improve
access to cash ﬂow. Various strategic options were debated
and we made clear our preferences. The accounting oversight
at subsidiary level was discussed and management outlined
the reporting and governance controls in place.
Paciﬁc
E – Taiwan Cement
Cement manufacturers are intensive users of energy. We
discussed with the management ways to address carbon
dioxide output and a commitment to reduction targets. We
made the case that the company needs to increase access to
renewable energy sources. The replacement of key materials in
the manufacturing process was also discussed. The Company
aims to produce new targets for investors to track progress.
China
S – Haier Smart Home
Customer data is stored and collected by the company. We
discussed the regional regulations and how the company can
ensure that the privacy of their customers can be maintained,
limiting the risk of regulatory review or ﬁnes. The company
emphasised that data is stored locally and direct access to
consumer data is limited. The company’s investment plans will
continue to be monitored.
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Our Approach to Environmental, Social and
Governance Matters (continued)
Voting
The Board believes that voting at general meetings is an
important aspect of corporate stewardship and a means of
signalling shareholder views on board policy, practices and
performance. We have chosen to delegate responsibility to
Janus Henderson for voting the rights attached to the shares
held in the Company’s portfolio and the Manager actively
votes at shareholder meetings and engages with companies
as part of the voting process.
Voting decisions are taken in keeping with the provisions of
the Manager’s Responsible Investment Policy (‘RI Policy’).
The RI Policy can be found on the Manager’s website at
www.janushenderson.com.
Corporate governance regimes vary signiﬁcantly as a function
of factors such as the relevant legal system, extent of
shareholder rights and level of dispersed ownership.
The voting and engagement activities vary according to the market
and pay close attention to local market codes of best practice.

Voting record

71.2% of meetings where all
resolutions voted in favour
28.8% of meetings where voted
against one or more resolutions

In terms of the resolutions not supported, these covered three
predominant themes relating to the undue dilution of
shareholders’ interests in the investee company, director
re-election and executive remuneration.
The proportion of the votes that were against management:

However, there are certain core principles that are universal:
O

disclosure and transparency;

O

board responsibilities;

O

shareholder rights; and

O

audit and internal controls.

A key element of the Board’s approach to proxy voting is to
support these principles and to foster the long-term interests
of our shareholders.
In order to retain oversight of the process, the Board
regularly receives reports on how the Manager has voted
the shares held in the Company’s portfolio and reviews,
at least annually, the RI Policy, which sets out the
Manager’s approach to corporate governance, corporate
responsibility and Janus Henderson’s compliance with the
UK Stewardship Code.
In the period under review, investee companies held 226 general
meetings. The shares held in the Company’s portfolio were voted
at 99% of these meetings. The level of governance in leading
global companies is generally of a high standard in terms of best
practice which meant support in favour of most of the resolutions
proposed by management was warranted. However, in respect
of 65 meetings, support was not warranted for all of the
resolutions proposed and, following discussion between the
Fund Manager and Janus Henderson’s governance team, the
shares were voted against the passing of at least one resolution.

Non-salary compensation
Director related
Shareholder proposals
Reorganisations & mergers
Capitalisation
Routine business

29%
28%
15%
13%
10%
5%

Source: Janus Henderson using Institutional Shareholder Services (‘ISS’) categories

The environment
As an investment company, the Company’s own direct
environmental impact is minimal. The Company has no
greenhouse gas emissions to report from its operations, nor
does it have responsibility for any other emissions producing
sources under the Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report and
Directors’ Reports) Regulations 2013.
Janus Henderson, the Company’s Manager, recognises the
importance of managing its operational activities in a sustainable
way and minimising any adverse impact on the environment. To
this end, Janus Henderson has made the following commitments:
O

maintain a carbon neutral status;

O

reduce carbon use by 15% per full time employee over
a three year period – starting January 2019; and

O

maintain a Carbon Disclosure Project (‘CDP’) score of B, which
is higher than the ﬁnancial services sector average CDP score
of C (CDP scores range from A to D, with A being the best).

Business ethics
As the Company’s operations are delegated to third-party
service providers, the Board seeks assurances, at least
annually, from its service providers that they comply with the
provisions of the UK Modern Slavery Act 2015 and maintain
adequate safeguards in keeping with the provisions of the
Bribery Act 2010 and Criminal Finances Act 2017.
26
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Business Model
Our purpose and strategy

O

enables investors to spread the risks of investing;

The Company’s purpose is to invest in large and mediumsized, publicly-listed companies throughout the world that
offer attractive capital and income growth opportunities.

O

enhances returns to investors by operating as an approved
investment trust meaning no capital gains tax is paid on
the realisation of investments;

O

the closed-end structure allows the Fund Manager to take the
longer term view on investments and remain fully invested;

O

the Company may use leverage with the aim of increasing
returns for investors over the longer term; and

O

oversight by a Board of Directors wholly independent of
the Manager.

We fulﬁl this purpose by operating as an investment company
enabling us to delegate operational matters to specialised
third-party service providers. Their performance is monitored
and challenged by a Board of Directors (‘the Board’) which
retains oversight of the Company’s operations.

Sustainability
The Board believes the business model provides investors
with a cost-effective mechanism for achieving long-term
investment goals and builds relationships with third-party
service providers with this approach in mind. The Company
offers a broadly diversiﬁed global exposure with concentrated
regional ‘best ideas’ portfolios. It has a strong long-term
performance record, both absolute and relative to its
benchmark index.
The Company’s ongoing charge is amongst the lowest of
actively managed equities funds.
Unlike open-ended funds, as an investment trust Bankers has
been able to build up over many years a signiﬁcant revenue
reserve (income not paid out in good years) which, in tougher
years, can be drawn on to continue delivering a reliable and
growing dividend.

The Company’s status
The Company is an investment company as deﬁned in section
833 of the Companies Act 2006 (‘the Act’) and operates as an
investment trust in accordance with section 1158/9 of the
Corporation Tax Act 2010 as amended. The Directors are of
the opinion that the Company has conducted its affairs in
compliance with section 1158/9 since approval was granted
and intends to continue to do so.
The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Market of the
London Stock Exchange and the Company is subject to the
Listing Rules, Prospectus Regulation Rules and Disclosure
Guidance and Transparency Rules published by the Financial
Conduct Authority (‘FCA’). The Company is also listed on the
Main Board of the New Zealand Stock Exchange and is
subject to the NZX Listing Rules. The Company is a member
of the Association of Investment Companies (‘AIC’).
The Company, and the Board, is governed by its Articles of
Association, amendments to which must be approved by
shareholders by way of a special resolution.

Beneﬁts
The Company’s business model offers numerous advantages:
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O

provides investors with access to a professionally and
actively managed portfolio of assets;

O

offers investors exposure to global companies;

Investment objective
Over the long term, the Company aims to achieve capital
growth in excess of the FTSE World Index and dividend
growth greater than inﬂation, as measured by the UK
Consumer Price Index (‘CPI’), by investing in companies listed
throughout the world.

Investment policy
The following investment ranges apply:
O

Equities: 80% to 100%

O

Debt securities and cash investments: 0% to 20%

O

Investments trusts, collective funds and derivatives: 0% to 15%

To achieve an appropriate spread of investment risk the
portfolio is broadly diversiﬁed by geography, sector and
company. The Manager has the ﬂexibility to invest in any
geographic region and any sector with no set limits on
individual country or sector exposures and, therefore, the
make-up and weighting of the portfolio may differ materially
from the FTSE World Index.
The Manager primarily employs a bottom-up stock picking
investment process, across six regional portfolios, to identify
suitable opportunities. While each regional portfolio manager
employs their own investment style, they all pay particular
regard to cash generation and dividend growth over the
medium term.
The Company can, but normally does not, invest up to 15% of
its gross assets in any other investment companies (including
listed investment trusts).
Derivatives
The Company may use ﬁnancial instruments known as
derivatives for the purpose of efﬁcient portfolio management
while maintaining a level of risk consistent with the risk proﬁle
of the Company.
Gearing
The Company can borrow to make additional investments
with the aim of achieving a return that is greater than the cost
of the borrowing. The Company can borrow up to 20% of net
assets at the time of draw down.
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Business Model (continued)
Position at year end

Liquidity and discount management

At 31 October 2021, the portfolio contained 163 (2020: 165)
individual investments excluding those held at nil value, with
the largest single investment accounting for 2.8% (2020: 2.8%)
of total investments and the top 25 holdings totalling 36.1%
(2020: 34.3%) of total investments. There were two holdings
in listed investment companies in the portfolio (2020: two).
There were no derivatives held in the portfolio (2020: nil).

Our aim is for the Company’s share price, as far as possible,
to reﬂect closely its underlying net asset value, to reduce
share price volatility and to have a liquid market in the
shares. The ability to inﬂuence this meaningfully over the
longer term is, of course, limited. However, the Board
intends, subject always to the overall impact on the portfolio,
the pricing of other investment companies and overall market
conditions, to consider share issuance and buy-backs.
We believe that ﬂexibility is important and that it is not in
shareholders’ interests to have speciﬁc share issuance and
share buy-back policies.

Borrowings
The Company has a £15 million 8% 2023 debenture, and
£50 million of unsecured private placement ﬁxed rate 2035 loan
notes at an annualised coupon rate of 3.68%. During the year the
Company issued a further £37 million of ﬁxed rate 2045
unsecured private placement loan notes at an annualised coupon
rate of 2.28% and €44 million ﬁxed rate 2041 unsecured private
placement loan notes at an annualised coupon rate of 1.67%.

Arrangements with the Manager

Ongoing charge and other costs

The Company qualiﬁes as an Alternative Investment Fund
(‘AIF’) in accordance with the Alternative Investment Fund
Manager Directive (‘AIFMD’). The Company has appointed
Henderson Investment Funds Limited (‘HIFL’) to act as its
Alternative Investment Fund Manager (‘AIFM’) in
accordance with an agreement which was effective from
22 July 2014 and is terminable on six months’ notice. HIFL
delegates investment management services to Henderson
Global Investors Limited, which acts as Manager. Both
entities are authorised and regulated by the FCA.
References to Janus Henderson and the Manager within
this report refer to the services provided by both entities.

The ongoing charge reﬂects those expenses of a type which are
likely to recur in the foreseeable future, whether charged to capital
or revenue, and which relate to the operation of the Company as
an investment company, excluding the costs of acquisition or
disposal of investments, ﬁnancing costs, gains or losses arising
on investments and taxation. In accordance with the AIC
methodology, the ongoing charge is based on actual costs
incurred in the year as being the best estimate of future costs.

The Company has engaged third-party service providers
to undertake its day-to-day operations. In particular, a
management agreement between the Company and
Janus Henderson sets out the matters over which the
Manager has authority, including management of the
Company’s assets and the provision of accounting,
company secretarial, administration and sales and
marketing services.

The Board believes that the ongoing charge during the year
represented good value for money for shareholders. There is,
however, some debate over the most appropriate measure of
investment company costs (and how these are calculated) to
enable shareholders to assess value for money and to make
comparisons between companies. Whilst industry agreement
on how best to present a single ﬁgure for costs remains elusive,
the Company continues to focus on the ongoing charge as a
readily-understood measure of the underlying expenses of
running the business. We are also presenting the information on
all costs in a single table. This indicates the main cost headings
in money terms and as a percentage of average net assets.

The fund management team is led by Alex Crooke, who has
been in place since 2003. He is assisted by David Smith,
James Ross, Gordon Mackay, Junichi Inoue, Mike Kerley,
and May Ling Wee.

In addition, the Company has a £20 million loan facility with
SMBC Bank International plc which expires in 2022 and was
undrawn at the year end. The Company intends to renew this
loan facility for a further two years.
Actual net gearing/(cash) at 31 October 2021 was 6.6%
(2020: (1.1%)) of net asset value.

2021
£’000

2021
% of
average
net
assets

2020
£’000

2020
% of
average
net
assets

6,143

0.41

5,164

0.42

998

0.07

924

0.08

Ongoing charge ﬁgure

7,141

0.48

6,088

0.50

Portfolio transaction costs

1,262

0.09

718

0.06

Category of cost

Management fee
Other expenses

Some of the administration and accounting services to be
provided by Janus Henderson are carried out on its behalf by
BNP Paribas Securities Services. Wendy King FCG acts as
Company Secretary on behalf of the Corporate Secretary,
Henderson Secretarial Services Limited.
Fees
With effect from 1 November 2021, the Company and the
Manager agreed a new fee rate on net assets in excess of
£1.5 billion. Consequently, from 1 November 2021 the
Manager is entitled to a management fee charged at a rate of
0.45% per annum on the ﬁrst £750 million of net assets, 0.40%
per annum on net assets in excess of £750 million up to
£1.5 billion and 0.35% of net assets in excess of £1.5 billion.
For the purpose of the fee calculation, the net assets are
as at the last day of the quarter immediately preceding the
quarter in respect of which the calculation is made.
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Arrangements with Depositary, Custodian
and Registrars
The Company has appointed a Depositary (as explained on
page 89), who, in turn, has appointed the Custodian who is
responsible for the safe custody of the Company’s assets.
The Company has also appointed Registrars to maintain its
register of members and assist shareholders with queries in
respect of their holdings. Each of these principal contracts
was entered into after full and proper consideration by the
Board of the quality and cost of the services offered, including
the control systems in operation in so far as they relate to the
affairs of the Company. Fees paid to service providers are
disclosed in note 6 on page 74.

Values and culture
The Board applies various policies, practices and behaviour
to ensure that the Board’s culture is in line with the
Company’s purpose, values and strategy. The Directors
promote mutual support combined with constructive
challenge. Integrity, fairness and diligence are deﬁning
characteristics of the Board’s culture.
The Company has a number of policies and procedures in
place to assist with maintaining a culture of good governance
including those relating to Directors’ conﬂicts of interest,
Directors’ dealings in the Company’s shares, bribery
(including the acceptance of gifts and hospitality) and tax
evasion. The Board assesses and monitors compliance with
these policies regularly through Board meetings and the
annual evaluation process (for more information see the
performance evaluation section on page 46).

Board diversity
It is the Company’s aim to have an appropriate level of
diversity in the Boardroom. The Board supports the
recommendations of the Hampton-Alexander Review on
gender diversity on Boards and the Parker Review on ethnic
representation on Boards.
The Directors have broad experience and skills, bringing
knowledge of investment markets, business, ﬁnancial services
and stakeholder expertise to discussions on the Company’s
business. The Directors regularly consider the leadership
needs and speciﬁc skills required to achieve the Company’s
investment objective.
The Nominations Committee considers diversity in its broadest
sense when making recommendations for appointments to the
Board, see page 47. The Board’s prime responsibility, however,
is the strength of the Board and its overriding aim in making
any new appointments must always be to select the best
candidate based on objective criteria and merit.
Currently the Board comprises ﬁve Directors, two female and
three male. However, the Board’s gender diversity will change
following the retirement of Sue Inglis at the conclusion of the
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AGM, at which time less than one-third of the Board’s
membership will be female. The Board is intending to appoint
another Director during 2022 as part of the Company’s
ongoing succession plan. The Board will be mindful of the
need for greater diversity but, ultimately, will appoint the
candidate best qualiﬁed for the role.
Whilst the Company has no employees and, therefore, has
nothing further to report in respect of gender representation
within the Company, the Company reports that the Manager
fosters and maintains an environment that values the unique
talents and contributions of every individual. The Manager
strives to cultivate and practice inclusiveness for the long-term
success of the business and for the beneﬁt of its employees,
clients and shareholders.

Promoting the success of the Company
(section 172 statement)
Under section 172 of the Companies Act 2006, the Directors
have a duty act in the way they consider, in good faith, would be
most likely to promote the success of the Company for the
beneﬁt of its members as a whole. In doing so, the Directors are
required to take into account (amongst other matters) the likely
long-term consequences of their decisions, the need to foster
relationships with the Company’s wider stakeholders, the
desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation for high
standards of business conduct and the impact of the Company’s
operations on the community and environment. The Board is
now required to describe to the Company’s shareholders how
the Directors have discharged their duties and responsibilities
under section 172 over the course of the ﬁnancial year, including
how the Board has engaged with and understands the views of
stakeholders, how stakeholders’ needs have been taken into
account, the outcome of this engagement and the impact that it
has had on the Board’s decisions.
The Company does not have any employees or premises and
conducts its core activities through its externally-appointed
Manager (Janus Henderson). The Company has also
appointed other third-party service providers to enable the
Company to operate as a listed investment company. Each
service provider has an established track record and has in
place suitable policies and procedures to ensure it maintains
high standards of business conduct.
As the Company is an externally-managed investment
company, the Board considers the Company’s key
stakeholders to be existing and potential new shareholders, the
Manager, other service providers (Custodian, Depositary,
Registrars, corporate broker, Auditor and legal advisers), debt
providers (the Company’s debenture stockholders, loan
noteholders and lending bank). Engagement with the
Company’s key stakeholders enables the Company to fulﬁl its
strategic objectives and the Directors to promote the long-term
sustainable success of the Company for the beneﬁt of
shareholders as a whole.
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Engaging with stakeholders
We, as Directors, have the success of the Company foremost in our minds when making decisions. Decisions are taken with the
aim of achieving our purpose and are based on information provided by a range of sources. The impact on stakeholders is
assessed as part of our deliberations, although stakeholders may be affected differently.
The table below sets out the primary ways in which we, as your Board, engage with the Company’s key stakeholders.
Stakeholder

Engagement

Shareholders and Purpose:
potential investors O Continued shareholder support is crucial to the continued existence of the Company and clear
communication of the Company’s strategy and performance can help the share price trade at a
narrower discount or a premium to NAV which beneﬁts shareholders. Consequently, the Board places
great importance on shareholder communication and is committed to open channels of communication
with all shareholders.
How we engage:
Regular updates are provided to investors through:
O

the Annual and Half Year Reports;

O

the Manager’s monthly factsheets;

O

Company announcements, including daily NAV announcements;

O

Edison research notes (paid for by the Company and available to all investors in the UK and New
Zealand); and

O

the Company’s website, which includes video interviews with the Company’s Fund Manager, investment
insights and other relevant information to enhance investors’ understanding of the Company and its
portfolio and prospects.

In normal times, the Company’s Annual General Meeting provides the main forum, both formal and informal,
for all shareholders to meet and discuss the Company and its performance and to raise any questions or
concerns with the Chair, the other Directors and the Fund Manager. The Board encourages as many
shareholders as possible to attend the Company’s Annual General Meeting and to provide feedback on the
Company. Shareholders who cannot attend in person are invited to attend and raise questions online.
In addition to the AGM, the Fund Manager and members of the Manager’s investment trust sales team
regularly meet with current and potential new shareholders (principally institutional investors and wealth
managers) to discuss the Company and its performance and prospects and feedback from these meetings
is reported to the Board. The Fund Manager also provides presentations to research analysts following the
publication of the Company’s annual ﬁnancial results.
The Board welcomes all shareholders’ views and all shareholders may communicate with the Chair (or other
members of the Board or the Manager) at any time by writing to them at the Company’s registered ofﬁce.
All shareholder communications are shared with the Chair, dealt with promptly and circulated to the Board at
its next meeting. In addition, the Chair is available to meet with major shareholders at any time. During the year,
the Chair met with some of the Company’s largest shareholders and the discussions with those shareholders
were considered at a subsequent Board meeting. The Senior Independent Director is also available to
shareholders if they have concerns that have not been addressed through the normal channels.
The Company contributes to a focused investment companies marketing programme operated by
Janus Henderson on behalf of all the investment companies under its management. This enables some
economies of scale as well as allocation of funds to support speciﬁc marketing activities for the Company.
The purpose of the programme is to ensure effective communication with existing shareholders, attract
new shareholders and sustain the stock market rating of the Company’s shares.
The Manager also coordinates public relations activity to promote the Company’s strategy and outlook and
raise the Company’s proﬁle with a broader range of potential new shareholders. This includes arranging
meetings between the Fund Manager and relevant ﬁnancial press and other industry publications and
distributing interviews with the Fund Manager and other relevant information via various social media channels.
Target outcome:
O

The Board is able to incorporate shareholders’ views when considering how best to promote the
long-term success of the Company for the beneﬁt of shareholders as a whole and shareholders are
able to make informed decisions about their investment in the Company, facilitating the retention of
existing shareholders and attracting new ones.
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Stakeholder

Engagement

Manager – Janus
Henderson

Purpose:

O

Fund Manager

O

Sales and
marketing

O

Company
secretarial

O

Financial
reporting

O

Internal controls
functions

O

Investment
accounting and
administration
(outsourced by
Janus
Henderson to
BNP Paribas
Securities
Services)

O

The Manager is responsible for the Company’s portfolio management (including asset allocation and
stock selection) and risk management, as well as ancillary functions such as company secretarial,
administration, accounting, sales and marketing services. Successful management of the Company’s
portfolio is critical for the Company to meet its strategic objectives and enable its long-term sustainable
success, whilst effective provision of the ancillary services are essential for the efﬁcient running of the
Company’s day-to-day affairs.

How we engage:
O

The Board seeks to engage with the Manager in a collaborative and collegiate manner, encouraging
open and constructive discussion and debate, whilst also ensuring appropriate and regular challenge,
during Board meetings and between them. The Manager provides regular performance updates and
detailed performance attribution to help the Board to exercise effective oversight of the Manager and
the Company’s strategy, as well as regular administration, regulatory and other updates to assist the
Board’s oversight of the ancillary services provided by the Manager.

O

The Board meets with representatives of the Manager’s investment companies, sales and marketing
teams at least twice a year to receive updates on their activities and discuss future strategy for engaging
with current and prospective shareholders, including those who invest through retail investor platforms.

O

The Board has the opportunity to meet other key representatives of the Manager (including from the
Manager’s risk, compliance, internal audit, business continuity and information security teams)
throughout the year to assist the Board in its strategic thinking and risk management and oversight of
the Company’s activities.

O

Throughout the course of the Covid-19 pandemic there has been regular interaction between the Board and
the Manager to consider the impact on the Company (including portfolio activity, risks and opportunities,
gearing and revenue forecasts) and to ensure that the Company had sufﬁcient resilience in its portfolio and
operational structure to meet the challenged circumstances, which has proved to be the case.

O

The Board, through the Management Engagement Committee, formally reviews the performance and
terms of appointment of the Manager at least annually (see page 47 for further details).

Target outcome:
O

Other key thirdparty service
providers

The Company’s portfolio and affairs are well-managed, enabling the Company to meet its strategic
objectives and achieve long-term sustainable success.

Purpose:
O

In order for the Company to operate as a listed investment company, the Board relies on other service
providers for essential services (in particular with regard to the safekeeping of the Company’s assets,
share registration services, market support for share issues and buy-backs and independent assurance
regarding the Company’s ﬁnancial statements) and for advice and support in meeting relevant
obligations and complying with best practice. The Board seeks to maintain constructive relationships
with the Company’s other service providers, either directly or through the Manager, with regular
communications and meetings.

How we engage:
O

The Manager provided information and assurances to the Board at the beginning of the pandemic to
conﬁrm that all its employees (including the Fund Manager) could work from home without disruption to
‘business as usual’. The Manager also contacted all of the Company’s third-party service providers to
obtain similar conﬁrmations. The Directors were reassured that the transition to new working
arrangements at Janus Henderson and other service providers had been seamless.

O

The arrangements were kept under review during the year and the Directors are satisﬁed that high
standards have been maintained and that the internal control and risk management framework was
continuing to operate effectively at Janus Henderson and the other service providers.

O

The Management Engagement Committee conducts an annual review of the performance and terms of
appointment of the Company’s key service providers (apart from the auditor, whose performance and
terms of appointment are reviewed by the Audit Committee) to ensure they are performing in line with
the Board’s expectations and providing value for money (see page 47 for further details).

O

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the internal controls and risk management systems in
place at the Company’s key third-party service providers (see page 50 for further details)

Target outcome:
O
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Stakeholder

Debt providers

Engagement

Purpose:
O

The Board believes that the use of debt can enhance returns to shareholders over the long-term.

How we engage:
O

On behalf of the Board, the Manager maintains a constructive working relationship with the trustee
appointed to protect the interests of the holders of the Company’s debenture stock, the loan note
holders and the provider of the Company’s borrowing facility, ensuring compliance with loan covenants
and providing regular covenant compliance conﬁrmations and other information as required.

Target outcome:
O

AIC
(The Association
of Investment
Companies)

To demonstrate a strong ﬁnancial position that supports the ﬁnancing arrangements.

Purpose:
O

The Company is a member of the AIC, which represents a broad range of investment companies.
The AIC supports its members by: issuing publications and guidance on issues such as tax,
accounting, company law and regulation; email updates on key industry issues and AIC work
programmes; and running events for the directors of its members, including director roundtables,
conferences and dinners.

How we engage:
O

The Company provides information for inclusion in the AIC’s database which is used to generate
information regarding the Company on the AIC’s website (www.theaic.co.uk).

O

The Manager, on behalf of the Company, comments on consultation and proposal documents
prepared by the AIC concerning matters that may affect the Company and has supported the AIC’s
lobbying activities.

Target outcome:
O

Support provided to AIC members assists the Board in its discussions and decision making, Bankers
has a voice in the regulatory environment in which it operates and information about the Company is
disseminated widely.

Examples of stakeholder consideration during the year
The Board is always mindful of the need to act in the best
interests of stakeholders as a whole and to have regard to
other applicable section 172 factors and this forms part of
Board’s decision-making process. The following key decisions
taken by the Board during the year ended 31 October 2021
serve as examples of this:
O

O

Appointment of a new Director and Chair designate:
The Board recruited a new Director and Chair designate as
Sue Inglis is to retire as a Director and Chair at the conclusion
of the AGM in 2022. Having assessed the existing Directors’
range of knowledge, skills and experience, the Board
concluded that it, and ultimately stakeholders, would beneﬁt
from ﬁnancial services/investment experience. Following an
extensive recruitment process, conducted in conjunction
with an experienced independent external search
consultancy, Simon Miller joined the Board on 1 January
2022, bringing valuable ﬁnancial services experience.
Share Split: As the price of the Company’s shares had
almost trebled over the past 10 years and, to assist monthly
savers and those who reinvest their dividends or are looking
to invest smaller amounts, the Directors believed that it was
appropriate to propose to shareholders at the 2021 AGM the
sub-division of each of the Company’s ordinary shares of
25p into 10 ordinary shares of 2.5p each. The Directors
believed that the sub-division (the ‘Share Split’) may also
improve the liquidity in and marketability of the Company’s

shares, which would beneﬁt all shareholders. Whilst the
Share Split, which was effective on 1 March 2021, increased
the number of ordinary shares the Company had in issue, the
net asset value, share price and dividend per share became
one-tenth of their respective values immediately preceding
the Share Split.
O

Change in Articles of Association: Shareholders approved
at the 2021 AGM the Board’s decision to amend the
Company’s Articles of Association to:
–

enable the Company to hold general meetings (wholly
or partly) by electronic means and give additional
powers in respect of postponing or adjourning
meetings in appropriate circumstances.
The amendments were in response to challenges
posed by as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic;

–

to reduce the quorum requirement for general meetings
from three to two or more persons present in person or
by proxy to form a quorum for a general meeting; and

–

to simplify voting rights on a poll and provide, in line
with other listed companies, that where voting at any
general meeting is by way of a poll, each shareholder
has one vote for each share held by them. Where a
general meeting is to be held wholly or partly by
electronic means, the new Articles provide that any
voting on a resolution at such a meeting must be by
way of a poll.

33

The Bankers Investment Trust PLC

Annual Report 2021

Business Model (continued)
O

O

O

O

Issuing and buying back the Company’s shares: As set
out on pages 5 and 6 the Board’s aim is for the Company’s
share price to reﬂect closely its underlying net asset value,
and also to reduce volatility and have a liquid market in the
shares. The Board considers that it is in shareholders’
interests for the Company to be able to continue to issue
shares when they are trading at a premium to the net asset
value and by doing so the Company’s costs are spread
across a larger asset base. Any shares bought back to be
held in treasury, are only done so when the share price is
trading at a discount to the underlying net asset value. During
the year, the Company issued new shares and, on occasion,
bought back its own shares to be held in treasury.
Issue of new long-term debt: The Board reviewed the
Company’s borrowing position. Taking into consideration
the advantages of gearing for an investment trust, the
Company’s performance record over the longer term, the
low interest rates that were available and that the Company’s
£15 million debenture stock is due to be repaid in 2023, the
Board approved the issue of £37 million and €44 million of
new long-term unsecured loan notes. The notes were issued
at ﬁxed coupon rates of 2.28% and 1.67% respectively. The
weighted average interest payable on the Company’s ﬁxed
rate borrowings will decrease from 3.23% to 2.66% following
the repayment of the 8% debenture stock in October 2023.
Using revenue reserves to support the Company’s
dividend policy: The Board recognises the importance of
dividends to our shareholders. Accordingly, after discussing
the Company’s revenue forecasts and the general
investment outlook with the Manager, the Board decided
that it would draw on the revenue reserve to support the
Company’s dividend policy. This allowed the Board to
reiterate in the Half Year Report released on 21 June 2021,
its intention to deliver dividend growth of approximately
0.5% for the ﬁnancial year ended 31 October 2021.
Settlement of claim against the Company: As noted in
last year’s Annual Report, a claim was made against the
Company in respect of proceeds that were received on

the takeover of an investment held in the portfolio that
subsequently ﬁled for bankruptcy. The Board concluded
that it was in the best interests of shareholders to seek a
settlement to remove the risk of the claim being upheld and
succeeded in negotiating to settle the claim for an amount
broadly equivalent to the legal costs that were expected to
be incurred by the Company if it had continued to defend
the claim. The settlement of US $2,084,507.13 was
approved by the US court after the Company’s 2020
year-end and was paid in December 2020. In accordance
with the settlement agreement a further payment of
US $683,621.50 was paid in August 2021 representing 50%
(less expenses) of the tax reclaim paid to the Company.
As explained above, the Directors’ overarching duty is to
promote the success of the Company for the beneﬁt of investors,
with consideration of stakeholders’ interests. The Company’s
main stakeholders are the Company’s shareholders, the
Manager, our lenders and other service providers.

Our approach to environmental, social and
governance matters
The report on pages 24 to 26 form part of the Company’s
Business Model.

Measuring our performance
In order to measure the success of the Company in meeting
its objectives and to evaluate the performance of the Manager
over time, the Directors use the Key Performance Indicators
(‘KPIs’) listed in the following table. Further information on
KPIs, which are established industry measures, can be found
in the alternative performance measures on pages 90 to 91.
The KPIs are presented in the performance highlights on
page 1 and in the 10 year historical record on page 12.
The Board reviews ESG analysis of the portfolio on a regular
basis and, whilst we have not adopted any speciﬁc ESGbased KPIs, the Board will keep this under review.

KPI

Action

Net asset value (‘NAV’) and
share price

At each Board meeting, the Board reviews the Company’s NAV and share price
performance (capital only and total return) and measures it against the benchmark index.
The Board also reviews the performance of the Company’s regional portfolios and
compares that against relevant regional indices. In addition, the Board considers NAV and
share price total return performance against the Company’s closest peers in the AIC
Global sector and the average performance of the AIC Global sector and the open-ended
IA Global and Global Equity Income sectors.

Share price discount/
premium to NAV

The Company publishes an NAV per share ﬁgure on a daily basis through the ofﬁcial
newswire of the London Stock Exchange. This ﬁgure is calculated in accordance with
the AIC’s formula. At each Board meeting, the Board monitors the level of the Company’s
share price discount/premium to NAV and reviews the discount/premium against the
Company’s closest peers in the AIC Global sector and the sector average.
The Board considers the use of share buy-backs and share issues to manage the supply
and demand for the Company’s shares and enhance shareholder value.
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Dividends per share

At each Board meeting, the Board reviews a revenue forecast. These forecasts are used
to determine the quarterly dividends and the Board measures dividend growth against CPI.

Ongoing charge

The Board regularly reviews the ongoing charge and monitors all of the Company’s expenses.
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Managing our risks
The Board, with the assistance of Janus Henderson, has
carried out a robust assessment of the principal risks and
uncertainties including emerging risks facing the Company
that would threaten its business model, future performance,
solvency, liquidity or reputation. This included consideration
of the market uncertainty arising from the United Kingdom’s
decision to leave the European Union (‘Brexit’) before the
trade agreement with the EU was agreed and the ongoing
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic.
The Board regularly considers the principal risks facing
the Company and has drawn up a register of these risks.
The Board has put in place a schedule of investment limits
and restrictions, appropriate to the Company’s investment
objective and policy, in order to mitigate these risks as far
as practicable. The Board monitors the Manager, its other
service providers and the internal and external environments
in which the Company operates to identify new and
emerging risks. Any new or emerging risks that are identiﬁed
and that are considered to be of signiﬁcance are included in

the Company’s risk register together with any mitigating
actions required.
The Board pro-actively monitors all of these factors and has
a strong focus on continuing to educate itself about any
relevant issues. Details of how the Board monitors the
services provided by Janus Henderson and its other
suppliers, and the key elements designed to provide
effective internal control, are explained further in the internal
controls section of the Corporate Governance Statement on
pages 48 and 49. Further details of the Company’s exposure
to market risk (including market price risk, currency risk and
interest rate risk), liquidity risk and credit and counterparty
risk and how they are managed are contained in note 16 on
pages 78 to 84.
The Board’s policy on risk management has not materially
changed during the course of the reporting period and up to
the date of this report.

The principal risks which have been identiﬁed and the steps taken by the Board to mitigate these are as follows:
Risk

Mitigation

Investment activity and performance risks
An inappropriate investment strategy (for example, in terms
of asset allocation or the level of gearing) may result in
underperformance against the Company’s benchmark index
and the companies in its peer group.

The Board monitors investment performance at each Board
meeting and regularly reviews the extent of the Company’s
borrowings.

Portfolio and market risks
Although the Company invests almost entirely in securities
that are listed on recognised markets, share prices may move
rapidly. The companies in which investments are made may
operate unsuccessfully, or fail entirely. Macro matters (such
as trade wars, or the UK’s negotiations to leave the European
Union and the global economic outlook) are expected to lead
to continued volatility in the markets. This is likely to impact
share prices of investments in the portfolio, to the extent not
already factored into current prices. A fall in the market value
of the Company’s portfolio would have an adverse effect on
shareholders’ funds.

The Fund Manager seeks to maintain a diversiﬁed portfolio to
mitigate against this risk. The Board regularly reviews the
portfolio, investment activity and performance.

Tax, legal and regulatory risks
A breach of section 1158/9 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010
could lead to the loss of investment trust status, resulting in
capital gains realised within the portfolio being subject to
corporation tax. A breach of the FCA’s Rules could result in
suspension of the Company’s shares, while a breach of the
Companies Act could lead to criminal proceedings. All
breaches could result in ﬁnancial or reputational damage.
The Company must also ensure compliance with the Listing
Rules of the New Zealand Stock Exchange.

Janus Henderson has been contracted to provide investment,
company secretarial, administration and accounting services
through qualiﬁed professionals. The Board receives internal
control reports produced by Janus Henderson on a quarterly
basis, which conﬁrm tax, legal and regulatory compliance
both in the UK and New Zealand.
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Risk

Mitigation

Financial risks
By its nature as an investment trust, the Company’s business
activities are exposed to market risk (including market price
risk, currency risk and interest rate risk), liquidity risk and
credit and counterparty risk.

The Company has a diversiﬁed portfolio which comprises
mainly investments in large and medium-sized companies
and mitigates the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk.
The Company minimises the risk of a counterparty failing
to deliver securities or cash by dealing through organisations
that have undergone rigorous due diligence by
Janus Henderson. Further information on the mitigation
of ﬁnancial risks is included in note 16 on pages 78 to 84.

Operational and cyber risks
Disruption to, or failure of, Janus Henderson’s accounting,
dealing or payment systems or the Depositary’s records could
prevent the accurate reporting and monitoring of the Company’s
ﬁnancial position. The Company is also exposed to the
operational and cyber risks that one or more of its service
providers may not provide the required level of service.

The Board monitors the services provided by
Janus Henderson, the Depositary and its other service
providers and receives reports on the key elements in place
to provide effective internal control.

Global pandemic
The impact that the coronavirus pandemic could have on the
Company’s investments and its direct and indirect effects,
including the effect on the global economy.

The Fund Manager maintains close oversight of the
Company’s portfolio, and in particular the dividend strategies
of investee companies. Regular stress testing of the revenue
account under different scenarios for dividends is carried out.
The Board also maintains close oversight of the third-party
service providers which assist in the administration of the
Company.

Risks associated with climate change
Risk that investee companies within the Company’s portfolio
fail to respond to the pressures of the growing climate
emergency and fail to limit their carbon footprint to regulated
targets, resulting in reduced investor demand for their shares
and falling market values.

Please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance
Matters section on pages 24 to 26 for further details.

Future developments

Also relevant were a number of aspects of the Company’s
operational arrangements:

While the future performance of the Company is mainly dependent
on the performance of global ﬁnancial markets which are subject
to various external factors, the Board’s intention is that the
Company continues to pursue its stated investment objective
and policy as explained on page 28. The Chair’s Statement,
Fund Manager’s Report and Regional Portfolio Manager Reports
provide commentary on the outlook for the Company.

O

The Company retains title to all assets held by the
Custodian under the terms of formal agreements with the
Custodian and Depositary.

O

Long-term borrowing is in place, being the £15 million 8%
debenture stock 2023, £50 million 3.68% loan notes 2035,
£37 million 2.28% loan notes 2045 and €44 million 1.67%
loan notes 2041, which are also subject to formal
agreements, including ﬁnancial covenants with which the
Company complied in full during the year. The value of
long-term borrowing is relatively small in comparison to
the value of net assets, being 8.7%.

O

Short-term borrowing of £20 million with SMBC Bank
International plc (formerly called Sumitomo Mitsui Banking
Corporation Europe Limited). The facility was not drawn
down at the year end and expires in February 2022. It is
intended to renew this facility for a further two years.

O

Revenue and expenditure forecasts are reviewed by the
Directors at each Board meeting.

O

Ongoing charge is amongst the lowest of actively
managed equities funds.

O

Cash is held with approved banks.

The Company’s viability
The UK Corporate Governance Code requires the Board to
assess the future prospects for the Company, and to report
on the assessment within the Annual Report.
The Board considered that certain characteristics of the Company’s
business model and strategy were relevant to this assessment:
O

O
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The Company’s investment objective, strategy and policy,
which are subject to regular Board monitoring, mean that
the Company is invested normally in readily realisable, listed
securities and that the level of borrowings is restricted.
The Company is a closed-end investment company and
therefore does not suffer from the liquidity issues arising
from unexpected redemptions. Without pressure to sell,
the Fund Manager has been able to rebalance tactically
the portfolio and take advantage of recovering markets.
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In addition, the Directors carried out a robust assessment of
the principal risks and uncertainties which could threaten the
Company’s business model, including future performance,
liquidity and solvency. These risks, including the pandemic,
their mitigations and processes for monitoring them are set
out on pages 35 to 36.
The principal risks identiﬁed as relevant to the viability
assessment were those relating to investment portfolio
performance and its effect on the net asset value, share price
and dividends, and threats to security over the Company’s
assets. The Board took into account the liquidity of the
Company’s portfolio, the existence of the long-term ﬁxed rate
borrowings, the effects of any signiﬁcant future falls in
investment values and income receipts on the ability to repay
and re-negotiate borrowings, growing dividend payments, the
desire to retain investors and the potential need for share
buy-backs. The Directors assess viability over three year rolling
periods, taking account of foreseeable severe but plausible
scenarios. The Directors believe that a rolling three year period
best balances the Company’s long-term objective, its ﬁnancial
ﬂexibility and scope with the difﬁculty in forecasting economic
conditions affecting the Company and its shareholders.
Based on their assessment, and in the context of the
Company’s business model, strategy and operational
arrangements set out above, the Directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Company is able to continue in operation
and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the three year
period to October 2024. In coming to this conclusion,
the Board has considered the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic.
The Board does not believe that it will have a long-term
impact on the viability of the Company and its ability to
continue in operation, notwithstanding the short-term
uncertainty it has caused in the markets.

Approval
The Strategic Report has been approved by the Board.
On behalf of the Board

Sue Inglis
Chair
17 January 2022
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The right balance of skills and knowledge
All the Directors are non-executive Directors and independent of the Manager.

Susan (Sue) Inglis

Julian Chillingworth

Isobel Sharp, CBE

Chair of the Board

Senior Independent Director

Audit Committee Chair

Date of appointment: 1 November
2012 (Chair from 27 February 2019).

Date of appointment: 25 February
2015 (Senior Independent Director since
27 February 2019).

Date of appointment: 1 November
2017 (Audit Committee Chair from
21 February 2018).

Committees: Member of the Audit,
Nominations, Management Engagement
and Insider Committees.

Committees: Chair of the Audit
Committee and member of the
Nominations, Management Engagement
and Insider Committees.

Committees: Chair of the Nominations,
Management Engagement and Insider
Committees.
Relevant skills and experience:
Sue has over 30 years’ experience in
advising investment companies and
ﬁnancial institutions. Sue is a qualiﬁed
lawyer, and was a partner, and head of
the funds and ﬁnancial services group,
at Shepherd & Wedderburn, a leading
Scottish law ﬁrm. In 1999 she was a
founding partner of Intelli Corporate
Finance, an advisory boutique ﬁrm
focusing on the asset management and
investment company sectors which was
acquired by Canaccord Genuity in 2009.
Before embarking on a non-executive
career, Sue’s executive roles included
Managing Director – Corporate Finance
in the Investment Companies teams at
Cantor Fitzgerald Europe (2012-2018)
and Canaccord Genuity (2009-2012).
Sue is a former director of The European
Investment Trust plc and NextEnergy
Solar Fund Limited.
Current external appointments:
Sue is the chair of ThomasLloyd Energy
Impact Trust plc, the senior
independent director of Baillie Gifford
US Growth Trust PLC and a nonexecutive director of BMO Managed
Portfolio Trust PLC, Momentum
Multi-Asset Value Trust plc (formerly
known as Seneca Global Income &
Growth Trust plc) and Seraphim Space
Investment Trust plc.

Relevant skills and experience: Julian
is currently Chief Investment Ofﬁcer for
Rathbones Unit Trust Management
Limited and has over 40 years of
investment experience.
He has managed institutional global
equity and balanced mandates along
with open and closed-end retail funds
and for over 20 years and until recently
was Chief Investment Ofﬁcer for
Rathbone Brothers plc. He helped
develop the Rathbones investment
process for both its Wealth
Management and Unit Trust businesses.
Julian through his career has held a
variety of roles including Head of
Equities at Hambro’s and Head of Gross
Funds incorporating pension funds and
charities at Investec.
Current external appointments:
Julian is currently a Director of Rathbone
Unit Trust Management Limited and a
member of Southampton University’s
Investment Committee. He is also a
Trustee of the Rathbones Pension
Scheme.

Relevant skills and experience:
Isobel has extensive accounting, auditing
and corporate governance experience.
She was with Deloitte LLP as the ﬁrm’s
Senior Technical Partner until 2012. She
has served as President of The Institute
of Chartered Accountants of Scotland
and on the UK Accounting Standards
Board and the Financial Reporting
Review Panel and was awarded the CBE
in 2009. Isobel was formerly a director of
the UK Green Investment Bank plc and
of the global asset manager, Winton
Group Ltd.
Current external appointments:
Isobel is currently a non-executive
director, and Audit Committee Chair, at
the specialist engineering group IMI plc
which has manufacturing facilities in
over 20 countries and a worldwide
service network.
She is also a member of the Edinburgh
University Business School’s International
Advisory Board.
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Simon Miller

Richard West

Director

Director

Date of appointment: 1 January 2022 (Chair designate).

Date of appointment: 1 April 2020.

Committees: Member of the Nominations, Management
Engagement and Insider Committees.

Committees: Member of the Audit, Nominations, Management
Engagement and Insider Committees.

Relevant skills and experience:
Simon Miller is a company director and Chairman with
exposure to private and public companies in both the ﬁnancial
and commercial sectors. He has in particular a wide range of
experience in the ﬁnancial services sector. From 2013 to 2021
he was Chairman of Brewin Dolphin, one of the largest UK
wealth management ﬁrms. He was a non-executive director
of Adam & Company, private bankers, Chairman of
Dunedin LLP, and a non-executive director of Scottish
Friendly Assurance.

Relevant skills and experience:
Richard has more than 30 years’ experience in investment
management, latterly at UBS Global Asset Management
(previously Phillips & Drew Fund Management) in a variety of
positions, including Head of Global Equity Research, Head of
European Equities and Head of UK Equities. Prior to UBS, he
worked for Crown Financial Management as Head of UK Equities
and for Norwich Union as an economist and then as a UK
equities portfolio manager.

He read law at Cambridge and was called to the bar. He
began his corporate ﬁnance career at Lazard Brothers, and
then joined County Bank, renamed County NatWest, and
became a director. For eight years he was Chief Executive
Ofﬁcer and then Chairman of an engineering business.
He has also served on the Board of various investment trusts.
He was Chairman of Fleming Managed Income Trust plc,
JPMorgan Elect plc, Artemis Alpha Trust plc, JPMorgan Global
Convertibles Income Fund Limited and Amati VCT.
Current external appointments:
Simon Miller is Chair of Hampden & Co, private bankers, and
Blackrock Sustainable American Income Trust plc; he is also
the Senior Independent Director of STV Group plc.
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Current external appointments: None.
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Governance codes
The Board is pleased to report to shareholders on the
Company’s governance arrangements and how the principles
of the applicable codes have been applied during the year
under review.
Applicable governance codes
The Company has a premium listing on the London Stock
Exchange and is therefore required to report on how the
principles of the UK Corporate Governance Code (the ‘UK
Code’) have been applied. Being an investment company, a
number of the provisions of the UK Code are not applicable
as the Company has no executive Directors or internal
operations. The Board has considered, therefore, the
principles and provisions of the Code of Corporate
Governance published by the Association of Investment
Companies in February 2019 (the ‘AIC Code’). The AIC Code
addresses the principles set out in the UK Code as well as
additional principles and recommendations on issues that are
of speciﬁc relevance to investment companies. The Financial
Reporting Council (‘FRC’) has endorsed the AIC Code and
conﬁrmed that, by reporting against it, boards of investment
companies are able to meet their obligations in relation to the
UK Code (and associated disclosure requirements under
paragraph 9.8.6 of the Listing Rules).
The Company also maintains a listing on the New Zealand
Stock Exchange (‘NZX’) where it is classiﬁed as a Foreign
Exempt Issuer. The Listing Rules of the NZX therefore require
the Company to comply with the provisions applicable to its
Home Exchange, being the London Stock Exchange, at all
times, notify the NZX of any changes pertinent to the listing on
its Home Exchange and ensure that any announcements made
to its Home Exchange are simultaneously released to the
market in New Zealand. Accordingly, for the purpose of its NZX
listing, the Company reports against its compliance with the
AIC Code rather than the NZX Corporate Governance Code.
Copies of the AIC Code and the UK Code can be found on
the respective organisations’ websites: www.theaic.co.uk
and www.frc.org.uk. The AIC Code includes an explanation
of how it adapts the principles and provisions set out in the
UK Code to make them relevant for investment companies.
Statement of compliance
The Board has considered the principles and provisions of
the AIC Code as these provide more relevant information on
the Company’s governance arrangements to shareholders.
The Company has complied with the principles and provisions
of the AIC Code throughout the year ended 31 October 2021.
As the Company is an investment company, it has no chief
executive or other executive Directors and therefore has no
need to consider the remuneration of executive Directors.
In addition, the Company does not have any internal operations
(having delegated its day-to-day operations to the Manager)
and therefore does not maintain an internal audit function.

However, the Audit Committee considers the need for such a
function at least annually (see page 49 for further information).

Board leadership and purpose
The Board is responsible for providing leadership and setting
the tone from the top in terms of the Company’s culture and
values. The Board appoints all third-party service providers
and monitors their performance throughout the year. The
Directors formally evaluate the quality of the service provided
by each third-party service provider and consider the
appropriateness of the terms of their engagement at least
annually. The Board aligns the Company’s risk appetite with
its investment objectives and establishes investment limits
and restrictions accordingly. The Board keeps under regular
review the risks faced by the Company and assesses the
effectiveness of internal controls put in place to mitigate these.
As well as making the strategic decisions regarding the
Company’s purpose and establishing the risk management
framework, the Board’s purpose is to provide independent
oversight of the operations delivered by the Company’s
third-party service providers and to challenge the decisions and
recommendations made by them, particularly the Manager.
The Board does this by meeting formally at least six times a
year, with additional Board or Committee meetings arranged
when required. At each formal meeting, matters reviewed
and considered by the Board include the Company’s
investment transactions, compliance with investment
restrictions, investment performance, revenue budgets,
ﬁnancial analyses and other reports of an operational nature
and any shareholder communications and issues.
Representatives of the Manager attend each Board meeting,
enabling the Directors to probe further on matters of
concern. The Directors also have regular contact with the
Manager between formal meetings. In addition, the Chair is
able to attend meetings of all the chairs of the listed
investment companies managed by Janus Henderson which
provide a forum to discuss industry matters which are then
reported to the Board. Additional Board (or Committee)
meetings are arranged when required. The proceedings at all
Board (and Committee) meetings are fully recorded, including
any Director’s concerns, in the minutes.
The Directors have regular contact with the Fund Manager
and other employees of the Manager in connection with the
delivery of sales, marketing and other administrative services.
The Board has a formal schedule of matters speciﬁcally
reserved for its decision, which includes: determination of the
Company’s investment objectives, future strategic direction,
investment policy, investment limits and restrictions, gearing
policy and dividend policy; management of the Company’s
capital structure, including share issues/buy-backs and share
price premium/discount management, appointment and
removal of Directors and third-party service providers; and
determination of the Company’s ﬁnancial reporting, internal
control and risk management and corporate governance
arrangements. The Board approves communications with
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shareholders, the appointment of new Directors, and
determines individual Directors’ remuneration.
Full and timely management, ﬁnancial, regulatory and other
relevant information is provided to all Directors to allow
them to discharge their responsibilities and to enable the
Board (and its Committees) to function effectively. In
particular, the Board receives and considers regular and ad
hoc reports and other information as required to enable it
to maintain oversight and monitor the performance of, and
challenge constructively, the Manager and other third-party
service providers. The proceedings of all Board and
Committee meetings are minuted, with any particular
concerns raised by the Directors appropriately recorded.
The Board and the Manager operate in a supportive,
co-operative and open environment.

Any correspondence from shareholders addressed to the
Chair or the Company received at Janus Henderson’s ofﬁces
is forwarded to the Chair of the Company in line with the
audited procedures in place. Any correspondence is also
submitted to the next Board meeting.
The Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Corporate Secretary through its appointed representative.
The Corporate Secretary is responsible to the Board for
ensuring that Board and Committee procedures are followed
and that applicable rules and regulations are complied with.
The Company has a procedure for Directors to take
independent professional advice, at the expense of the
Company, in the furtherance of their duties.

Division of responsibilities
Role

Primary responsibilities

Shareholders/
investors

O

approving material changes to the Company’s investment policy;

O

making decisions regarding changes to the Company’s constitution;

O

electing and re-electing Directors to the Board, or removing them from ofﬁce if deemed appropriate; and

O

determining the overall limit for Directors’ remuneration.

Chair

The Company’s shareholders are responsible for:

The Chair of the Board is responsible for:
O

leading and managing Board business and ensuring the timely ﬂow of information from service
providers to the Board. She facilitates open, honest and constructive debate among Directors;

O

leading the Nominations Committee in developing succession planning and the identiﬁcation of
potential candidates for appointment to the Board (except when considering their own succession);

O

leading the Board in determining its governance framework, culture and values; and

O

managing the relationship with the Manager.

The role description for the Chair is available on the website.
Senior Independent
Director

The Senior Independent Director is responsible for:
O

fulﬁlling the role of sounding board for the Chair and intermediary for the other Directors as
necessary;

O

leading the performance evaluation of the Chair; and

O

acting as a channel of communication for shareholders in the event that contact through the Chair
is inappropriate.

The role description of the Senior Independent Director is available on the website.
Independent nonexecutive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for:
O

providing constructive and effective challenge, especially to the decisions of the Manager;

O

scrutinising and holding to account the performance of the:

O
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–

Fund Manager in meeting the investment objective;

–

Manager in the promotion of the Company and day-to-day smooth operations of the Company’s
business; and

providing strategic guidance and offering specialist advice.
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Role

Committee Chairs

Manager

Fund Manager

Primary responsibilities

The Committee chairs are responsible for:
O

the leadership and governance of their Committee;

O

maintaining the relationships with specialist service providers delivering services within the remit of
their Committee;

O

reporting on the activities of their Committee to the Board; and

O

seeking approval from the Board for the responsibilities set out in their respective terms of
reference.

The Manager is the Company’s appointed Alternative Investment Fund Manager and is responsible for:
O

promoting the Company’s investment proposition to professional and retail investors;

O

making the necessary reporting to the FCA regarding the Company’s status as an Alternative
Investment Fund;

O

providing accounting, company secretarial and other administrative services to the Company
ensuring compliance with the applicable statutory and regulatory provisions; and

O

coordinating the delivery of services provided by the Company’s other third-party service providers.

The Fund Manager and his team are responsible for:
O

selecting the stocks held within the portfolio;

O

diversiﬁcation and risk management through stock selection and size of investment;

O

determining the volume and timing of acquisitions and disposals; and

O

determining the frequency and level of gearing within the overall limits set by the Board.

Board composition and independence
The Board, chaired by Sue Inglis, currently consists of ﬁve
non-executive Directors, all of whom, with the exception of
Simon Miller who joined the Board on 1 January 2022, served
throughout the year. Richard Huntingford retired from the
Board on 31 October 2021 in view of his other business
commitments.
The biographies of the Directors holding ofﬁce at the date of
this report are set out on pages 39 and 40.
The Articles of Association provide that the total number of
Directors shall not be less than three nor more than eight.
Board diversity
The Board’s approach to the appointment of non-executive
Directors is always to appoint the best person for the role.
The Directors are mindful of diversity – gender, social and
ethnic backgrounds, cognitive and personal strengths, as
well as experience – when making appointments to the
Board. The Board regularly considers the leadership needs
of the Company, taking account of the speciﬁc skills required
to provide effective oversight of the Company’s activities.
All appointments to the Board are based on objective criteria
and merit and are made following a formal, rigorous and
transparent process. The Directors bring a range of
knowledge and experience covering global investment
markets, banking and accounting and auditing expertise to
discussions regarding the Company’s business. In terms of
diversity, the Board membership comprises one Director with

legal and corporate ﬁnance experience, two Directors with an
investment management background, one Director with
ﬁnancial services experience and one Director with
accounting and auditing experience. At the time of this
report, 40% of the Board’s membership is female, meeting
the target established by the Hampton-Alexander Review.
However, this will reduce following the retirement of the
current Chair at the Annual General Meeting. The Board will
take this matter into consideration when seeking a new
Director, but, as stated above, will always seek to appoint the
best person for the role.
As the Company has no employees, it does not maintain a
formal policy on diversity and inclusion, and therefore has not
reported further in respect of gender representation within
the Company.
The Directors believe that, between them, they have the
requisite level and range of investment, ﬁnancial, commercial
and professional experience and skills and knowledge of the
Company which enable the Board to provide effective
strategic leadership and proper governance of the Company.
Independence of Directors
The independence of the Directors is determined with
reference to the AIC Code and is reviewed by the Nominations
Committee at least annually. The Committee considers each
of the Director’s other appointments and commitments, as
well as their tenure of service and any connections they may
have with the Manager or other key service providers.
Following completion of the evaluation in September 2021,
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the Committee concluded that the Chair and each of the other
Directors continued to be independent of the Manager and
free of any relationship which could materially interfere with
the exercise of their independent judgement.

Directors, being eligible, with the exception of Sue Inglis who is
to retire from the Board at the conclusion of AGM have stated
that they will offer themselves for re-appointment, or in
Simon Miller’s case appointment at the upcoming AGM.

The Chair was independent on appointment in accordance
with the criteria set out in the AIC Code and has no
relationships that may create a conﬂict of interest between her
interests and those of shareholders. Details of her other
signiﬁcant commitments can be found on page 39.

The Articles permit shareholders to remove a Director by
passing an ordinary resolution at a general meeting. Directors
are not entitled to any termination payments or other
compensation for loss of ofﬁce in relation to their appointment.

The Chair is due to retire at the conclusion of the 2022 Annual
General Meeting and Simon Miller has been appointed,
subject to shareholder approval, to succeed her as Chair.
Simon joined the Board on 1 January 2022 and was deemed
independent on appointment in accordance with the criteria
set out in the AIC Code and has no relationships that may
create a conﬂict of interest between his interests and those of
shareholders. Details of his other signiﬁcant commitments can
be found on page 40.
Directors’ conﬂicts of interest
The Company’s Articles of Association permit the Board to
consider and, if it sees ﬁt, to authorise situations where a
Director has an interest that conﬂicts, or may possibly conﬂict,
with the interests of the Company (‘situational conﬂicts’). The
Board has a formal system in place for Directors to declare
situational conﬂicts to be considered for authorisation by
those Directors who have no interest in the matter being
considered. In deciding whether to authorise a situational
conﬂict, the non-conﬂicted Directors must act honestly and in
good faith with a view to the best interests of the Company
and they may impose limits or conditions when giving the
authorisation, or subsequently, if they think this is appropriate.
Any situational conﬂicts considered, and any authorisations
given, are recorded in the relevant meeting minutes.
The prescribed procedures have been followed in deciding
whether, and on what terms, to authorise situational conﬂicts
and the Board believes that the system it has in place for
reporting and considering situational conﬂicts continues to
operate effectively.

Tenure and policy on the tenure of the Chair and
Directors
In advance of each AGM, the Board agrees whether
it is appropriate for Directors who are eligible to be
recommended for re-appointment, taking into account
the annual performance evaluation by and formal
recommendations from the Nomination Committee and
the ongoing requirements of the AIC Code (including the
need to refresh the Board and its Committees).
The Nominations Committee believes that Directors with
more than nine years’ service can still form part of an
independent majority and in particular their experience can
be beneﬁcial to the Board. However, the Board is cognisant
of the beneﬁts of regularly refreshing Board membership
and seeks to do so while retaining a balance of knowledge
of the Company and the relationship with the Manager.
The Board’s policy for Directors, including the Chair, is,
therefore, that they serve for no more than nine years,
other than in exceptional circumstances.
Directors’ professional development
Newly appointed Directors are offered a bespoke induction
programme which covers the legal and regulatory framework
for investment companies and the operations of the Manager,
including the Manager’s compliance and risk management
frameworks and the accounting, sales and marketing and
other administration services provided by the Manager.

The Board may appoint Directors at any time during the year.
Any Director so appointed should stand for appointment by
shareholders at the next AGM in accordance with the
provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association. Simon
Miller, who was appointed to the Board on 1 January 2022, will
stand for appointment by shareholders at the AGM in 2022.

Directors are also provided on a regular basis with key
information on proposed developments or changes in
regulatory and statutory requirements from, amongst others,
the Corporate Secretary, the AIC and the Company’s Auditor.
Changes affecting Directors’ responsibilities are advised to
the Board as they arise. Directors also regularly participate in
relevant training and industry seminars and may do so at the
expense of the Company.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association,
each Director retires from ofﬁce at each AGM and, if
appropriate, offers themselves for re-appointment. All of the

Directors’ individual training requirements are considered as
part of the annual evaluation process which is led by the Chair
of the Board.

Appointments to the Board
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The terms and conditions of Directors’ appointments are set
out in formal letters of appointment which are available for
inspection on request.
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Directors’ insurance and indemniﬁcation
Directors’ and ofﬁcers’ liability insurance cover is in place in
respect of the Directors. Under the Company’s Articles of
Association and subject to the provisions of UK legislation,
a qualifying third-party provision indemnity may be provided
to Directors in respect of costs which they may incur
relating to the defence of any proceedings brought against
them arising out of their positions as Directors, in which
they are acquitted or judgement is given in their favour by
the court. No indemnity was given during the year or up to
the date of this report.
Attendance at meetings
The following table sets out the number of formal Board and
Committee meetings held during the year and the number of
meetings attended by each Director. All Directors, with the
exception of Simon Miller who joined the Board on 1 January
2022, attended the AGM in February 2021.

Board

AC

NC

MEC

Number of scheduled
meetings each year

6

3

1

1

Sue Inglis

6

31

1

1

6

3

1

1

Richard Huntingford

6

3

1

1

Isobel Sharp

6

3

1

1

Richard West

6

3

1

1

Julian Chillingworth
2

AC:
NC:
MEC:
1
2

Audit Committee
Nominations Committee
Management Engagement Committee

Sue Inglis is not a member of the Audit Committee. However, she attended
the meetings held throughout the year by invitation
Richard Huntingford retired from the Board on 31 October 2021

In addition, the Company held ad-hoc Nominations Committee
and Board meetings during the year regarding the appointment
and also the resignation of a Director.
The Insider Committee did not meet during the year.

The Board’s Committees
The Board has three principal Committees: the Audit Committee, the Management Engagement Committee and the
Nominations Committee.
Non-executive
oversight of the
Company’s
operations;
selection and
appointment
of service
providers

Board of Directors
Comprised of five independent non-executive Directors

Nominations Committee
Purpose: Ensure the Board has a
balance of skills, experience and
diversity, has a formal approach to
the appointment of Directors,
maintains an effective framework
for succession planning and setting
remuneration policy and fees.

Management Engagement
Committee
Purpose: Ensure that the
performance of the Manager and
third-party service providers meet
expectations and their terms of
engagement remain appropriate

Audit Committee
Purpose: Ensure the integrity of the
financial reporting, evaluate the
effectiveness of the systems of
internal control and risk
management and oversee the
relationship with the external
Auditor

Third-party service providers appointed by the Board
Janus Henderson Investors
Company’s
operations
carried out by
specialised
third-party
service
providers

Fund Manager: Alex Crooke. Regional Portfolio Managers: David Smith, James Ross,
Gordon Mackay, Junichi Inoue, Mike Kerley and May Ling Wee.
Alternative investment Fund Manager: Henderson Investment Funds Limited.

BNP Paribas
Securities Services
Depositary and Custodian

J.P. Morgan Cazenove

Equiniti Limited

Jarden Securities
Limited

Computershare
Investor Services
Limited

Corporate brokers (UK and
New Zealand)

Registrars (UK and
New Zealand)
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The Company has no executive Directors and has not
constituted a Remuneration Committee. Directors’ fees are
considered by the Nominations Committee. The Board has
also constituted an Insider Committee which meets when
required to assist the Board in discharging its responsibilities
under the Market Abuse Regulation.
The terms of reference for each of the principal Committees are
kept under regular review by the Board and are available on the
Company’s website www.bankersinvestmenttrust.com.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is responsible for, in particular, ensuring
the integrity of the Company’s ﬁnancial reporting, evaluating
the effectiveness of the systems of internal control and risk
management and monitoring the effectiveness and objectivity
of the external Auditor.
The Audit Committee Report is on pages 50 to 52.

Nominations Committee
Membership
The Committee is chaired by the Chair of the Board and
consists of all of the Directors. The Chair of the Board does
not chair or attend meetings when the Committee is
considering the appointment for a successor.
Meetings
The Committee meets at least annually, with additional
meetings scheduled when required.
Role and responsibilities
The Committee’s responsibilities include: reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board and its
Committees; ensuring annual performance evaluations and
considering the proposed appointment and re-appointment
of Directors ahead of each AGM; succession planning;
nominating new Directors for consideration by the Board; and
considering the remuneration of the Directors. The Committee
reports to the Board, making recommendations as appropriate.
Annual performance evaluation
The Committee ensures that there is a formal and rigorous
annual evaluation of the performance of the Board, its
Committees, the Chair and individual Directors. The Company
is obliged to engage an external facilitator for the evaluation
every three years. An external review of the Board, its
Committees, the Chair and individual Directors was ﬁrst
carried out by Lintstock Limited in 2013 and has been
undertaken by Lintstock Limited each year since. Lintstock
Limited is independent of the Company and the Directors and
does not provide any other services to the Company.
The evaluation was conducted through the use of
questionnaires and the outcomes presented to the
Committee. The areas considered included: the Board
composition and dynamics; the management and focus of
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meetings and support from the Manager in this respect; the
performance of the Board’s three principal Committees; the
Board’s oversight of the Company’s investment strategy and
performance; the Board’s oversight, evaluation and
relationship with the Manager and other service providers; risk
management; the Board’s understanding of shareholders’
views and the Manager’s sales and marketing activities;
succession planning; and priorities for change.
The Senior Independent Director carried out the performance
evaluation of the Chair, assisted by Lintstock Limited. An
update was provided to the Committee and feedback given
directly to the Chair.
Following completion of the evaluation review and discussion
by all Directors, it was concluded that the Board retained a
good balance of relevant skills and experience, the Directors
(individually and collectively as the Board) have been
operating effectively and Directors have undertaken training
and professional development courses during the year.
The Committees continued to support the Board in fulﬁlling
its duties and there were no speciﬁc additional training
requirements for any of the Directors.
Evaluation of Directors to be considered for
appointment or re-appointment
The Committee also considers the appointment and reappointment of Directors ahead of each AGM. With the
exception of Sue Inglis, who is to retire at the conclusion of this
year’s AGM, each of the other Directors, being eligible, has
stated that they will offer themselves for re-appointment or, in
the case of Simon Miller, appointment at the upcoming AGM.
For the upcoming AGM, the Committee considered the
performance and contribution to the Company of each such
Director and their other business appointments and
commitments. The Committee concluded that each such
Director had been effective, allocated sufﬁcient time to the
Company to discharge their responsibilities fully and effectively,
remained independent and continued to demonstrate
commitment to their role. Accordingly, the Committee
recommended their continued service to the Board.
Appointment of new Directors
Before commencing a search for candidates, the Committee
evaluates the balance of skills, experience, knowledge and
diversity on the Board, and, in light of this evaluation, prepares
a description of the role and capabilities required for a
particular appointment. To facilitate the search for suitable
candidates from a wide range of backgrounds, the Committee
may use the services of external advisers or open advertising,
if deemed appropriate to do so.
The Committee assesses candidates on merit and against
objective criteria and with due regard for the beneﬁts of diversity
on the Board (including gender, social and ethnic backgrounds,
as well as cognitive and personal strengths), taking care that any
candidates recommended for appointment are able to allocate
sufﬁcient time to the Company to discharge fully and effectively
their responsibilities.
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As reported in the 2020 Annual Report, as part of the process
for continual refreshment the Committee undertook the search
for an additional Director to succeed Sue Inglis as Chair. The
recruitment process was led by the Senior Independent
Director and the Chair did not chair the Nominations
Committee when it was dealing with the appointment of her
successor. The Company appointed Cornforth Consulting
Limited, an independent external recruitment consultancy ﬁrm,
to assist in the recruitment. Cornforth Consulting Limited does
not undertake any other services for the Company and has no
formal connection with any of the Directors. No open
advertising was used as the Committee believed that targeted
recruitment is the optimal way of recruiting. Simon Miller was
appointed to the Board with effect from 1 January 2022
following this recruitment process.
Diversity policy
The Board believes that a Board that is diverse in its broadest
sense is important to the long-term sustainable success of the
Company.
All Board appointments are subject to a formal, rigorous and
transparent procedure led by the Nominations Committee.
The Company seeks to ensure that any Board vacancies are
ﬁlled by the most qualiﬁed candidates based on objective
criteria and merit and in the context of the skills, knowledge
and experience that are needed for the Board to be effective.
The Board acknowledges and supports the recommendations
from the Hampton-Alexander Review on gender diversity on
Boards and the Parker Review about ethnic representation on
Boards. Whilst the Board does not feel that it would be
appropriate to use speciﬁc diversity targets, given its small
size, the Directors acknowledge that diversity is important to
ensure that the Company can draw on a broad range of
backgrounds, skills, knowledge, experience and perspectives
to achieve effective stewardship of the Company. An integral
part of the appointment process includes the consideration of
diversity generally, taking into account gender, social and
ethnic backgrounds, cognitive and personal strengths and
experience. The Nominations Committee ensures that long
lists of potential non-executive Directors should include
diverse candidates of appropriate experience and merit.
The Board’s gender diversity has changed following the recent
appointment of Simon Miller and will change again following
the retirement of Sue Inglis at the conclusion of the AGM, at
which time less than one-third of the Board’s membership will
be female. The Board is intending to appoint another Director
during 2022 as part of the Company’s ongoing succession
plan. In conducting the recruitment, the Nominations
Committee will have due regard to diversity in its broadest
sense (including gender) and will seek to identify the best
person for the role.

Management Engagement Committee
Membership
The Committee is chaired by the Chair of the Board and
consists of all of the Directors.
Meetings
The Committee meets at least annually, with additional
meetings scheduled when required.
Role and responsibilities
The Committee’s responsibilities include evaluating, on at
least an annual basis, the performance of the Manager and
other third-party service providers engaged by the Company
(excluding the Company’s Auditor) and for ensuring that the
terms of the management agreement between the Manager
and the Company remain competitive and in the interests of
shareholders as a whole. The Committee reports to the
Board, making recommendations as appropriate.
Annual Manager evaluation
The Committee’s review of the performance of the Manager
included evaluating the Company’s investment and share price
performance and the company secretarial, administrative and
sales and marketing support provided by the Manager and
reviewing the competitiveness of the management fee paid to
the Manager, details of which are on page 29.
Continued appointment of the Manager
The Board considers the arrangements for the provision of
investment management and other services to the Company on
an ongoing basis. The principal contents of the agreement with
the Manager and the fees payable are contained on page 29.
The Board reviews investment performance at each meeting,
receives updates in respect of professional sales and
marketing activities carried out by the Manager for the
Company at least twice annually and receives formal
recommendations from the Management Engagement
Committee in respect of the continued appointment of the
Manager and the appropriateness of the terms of the
management agreement at least annually.
Following completion of the annual evaluation of the Manager
by the Management Engagement Committee and its formal
recommendations to the Board, the Board believes that the
continued appointment of the Manager on the terms agreed
is in the interests of the Company as a whole.

In all the Nominations Committee’s activities, there is no
discrimination on the grounds of gender, race, ethnicity,
religion, sexual orientation, age or physical ability.
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System of internal control
How the system of internal
control operates
The Board delegates contractually
to third-party service providers for
all of the Company’s operational
requirements. It maintains oversight
of these providers throughout the
year by receiving regular reporting
on their activities. All are
considered key stakeholders.
The Company’s principal thirdparty service providers are the
Manager (Janus Henderson); the
Depositary/Custodian (BNP Paribas
Securities Services) and the
accountants (BNP Paribas
Securities Services).
In respect of its principal providers,
the Board receives quarterly
reporting on compliance with the
control environment and assesses
the effectiveness of the control
environment through review of the
annual assurance reports from
each organisation. This reporting is
supplemented by the view of the
Manager’s Risk Team regarding the
control environments in operation
at the providers.
The Company’s secondary service
providers report regularly to the
Board. A failing in their services is
deemed to have a minimal impact
on the Company’s value and
therefore less stringent reporting
is required.
The Management Engagement
Committee formally evaluates the
performance and service delivery
of all third-party service providers
at least annually.
The Audit Committee evaluates the
performance of the Auditors on
completion of each audit cycle.
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Ernst & Young LLP

Board of Directors

(Independent auditors)

(comprised entirely of non-executive Directors)

Principal third-party
service providers
O
receive regular
reporting at meetings;
O
review the annual
assurance report
produced by each
organisation;
O
receive additional
reporting on the
control environment
from the Manager’s
risk team;
O
receive reporting from
the Manager’s internal
audit team on areas
relevant to investment
trusts; and
O
formally evaluate
performance on an
annual basis.

Secondary third-party
service providers
O
receive regular
reporting on their
activities at meetings;
and
O
formally evaluate
performance on an
annual basis.

Janus
Henderson
(Investment
management,
company
secretarial,
sales, marketing,
PR and
administration)
Reporting
• Investment
performance
update (at
each
meeting).
• Compliance
with
investment
limits and
restrictions
(monthly).
• Internal
controls
report
(quarterly).
• Effectiveness
of control
environment
(annually).

BNP Paribas
(Depositary &
Custodian)

BNP Paribas
(Accounting
services
(engaged and
reporting to the
Manager))

Reporting
• Depositary
report
(quarterly).
• Presentation
from the
depositary
and custodian
(annually).
• Effectiveness
of control
environment
(annually).

Reporting
• Balance sheet.
• Liquidity and
gearing.
• Revenue
forecasts.
• Portfolio
valuation.
• Portfolio
transactions.
• Effectiveness
of control
environment
(annually).

Registrars

Corporate Broker

Equiniti Ltd – UK
Computershare – NZ

J.P.Morgan
Cazenove – UK
Jarden Securities – NZ
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Internal control and risk management
The Board has overall responsibility for the Company’s system
of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Audit
Committee supports the Board in the monitoring of the internal
control and risk management framework.
The Board has established an ongoing process for identifying,
evaluating and managing the principal risks faced by the
Company. The process accords with the FRC’s guidance on
Risk Management, Internal Control and Related Business and
Financial Reporting published in September 2014. The system
was in operation throughout the year and up to the date of
this report. The system is designed to meet the speciﬁc risks
faced by the Company and takes account of the nature of the
Company’s reliance on its service providers and their internal
controls. The system therefore manages rather than eliminates
the risk of failure to achieve the Company’s business
objectives and provides reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The key components of the internal control framework include:
O

Clearly deﬁned investment criteria which specify levels of
authority and exposure limits. The Board reviews reports
on investment performance against and compliance with
the criteria at each meeting.

O

Regular ﬁnancial reporting which allows the Board to
assess the Company’s ﬁnancial position. The
management accounts and forecasts are reviewed by the
Board at each meeting.

O

Contractual agreements with the Manager and all other
third-party service providers. The Board reviews
performance levels and adherence to relevant provisions of
the agreements on a regular basis through reporting to the
Board and conducts a formal evaluation of the overall level of
service provided at least annually.

O

Review of controls at the Manager and other third-party
service providers. The Board receives quarterly reporting
from the Manager and Depositary, and reviews annual
assurance reports on the effectiveness of the control
environments at the Company’s key service providers.

O

Review of additional reporting provided by:
–

the Manager’s Operational Risk team on the control
environment in operation at the Manager and their view
of the control environments in place at the third-party
service providers used by the Company; and

–

the Manager’s Internal Audit team on areas of
operation which are relevant to the Company.

Internal audit function
Systems are in operation to safeguard the Company’s assets, to
maintain proper accounting records and to ensure that ﬁnancial
information used within the business, or published, is reliable.
The Company is an investment company, has no employees
and delegates all executive activities to third-party service
providers, principally among them, the Manager,
Janus Henderson. The Board places reliance on the
Company’s framework of internal control and the reporting
received from speciﬁc second and third line of defence teams
at the Manager.
The Manager’s Enterprise Risk team support the Audit
Committee in considering the independently audited reports
on the effectiveness of internal controls in place at the
Company’s third-party service providers. The Manager’s
Internal Audit department provides regular reporting to the
Board on the operations at the Manager and presents at least
annually to the Audit Committee.
The Board has therefore concluded that it is not necessary at
the present time for the Company to have its own internal
audit function.
Communication with our stakeholders
Please see pages 31 to 33.

The Board reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s
system of internal control for the year ended 31 October 2021
(see page 51). During the course of its review the Board did
not identify and was not advised of any failings or weaknesses
directly relating to the Company that were determined as
signiﬁcant.
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Report of the Audit Committee
The members of the Committee are Isobel Sharp,
Julian Chillingworth and Richard West who consider that they
have the skills, experience and objectivity to be an effective
Audit Committee. The Committee’s Chair is Isobel Sharp who
is a Chartered Accountant and currently chairs one other Audit
Committee. Isobel Sharp is considered by the Board to have
recent and relevant ﬁnancial experience.

Meetings
The Committee met three times during the year. While not a
member of the Committee, Sue Inglis has also attended all
meetings over the last year and Simon Miller one meeting
since his appointment. Richard Huntingford was a valued
member of the Committee during the year. The Company’s
external Auditor, the Fund Manager and the Manager’s
Financial Reporting Manager for Investment Trusts attend
meetings of the Committee on a regular basis. The Manager’s
Regional EMEA Head of Internal Audit and its Head of
Operational Risk Capital & Emerging Risk also presented to
the Committee at one meeting.

O

the overall approach to paying dividends and the
appropriate level of dividend to be paid in respect of
the year ended 31 October 2021 particularly in light of
the prevailing economic conditions which included last
year the impact of Covid-19 on revenue, cash forecasting
and debt covenants;

O

the review of the allocation of special dividends between
capital and income;

O

a review of evidence supporting the charging of 70% of
ﬁnance costs and investment management fees to capital;

O

the Manager’s policies in relation to cyber risk and
business continuity, meeting with representatives of
Janus Henderson’s internal audit and risk departments
periodically;

O

the key risks facing the Company, including emerging
risks, the risk management systems in place and the
Company’s risk register;

O

compliance with the Company’s anti-bribery and anti-tax
evasion policies and the conﬁrmation received from the
Manager and the third-party service providers as to
whether they have appropriate procedures in place in
this respect;

O

tax matters relating to the Company;

O

whether there is a need for an internal audit function;

O

the re-appointment and evaluation of the effectiveness,
performance and independence and objectivity of the
external Auditor, including the provision of any non-audit
services (as explained further on page 52);

O

the plan, scope and cost of the external audit and
reviewing the Auditor’s ﬁndings and reporting;

O

the calculation and payment of the management fee; and

O

its terms of reference, noting that evaluation of the
Committee’s effectiveness is considered as part of the
process described on page 46.

Role, responsibilities and activities
The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the
integrity of the Company’s ﬁnancial reporting, evaluating the
effectiveness of the systems of internal control and risk
management and making recommendations to the Board on
the appointment of the external Auditor whose effectiveness
and objectivity are reviewed by the Committee. The Audit
Committee formally reports to the Board. The Committee’s
responsibilities are set out in formal terms of reference which
are regularly reviewed and available on the Company’s
website www.bankersinvestmenttrust.com.
In discharging its duties over the course of the year, the
Committee considered and reviewed:
O

the appropriateness of the Company’s accounting policies;

O

the half-year results and the annual report, including
disclosures made therein on internal controls and risk
management, viability, going concern and whether the
report is fair, balanced and understandable and provides
the information necessary for shareholders to assess the
Company’s position and performance, business model
and strategy;

O
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the internal controls in place at the Manager and the
Company’s other principal third-party service providers
and in particular the internal controls reports received from
the Manager and BNP Paribas Securities Services
together with feedback from the Auditor, Fund Manager
and the Corporate Secretary. This included the quality and
effectiveness of the accounting records and management
information maintained on behalf of the Company;

Committee evaluation
The activities of the Audit Committee were considered as part
of the Board appraisal process.

Annual Report for the year ended
31 October 2021
The Committee is satisﬁed that the Annual Report for the year
ended 31 October 2021, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced
and understandable and provides the information necessary
for shareholders to assess the Company’s position and
performance, business model and strategy. It reported
accordingly to the Board.
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For the Annual Report for the year ended 31 October 2021 the following signiﬁcant issues, were considered by the Committee:
Signiﬁcant issue

How the issue was addressed

Valuation and
ownership of the
Company’s
investments

The Directors have appointed Janus Henderson to perform the valuation of the assets of the Company
in accordance with its responsibilities under the AIFMD rules. As required under the AIFMD rules,
Janus Henderson has adopted a written valuation policy, which may be modiﬁed from time to time.
Actively traded investments are valued using stock exchange prices provided by third-party pricing
vendors. The portfolio valuation is regularly reviewed by the Committee. Ownership of listed investments
is veriﬁed by reconciliation to the Custodian’s records. Investments that are unlisted or not actively traded
are valued using a variety of techniques to determine their fair value; all such valuations are reviewed and
approved by the Directors.

Recognition of
income

Income received has been accounted for in line with the Company’s accounting policies (as set out on
page 70) and was reviewed by the Committee at each meeting to conﬁrm it is in compliance with IFRS.
The Board reviews at least four times per annum Janus Henderson’s revenue forecasts in support of the
Company’s future dividends. For special dividends where Janus Henderson is required to allocate between
revenue and capital, the Committee reviews the rationale provided and approves the treatment.

Maintaining
internal controls

The Committee carries out the annual assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
and risk management systems by reviewing the framework and summary of the reporting received
throughout the course of the ﬁnancial year.
The annual assurance report for one of the Company’s third-party service providers was qualiﬁed by the
respective service auditor. The Committee, with the assistance of the Manager’s Operational Risk team,
sought further details from the service provider on the matter giving rise to the qualiﬁcation and the steps
being taken to address the matter. The Committee had further input on the prevailing standards in the sector
when making their recommendation to the Board on the Company’s internal control environment as a whole.

Effectiveness of the external audit
The Committee’s process for evaluating the effectiveness of
the external audit comprises two components; consideration
is given to the ﬁndings of the FRC’s Audit Quality Inspection
Report and a post-audit assessment is carried out.
The Auditor is invited to present and discuss the ﬁndings of the
latest Audit Quality Inspection Report and report on the
progress made by the ﬁrm in terms of addressing the areas
identiﬁed for improvement in the prior year’s report. In assessing
the effectiveness of the audit process, the Committee Chair
invites views from the Directors, the Fund Manager and other
members of the Manager’s staff in assessing the robustness of
the audit, level of challenge offered by the audit team, the quality
of the audit team and timeliness of delivering the tasks required
for the audit and reporting to the Committee.

Appointment and tenure of the external
Auditor
This is the sixth year that EY have audited the Company’s
Annual Report and Mike Gaylor’s ﬁrst year as audit partner.
The audit partner is rotated within the audit ﬁrm at least every
ﬁve years. The last formal audit tender was completed in 2016
leading to the appointment of EY for the year ended
31 October 2016. Current legislation requires an audit tender
every 10 years and thus the Committee considers that it
would be appropriate to hold a tender process in 2025.

During the 2021 audit, the Committee Chair liaised with EY
to receive progress updates and to review EY’s audit results
prior to the Committee meeting to consider the ﬁnancial
statements. EY attended this meeting to present their report
and to observe the Committee’s review of the ﬁnancial
statements and internal controls reporting by the Manager.
Based on the Committee’s review of EY’s reporting,
interactions with the audit team throughout the process,
discussions with representatives of the Manager and
discussions on the ﬁndings of the FRC’s Audit Quality
Inspection Report, the Committee, having met without EY
present, is satisﬁed with the effectiveness of the audit
provided by EY and that they are independent of the
Company.
The Committee therefore recommended EY’s continuing
appointment to the Board. EY have indicated their willingness
to continue in ofﬁce. Accordingly, resolutions reappointing
EY as Auditor to the Company and authorising the Audit
Committee to determine their remuneration is to be proposed
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Auditor’s independence
The Committee monitors the Auditor’s independence
through three aspects of its work: the approval of a policy
regulating the non-audit services that may be provided by
the Auditor to the Company; assessing the appropriateness
of the fees paid to the Auditor for all work undertaken by
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them; and reviewing the information and assurances
provided by the Auditor on their compliance with the
relevant ethical standards.
EY conﬁrmed that all of its partners and staff involved with the
audit were independent of any links to the Company and that
these individuals had complied with EY’s ethics and
independence policies and procedures which are fully
consistent with the FRC’s Ethical Standards.

Policy on non-audit services
The Committee has approved, and keeps under regular
review, the policy on the provision of non-audit services
by the Company’s Auditor. The policy sets out that the
Company’s Auditor will not be considered for non-audit
work where this is prohibited by the current regulations and
where it appears to affect their independence and objectivity.
In addition, the provision of any non-audit services by the
Auditors is not permitted to exceed 70% of the average
annual statutory audit fee for the three consecutive ﬁnancial
periods preceding the ﬁnancial period to which the cap
applies. Such services require approval in advance by the
Audit Committee, or Audit Committee Chair, following due
consideration of the proposed services.
Non-audit services during the year related to additional testing
of the Company’s compliance with its debenture covenants for
which the Auditor was paid £3,000 (2020: £3,000). There were
no other non-audit services.

Approval
The Committee approved this report on its work.

Isobel Sharp
Chair of the Audit Committee
17 January 2022
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Directors’ Remuneration Report
Remuneration policy
The remuneration policy (‘the Policy’) sets out the principles
applied in the remuneration of the Directors. The Policy has been
in place since 2014 and was last approved by shareholders at the
AGM in February 2020. The current policy is to continue in force
until the AGM in 2023.
The Nominations Committee considers the Directors’
remuneration and makes a recommendation to the Board. The
Board has not established a Remuneration Committee
to consider matters relating to the Directors’ remuneration.
The Board has not been provided with advice or services by any
person in respect of its consideration of the Directors’ remuneration
(although the Directors review annually the fees paid to the Boards of
Directors of other comparable investment companies).
The Policy is that the fees payable to the Directors should reﬂect
the time spent by the Board on the Company’s affairs and the
responsibilities borne by the Directors and should be sufﬁcient to
promote the long-term success of the Company.
The Policy is for the Chair of the Board, the Senior Independent
Director and the Chair of the Audit Committee to be paid a
higher fee than the other Directors in recognition of their
additional responsibilities.
The Policy is to review these rates annually although such review
would not necessarily result in any change to the rates.
None of the Directors has a contract of service or a contract for
services, there are no set notice periods and a Director may
resign by giving notice in writing to the Board at any time with
no compensation.
The Policy is for the Directors to be remunerated in the form
of fees, payable quarterly in arrears, to the Director personally or
to a third-party speciﬁed by him or her. There are no long-term
incentive schemes provided by the Company and the fees are not
speciﬁcally related to the Directors’ performance, either
individually or collectively.

Annual report on remuneration
This report is submitted in accordance with Schedule 8 of
The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and
Reports) Regulations 2008 as amended (the ‘Regulations’). The report
also meets the relevant requirements of the Companies Act 2006 (the
‘Act’) and the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority and
describes how the Board has applied the principles relating to
Directors’ remuneration.
The Company’s Auditor is required to report on certain
information contained within this report; where information set
out below has been audited, it is indicated as such.

All Directors are non-executive and the Company has no chief
executive ofﬁcer or employees. As such some of the reporting
requirements contained in the Regulations are not applicable and
have not been reported on, including the requirement for a future
policy table and an illustrative representation of the level of
remuneration that could be received by each individual Director.
It is believed that all relevant information is disclosed within this
report in an appropriate format.

Statement from the Chair
As Chair, Sue Inglis reports that Directors’ remuneration in the
year under review has been determined within the parameters of
the remuneration policy approved by shareholders. As reported
in last year’s report, Directors’ fees were increased with effect
from 1 November 2019. That increase was to ensure that the
Directors are properly remunerated for their services to the
Company and so that the Company can remain competitive
when seeking new Directors.
The Nominations Committee has carried out its annual review of the
fees being paid to Directors and as part of this it looked at the fees
paid to other investment companies in the peer group, the fees paid
in other sectors and the other Janus Henderson managed
investment trusts. It was agreed that no change to Directors’ fees
should be made at the current time.
There have been no other major decisions on Directors’ remuneration
or any other changes to the remuneration paid to each individual
Director in the year under review.

Directors’ interests in shares (audited)
Ordinary shares of 2.5p

Beneﬁcial interest:
Sue Inglis
Julian Chillingworth
Richard Huntingford
Simon Miller2
Isobel Sharp
Richard West
1

2

31 October
2021

1 November
20201

100,000
30,000
27,500
n/a
30,000
50,000

100,000
30,000
27,500
n/a
30,000
50,000

Number of shares at the start of the year have been adjusted for the
10 for 1 share split during the year when each ordinary share of 25p
was sub-divided into 10 ordinary shares of 2.5p
Simon Miller was appointed to the Board on 1 January 2022

The interests of the Directors in the ordinary shares of the
Company at the beginning and end of the ﬁnancial year are
shown in the preceding table. There have been no changes
reported since the year end to the date of this Annual Report.
No Director is required to hold shares of the Company by way of
qualiﬁcation.

Relative importance of spend on pay
In order to show the relative importance of spend on pay, the table below sets out the total level of remuneration compared with the
distributions to shareholders by way of dividends. In the year under review, 2,031,754 ordinary shares were bought back by the Company
into treasury. There were no other signiﬁcant distributions, payments or other uses of the Company’s net return or cash ﬂow deemed to
assist in the understanding of the relative importance of spend on pay.

Total Directors’ remuneration¹
Ordinary dividends paid in the year
1

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

2016
£’000

1 year change
£’000

1 year change
%

5 year change
£’000

5 year change
%

165.1

153.1

140.8

12.0

7.8

24.3

17.3

28,165

26,966

18,581

1,199

4.4

9,584

51.6

Amounts paid will ﬂuctuate due to the number of directors in any one year
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Directors’ remuneration (audited)
The remuneration paid /payable to the Directors who served during the years ended 31 October 2021 and 31 October 2020 was as follows:

Year ended
31 October
2021
Total fees
£

Year ended
31 October
2020
Total fees
£

Year ended
31 October
2021
Total expenses
including
taxable beneﬁts
£

44,300

44,300

–

–

44,300

44,300

Julian Chillingworth

31,500

31,500

–

–

31,500

31,500

Richard Huntingford3

28,900

28,900

–

–

28,900

28,900

Isobel Sharp

31,500

31,500

–

–

31,500

31,500

28,900

16,858

–

–

28,900

16,858

165,100

153,058

–

–

165,100

153,058

Sue Inglis1
2

4

Richard West

Year ended
31 October
2020
Total expenses
including
taxable beneﬁts
£

Year ended
31 October
2021
Total
£

Year ended
31 October
2020
Total
£

The table above omits other columns because no payments of other types such as performance-related pay, vesting performance-related pay and pension-related
beneﬁts were made. Taxable beneﬁts – Article 110 of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable
expenses incurred by them in connection with the performance of their duties and attendance at Board and General Meetings
1 Chair and highest paid Director – was appointed as Chair on 27 February 2019
2 Senior Independent Director with effect from 27 February 2019
3 Retired from the Board on 31 October 2021
4 Appointed to the Board 1 April 2020

No other remuneration or compensation was paid or payable by the Company during the year to any of the current or former Directors
or third parties speciﬁed by any of them.
The fees paid/payable to the Directors during the year were as follows, the previous years’ rates are the same as there has been no
change in fee rates during the year: Chair £44,300, Audit Committee Chair and Senior Independent Director £31,500 and Directors
£28,900. There have been no fee increases with effect from either 1 November 2020 or 1 November 2021.

Performance

Statement of voting at AGM

The Company’s performance has been measured against the FTSE
All-Share Index for the period 1 November 2011 to 31 October 2017
and the FTSE World Index from 1 November 2017 to 31 October
2021 on a total return basis in sterling terms. The graph below
compares the mid-market price of the Company’s ordinary shares
over the 10 year period ended 31 October 2021 with the composite
index over the same period.

A binding ordinary resolution adopting the Remuneration Policy
was approved at the AGM held on 26 February 2020. An ordinary
resolution adopting the Annual Report on Directors’ Remuneration
was approved at the AGM held on 24 February 2021. The
following votes were received on the resolutions:

Resolution

Remuneration
Policy
Remuneration
Report

£
400
350
300

% of
votes Against

% of
votes Withheld

9,038,452

99.5 44,327

0.5 67,502

9,335,679

99.6 40,987

0.4 81,531

The percentage of votes in favour (including discretionary) and
those against excludes the number of votes withheld.

250
200

Approval

150

The Annual Report on Directors’ Remuneration was approved by
the Board on 17 January 2022.

100
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Source: Morningstar Direct
The Company’s share price total return, assuming the investment of
£100 on 31 October 2011 and the reinvestment of all dividends
(excluding dealing expenses)
Composite benchmark comprising of the of FTSE All-Share Index for the
period 1 November 2011 to 31 October 2017 and the FTSE World Index
from 1 November 2017 to 31 October 2021, assuming the notional
investment of £100 on 31 October 2011 and the reinvestment of all
income (excluding dealing expenses)
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For
(including
discretionary)

On behalf of the Board

Sue Inglis
Chair
17 January 2022
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Directors’ Report
The Directors present the audited ﬁnancial statements of the
Company and their report for the year from 1 November 2020
to 31 October 2021. The Bankers Investment Trust PLC
(registered and domiciled in England and Wales with company
registration number 00026351) was active throughout the year
and was not dormant.
For the purposes of the Companies Act 2006, the Corporate
Governance Statement, Audit Committee Report (pages 41
to 52), the Investment Portfolio (pages 19 to 23), Alternative
Performance Measures, General Shareholder Information
and Securities Financing Transactions (pages 90 to 96) form
part of the Directors’ Report.

Dividend
A ﬁnal dividend of 0.55p per share (2020: 5.42p as adjusted
for the 10 for 1 share split), if approved by shareholders at the
AGM, is to be paid on 28 February 2022 to those shareholders
on the register on 28 January 2022. The shares go ex-dividend
on 27 January 2022. This ﬁnal dividend together with the three
interim dividends already paid bring the total dividends for the
year to 2.176p (2020: 2.154p) per share.
A review of the year and the outlook for the forthcoming year
can be found in the Strategic Report.

Share capital
At the AGM held on 24 February 2021 shareholders approved
the sub-division of each ordinary share of 25p into 10 ordinary
shares of 2.5p each and the sub-division was effective from
1 March 2021. Shareholders also approved a special
resolution to adopt new Articles of Association which changed
the votes conferred on a poll from one vote per £1 nominal
held to one vote for every ordinary share held. Therefore, at
the date of this report, the Company’s share capital comprises
ordinary shares with a nominal value of 2.5p each, and the
voting rights of the shares on a poll are one vote for every one
ordinary share held.
To the extent that they exist, the revenue proﬁts and some of
the capital of the Company (including accumulated revenue
and capital reserves) are available for distribution by way of
dividends to the holders of the ordinary shares. Upon a
winding-up, after meeting the liabilities of the Company, the
surplus assets would be distributed to the shareholders pro
rata to their holdings of ordinary shares.
There are no restrictions concerning the transfer of securities
in the Company, no special rights with regard to control
attached to securities, no agreements between holders of
securities regarding their transfer known to the Company and
no agreement which the Company is party to that affects its
control following a takeover bid.
At the beginning of the year, there were 129,157,783 ordinary
shares of 25p each in issue, none of which were held in

treasury. In the period 1 November 2020 to 28 February 2021
975,000 new ordinary shares of 25p each were issued to
JP Morgan Cazenove at a price range of 1056p-1134p per
share for total proceeds (net of commission) of £10,649,000.
On 1 March 2021 the Company’s share capital was sub-divided,
and each share with a nominal value of 25p was sub-divided into
10 shares with a nominal value of 2.5p each. The issued share
capital as at 1 March 2021 was 1,301,327,830 ordinary shares of
which none were held in treasury.
Between 1 March 2021 and 31 October 2021 13,775,000
new shares of 2.5p each were issued to JP Morgan
Cazenove at a price range of 110.2p-118.3p per share for
total proceeds (net of commission) of £15,759,000.
During the year the Company bought back 2,031,754 shares
which are being held in treasury.
At 31 October 2021 the number of ordinary shares in issue
was 1,315,102,830 (2020:1,291,577,830 as adjusted for the
share split) of which 2,031,754 were held in treasury (2020: nil).
Therefore, the total voting rights in the Company as at
31 October 2021 was 1,313,071,076.
Between 1 November 2021 and 13 January 2022, being the
latest practicable date prior to the publication of this Annual
Report, no shares were issued or bought back. Accordingly,
the number of shares in issue as at 13 January 2021 was
1,315,102,830 of which 2,031,754 were held in treasury,
therefore the total voting rights in the Company at this date
was 1,313,071, 076.

Share issue and buy-back authorities
At the 2022 AGM, the Company is to seek to renew its
authorities from shareholders to allot shares up to 10% of its
issued share capital and to buy back shares up to 14.99% of
its issued share capital, in each case excluding treasury
shares, as at the date of the 2022 AGM. Please refer to the
Notice of Meeting that accompanies this Annual Report for
further details. This can also be found on the Company’s
website at www.bankersinvestmenttrust.com.
The Company only issues shares (or sells shares out of
treasury) at a premium (after costs) to NAV. The Company
remains prepared to buy back shares, taking account of
prevailing market conditions (which are not under the Board’s
control), the level of the discount (both absolute and relative to
the Company’s closest peers) and the impact on the NAV
per share.

Fund manager’s interests
Alex Crooke, the Fund Manager, had a beneﬁcial interest in
4,234,728 of the Company’s shares as at 13 January 2022,
being the latest practicable date prior to publication of this
report.
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Holdings in the Company’s shares

Post balance sheet events

The only notiﬁcation of interest in the voting rights of the
Company as at 31 October 2021 made in accordance with the
Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules was as follows.

The Company has no post balance sheet events to report.

% of voting rights

Investec Wealth & Investment

4.5

There have been no further notiﬁcations in the period to
13 January 2022, being the latest practicable date prior to
the publication of this Annual Report.

Related party transactions
The Company’s transactions with related parties in the year
were with its Directors and Janus Henderson. There were no
material transactions between the Company and its Directors
during the year other than the amounts paid to them in
respect of Directors’ remuneration for which there were no
outstanding amounts payable at the year end. In relation to
the provision of services by the Manager, other than fees
payable by the Company in the ordinary course of business
and the provision of marketing services, there were no
transactions with the Manager affecting the ﬁnancial position
of the Company during the year. More details on transactions
with the Manager, including amounts outstanding at the year
end, are given in note 24 on page 87.

Disclosure of information to the Company’s
Auditor
Each of the Directors who were members of the Board at the
date of approval of this Annual Report conﬁrms that, to the
best of his or her knowledge and belief, there is no information
needed by the Company’s Auditor in connection with the
preparation of the Annual Report of which the Company’s
Auditor is unaware and he or she has taken all the steps a
Director might reasonably be expected to have taken to be
aware of any such audit information and to establish that the
Company’s Auditor is aware of that information.

Listing Rule 9.8.4
Listing Rule 9.8.4 requires the Company to include certain
information in a single identiﬁable section of the Annual Report
or a cross reference table indicating where the information is
set out. The Directors conﬁrm that there are no disclosures to
be made in this regard other than in accordance with Listing
Rule 9.8.4(7), the information of which is detailed on page 55
under Share capital.

Securities ﬁnancing transactions
Directors
Details of the Directors and their appointments can be found
on pages 39 and 40.

Directors’ remuneration and shareholdings
The Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 53 and 54 provides
information on the remuneration and interests of the Directors.

Annual General Meeting (‘AGM’)
The AGM is to be held on 24 February 2022 at 11.30am.
The Notice of Meeting and details of the resolutions to be
proposed at the AGM are contained in the Notice of Meeting
being sent to shareholders with this Annual Report.

Other information
Information on future developments and ﬁnancial risks are
detailed in the Strategic Report.

Financial risk management

Approval

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company are
set out on pages 35 and 36. The principal ﬁnancial risks and
the Company’s policies and procedures for managing these
risks are set out in note 16 to the ﬁnancial statements on
pages 78 to 84.

The Directors’ Report has been approved by the Board.

Energy and carbon reporting
Details of the Company’s disclosures with regard to energy
and carbon reporting can be found on page 25.
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As the Company undertakes securities lending it is required
to report on securities ﬁnancing transactions (as deﬁned in
Article 3 of Regulation (EU) 2015/2365, securities ﬁnancing
transactions include repurchase transactions, securities or
commodities lending and securities or commodities borrowing,
buy-sell back transactions or sell-buy back transactions and
margin lending transactions). In accordance with Article 13 of
the Regulation, the Company’s involvement in and exposures
related to securities lending for the accounting period ended
31 October 2021 are detailed on pages 95 and 96.

By order of the Board

Henderson Secretarial Services Limited
Corporate Secretary
17 January 2022
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report,
including the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the Financial
Statements, in accordance with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the Directors to prepare ﬁnancial
statements for each ﬁnancial year. Under that law the Directors
have prepared the Company’s ﬁnancial statements in
accordance with International Accounting Standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.
Under company law, the Directors must not approve the
ﬁnancial statements unless they are satisﬁed that they give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of
the proﬁt or loss of the Company for that year. In preparing
these ﬁnancial statements, the Directors are required to:
O

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

O

make judgements and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;

O

state whether applicable International Accounting
Standards in conformity with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006 have been followed, subject to
any material departures disclosed and explained in
the ﬁnancial statements;

O

prepare the ﬁnancial statements on the going concern
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Company is to continue in business; and

O

prepare a Directors’ report, a strategic report and a
Directors’ remuneration report which comply with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
under Disclosure Guidance and
Transparency Rule 4.1.12
Each of the Directors, who are listed on pages 39 and 40,
conﬁrms that, to the best of his or her knowledge:
O

the ﬁnancial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with International Accounting Standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006 on a going concern basis, give a true and fair view of
the assets, liabilities, ﬁnancial position and proﬁt of the
Company; and

O

the Strategic Report in this Annual Report and ﬁnancial
statements include a fair review of the development and
performance of the business and the position of the
Company, together with a description of the principal risks
and uncertainties that it faces.

On behalf of the Board

Sue Inglis
Chair
17 January 2022

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufﬁcient to show and explain the Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the ﬁnancial position of the Company and enable it to
ensure that the ﬁnancial statements and the Directors’
Remuneration Report comply with the Companies Act 2006.
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
Having taken advice from the Audit Committee, the Directors
consider that the Annual Report and ﬁnancial statements,
taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and understandable and
provide the information necessary for shareholders to assess
the Company’s position and performance, business model
and strategy.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of
The Bankers Investment Trust PLC
Opinion
We have audited the ﬁnancial statements of The Bankers Investment Trust PLC (the ‘Company’) for the year ended 31 October
2021 which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Changes in Equity, the Statement of Financial
Position, the Cash Flow Statement and the related notes 1 to 24, including a summary of signiﬁcant accounting policies. The
ﬁnancial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and in accordance with International
Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.
In our opinion, the ﬁnancial statements:
O

give a true and fair view of the Company’s affairs as at 31 October 2021 and of its proﬁt for the year then ended;

O

have been properly prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirements of
the Companies Act 2006; and

O

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the ﬁnancial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the ﬁnancial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to public interest entities, and we have
fulﬁlled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufﬁcient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the ﬁnancial statements, we have concluded that the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the ﬁnancial statements is appropriate. Our evaluation of the Directors’ assessment of the Company’s ability to
continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included:
O

We conﬁrmed our understanding of the Company’s going concern assessment process and engaged with the Directors and
the Company Secretary to determine if all key factors that we have become aware of during our audit were considered in
their assessment.

O

We inspected the Directors’ assessment of going concern, including the revenue forecast, for the period to 31 October 2023.
In preparing the revenue forecast, the Company has concluded that it is able to continue to meet its ongoing costs as they
fall due.

O

We have reviewed the inputs and assumptions, as applied to the revenue forecast and the liquidity assessment of the
investments. We considered the appropriateness of the methods used to calculate the revenue forecast and the liquidity
assessment and determined, through testing of the methodology and calculations, that the methods, inputs and assumptions
utilised were appropriate to be able to make an assessment for the Company.

O

We reviewed the Company’s assessment of the liquidity of investments held and evaluated the Company’s ability to sell those
investments in order to repay borrowings or to cover working capital requirements should revenue decline signiﬁcantly.

O

In relation to the Company’s borrowing arrangements, we inspected the Directors’ assessment of the risk of breaching
the debt covenants as a result of a reduction in the value of the Company’s portfolio. We have recalculated the Company’s
compliance with debt covenants in the scenarios assessed by the Directors and performed reverse stress testing in order
to identify what factors would lead to the Company breaching the ﬁnancial covenants.

O

We reviewed the Company’s going concern disclosures included in the annual report in order to assess whether the
disclosures were appropriate and in conformity with the reporting standards.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identiﬁed any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast signiﬁcant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for the period to
31 October 2023.
In relation to the Company’s reporting on how they have applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have nothing material to
add or draw attention to in relation to the Directors’ statement in the ﬁnancial statements about whether the Directors considered it
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting.
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of
this report. However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of
The Bankers Investment Trust PLC (continued)
Overview of our audit approach
Key audit matters

Materiality

O

Risk of incomplete or inaccurate revenue recognition, including
classiﬁcation of special dividends as revenue or capital items in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

O

Risk of incorrect valuation or defective title to the investment
portfolio.

O

Overall materiality of £15.9m (2020: £12.6m) which represents 1% of
Net Assets as at 31 October 2021.

An overview of the scope of our audit
Tailoring the scope
Our assessment of audit risk, our evaluation of materiality and our allocation of performance materiality determine our audit scope
for the Company. This enables us to form an opinion on the ﬁnancial statements. We take into account size, risk proﬁle, the
organisation of the Company and effectiveness of controls, including controls and changes in the business environment when
assessing the level of work to be performed. All audit work was performed directly by the audit engagement team.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most signiﬁcance in our audit of the ﬁnancial
statements of the current period and include the most signiﬁcant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to
fraud) that we identiﬁed. These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of
resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the ﬁnancial statements as a whole, and in our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
Risk

Our response to the risk

Key observations communicated
to the Audit Committee

Risk of incomplete or inaccurate revenue
recognition, including classiﬁcation of special
dividends as revenue or capital items in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

We have performed the
following procedures:

The results of our procedures
are:

(as described on page 51 in the Report of the Audit
Committee).
The Company has reported investment income of
£34.94m (2020: £26.56m). This includes special
dividend income of £2.07m (2020: £0.19m) – 15 special
dividends were allocated to revenue, one special
dividend of £1.82m was allocated to capital.
Income is received primarily in the form of dividends
from the listed equity investments.
The investment income receivable by the Company
during the year directly affects the Company’s ability to
pay a dividend to shareholders. There is a risk of
incomplete or inaccurate recognition of income through
the failure to recognise proper income entitlements or
applying appropriate accounting treatment.

We have no matters to
communicate with respect to the
procedures performed in response
to the risk of incomplete or
inaccurate revenue recognition,
including incorrect classiﬁcation of
For a sample of ordinary dividends
special dividends as revenue or
selected from the accounting
capital items in the Statement of
records, we agreed the receipt
Comprehensive Income.
of dividend payments to bank
statements and the applicable
dividend per share and exchange
rates to an independent data
vendor.
We obtained an understanding
of the processes and controls
surrounding revenue recognition
by performing walkthrough
procedures.
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Risk

Our response to the risk

Special dividends represent dividends paid by investee
companies that are additional to the normal or expected
dividend cycle for that Company. In accordance with the
Association of Investment Companies Statement of
Recommended Practice (the ‘SORP’), special dividends
can be included within either the capital or revenue
columns of the Income Statement depending on the
commercial circumstances behind the payments.

To test the completeness of
ordinary and special dividends, for
a sample of investments held we
compared the total dividends
declared during the year from an
independent data vendor to the
income recorded by the Company.

Key observations communicated
to the Audit Committee
The results of our procedures
are:
Based on the work performed we
had no matters to report to the
Audit Committee.

As such, there is a manual and judgemental element in
classifying special dividends between revenue and
capital leading to a risk of incorrect classiﬁcation. The
revenue column of the Income Statement is the main
driver of the minimum dividend calculation.

For all dividends accrued at the
year end, we agreed the dividend
entitlement to an independent data
vendor and agreed the amount
receivable to post year-end bank
statements.

There is therefore a risk that an incorrect classiﬁcation
could potentially result in an under distribution of income
and put the Company’s Investment Trust status at risk.
There is also a risk that the revenue column is overstated
to increase the dividend paid to shareholders.

We assessed the appropriateness
of the Company’s allocation of all
special dividends to either revenue
or capital with reference to publicly
available information.

Risk of incorrect valuation or defective title to the
investment portfolio

We performed the following
procedures:

The results of our procedures
are:

(as described on page 51 in the Report of the Audit
Committee).

We obtained an understanding
of the Manager’s and the
Administrator’s processes
surrounding pricing of listed
securities by reviewing their internal
controls reports and performing
walkthrough procedures.

We have no matters to
communicate with respect to the
procedures that we performed in
response to the risk of incorrect
valuation or defective title of the
investment portfolio held at fair
value through proﬁt and loss.

The investment portfolio at the year-end mainly
comprises quoted equities and a current asset
investment 2021: £1.692bn (2020: £1.247bn).
In accordance with international accounting standards
in conformity with the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006, the Company’s listed investments have been
designated as ‘fair value through proﬁt and loss’.

For all investments in the portfolio,
we compared the market prices
and exchange rates applied to an
independent pricing vendor and
recalculated the investment
valuations as at the year-end.

The valuation of the assets held in the investment
portfolio is the key driver of the Company’s net asset
value and total return. Incorrect investment pricing, or a
failure to maintain proper legal title of the investments
We compared the Company’s
held by the Company could have a signiﬁcant impact on
investment holdings at 31 October
the portfolio valuation and the return generated for
2021 to an independent
shareholders.
conﬁrmation received directly from
The fair value of listed investments is determined by
the Company’s Custodian and
reference to stock exchange quoted market bid prices
Depositary, testing any reconciling
at the close of business on the year end date.
items to supporting
documentation.
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In the prior year, our auditor’s report included a key audit
matter in relation to the impact of Covid-19 on the Company
and its operations. The impact of Covid-19 continued to be
relevant to our audit of the Company and we considered its
impact as part of our work on going concern which is set out
in this report under our conclusions relating to going concern.

Our application of materiality
We apply the concept of materiality in planning and performing
the audit, in evaluating the effect of identiﬁed misstatements on
the audit and in forming our audit opinion.

Materiality
The magnitude of an omission or misstatement that,
individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected
to inﬂuence the economic decisions of the users of the
ﬁnancial statements. Materiality provides a basis for
determining the nature and extent of our audit procedures.
We determined materiality for the Company to be £15.9m
(2020: £12.6m), which is 1% (2020: 1%) of net assets as at
31 October 2021. We have derived our materiality calculation
based on a proportion of net assets as we consider it to be the
most important ﬁnancial metric on which shareholders would
judge the performance of the Company.
During the course of our audit, we reassessed initial materiality
and found no reason to alter the basis of calculation at year-end.

Performance materiality
The application of materiality at the individual account or
balance level. It is set at an amount to reduce to an appropriately
low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and
undetected misstatements exceeds materiality.
On the basis of our risk assessments, together with our
assessment of the Company’s overall control environment, our
judgement was that performance materiality was 75% (2020:
75%) of our planning materiality, namely £11.9m (2020: £9.5m).
We have set materiality at this percentage due to our past
experience of the audit that indicates a lower risk of
misstatements, both corrected and uncorrected.
Given the importance of the distinction between revenue and
capital for the Company, we have also applied a separate
testing threshold of £1.6m (2020: £1.2m) for the revenue
column of the Income Statement being 5% of revenue proﬁt
before tax.

Reporting threshold
An amount below which identiﬁed misstatements are
considered as being clearly trivial.

(2020: £0.63m), which is set at 5% of planning materiality, as
well as differences below that threshold that, in our view,
warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.
We evaluate any uncorrected misstatements against both the
quantitative measures of materiality discussed above and in
light of other relevant qualitative considerations in forming our
opinion.

Other information
The other information comprises the information included in
the annual report, other than the ﬁnancial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon. The Directors are responsible for the
other information contained within the annual report.
Our opinion on the ﬁnancial statements does not cover the
other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in this report, we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the ﬁnancial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the course of the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are
required to determine whether there is a material misstatement
in the ﬁnancial statements themselves. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of the other information, we are required to
report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the
Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to
be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006.
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of
the audit:
O

the information given in the strategic report and the
Directors’ report for the ﬁnancial year for which the
ﬁnancial statements are prepared is consistent with the
ﬁnancial statements; and

O

the strategic report and Directors’ report have been
prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to
them all uncorrected audit differences in excess of £0.79m
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Matters on which we are required to report
by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the
Company and its environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we have not identiﬁed material misstatements in the
strategic report or Directors’ report.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters
in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to
report to you if, in our opinion:
O

adequate accounting records have not been kept, or
returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

O

the ﬁnancial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement
with the accounting records and returns; or

O

certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration speciﬁed by
law are not made; or

O

we have not received all the information and explanations
we require for our audit.

Corporate Governance Statement
The Listing Rules require us to review the Directors’ statement
in relation to going concern, longer-term viability and that part
of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the
Company’s compliance with the provisions of the UK
Corporate Governance Code speciﬁed for our review.
Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have
concluded that each of the following elements of the Corporate
Governance Statement is materially consistent with the ﬁnancial
statements or our knowledge obtained during the audit:
O

Directors’ statement with regards to the appropriateness
of adopting the going concern basis of accounting and
any material uncertainties identiﬁed set out on page 69;

O

Directors’ explanation as to its assessment of the
Company’s prospects, the period this assessment covers
and why the period is appropriate set out on pages 36
and 37;

O

Directors’ statement on fair, balanced and understandable
set out on page 57;

O

Board’s conﬁrmation that it has carried out a robust
assessment of the emerging and principal risks set out on
pages 35 and 36;

O

O
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The section of the annual report that describes the review
of effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems set out on pages 48 and 49; and;
The section describing the work of the audit committee
set out on page 50.

Responsibilities of Directors
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’
Responsibilities set out on page 57, the Directors are
responsible for the preparation of the ﬁnancial statements and
for being satisﬁed that they give a true and fair view, and for
such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of ﬁnancial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the ﬁnancial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate
the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the ﬁnancial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the ﬁnancial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to inﬂuence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these ﬁnancial statements.

Explanation as to what extent the audit was
considered capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance
with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with
our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect irregularities,
including fraud. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not
detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional
misrepresentations, or through collusion. The extent to which
our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud is detailed below.
However, the primary responsibility for the prevention and
detection of fraud rests with both those charged with
governance of the Company and its management.
O

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory
frameworks that are applicable to the Company and
determined that the most signiﬁcant are the International
Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirements
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of the Companies Act 2006, the Listing Rules, UK
Corporate Governance Code, the Association of
Investment Companies’ Code and Statement of
Recommended Practice, Section 1158 of the Corporation
Tax Act 2010 and The Companies (Miscellaneous
Reporting) Regulations 2018.

Use of our report

O

We understood how the Company is complying with those
frameworks through discussions with the Audit Committee
and Company Secretary and review of the Company’s
documented policies and procedures.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a
body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so
that we might state to the Company’s members those matters
we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

O

We assessed the susceptibility of the Company’s ﬁnancial
statements to material misstatement, including how fraud
might occur by considering the key risks impacting the
ﬁnancial statements. We identiﬁed a fraud risk with respect
to the incomplete or inaccurate income recognition
through the incorrect classiﬁcation of special dividends in
the Income Statement. Further discussion of our approach
is set out in the section on key audit matters above.

Mike Gaylor (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP (Statutory Auditor)
London
17 January 2022

O

Based on this understanding we designed our audit
procedures to identify non-compliance with such laws and
regulations. Our procedures involved review of the
reporting to the Directors with respect to the application of
the documented policies and procedures and review of
the ﬁnancial statements to ensure compliance with the
reporting requirements of the Company.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit
of the ﬁnancial statements is located on the Financial
Reporting Council’s website at https://www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of
our auditor’s report.

Other matters we are required to address
O

Following the recommendation from the Audit Committee,
we were appointed by the Company on 17 November
2016 to audit the ﬁnancial statements for the year-ended
31 October 2016 and subsequent ﬁnancial periods.

O

The period of total uninterrupted engagement including
previous renewals and reappointments is 6 years, covering
the years ended 31 October 2016 to 31 October 2021.

O

The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical
Standard were not provided to the Company and we remain
independent of the Company in conducting the audit.

O

The audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to
the Audit Committee.

63

Financial
Statements

64

The Bankers Investment Trust PLC

Annual Report 2021

Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 October 2021

Notes

2

Capital
return
£’000

Total
return
£’000

Revenue
return
£’000

Capital
return
£’000

Total
return
£’000

–

308,991

308,991

–

44,013

44,013

34,939

–

34,939

26,561

–

26,561

88

–

88

200

–

200

35,027

308,991

344,018

26,761

44,013

70,774

Gains on investments held at fair
value through proﬁt or loss

3

Investment income

4

Other operating income
Total income

Year ended 31 October 2020

Revenue
return
£’000

Expenses
5

Management fees

(1,843)

(4,300)

(6,143)

(1,549)

(3,615)

(5,164)

6

Other expenses

(1,074)

–

(1,074)

(1,086)

–

(1,086)

32,110

304,691

336,801

24,126

40,398

64,524

(1,037)

(2,423)

(3,460)

(914)

(2,134)

(3,048)

31,073

302,268

333,341

23,212

38,264

61,476

(2,705)

–

(2,705)

(1,840)

–

(1,840)

28,368

302,268

330,636

21,372

38,264

59,636

Proﬁt before ﬁnance costs
and taxation
7

Finance costs
Proﬁt before taxation

8

Taxation
Proﬁt for the year and total
comprehensive income

9
1

Earnings per ordinary share –
basic and diluted1

2.17p

23.13p

25.30p

1.68p

3.02p

4.70p

Comparative ﬁgures for the year ended 31 October 2020 have been restated due to the sub-division of each ordinary share of 25p into 10 ordinary shares of 2.5p
each on 1 March 2021

The total columns of this statement represent the Statement of Comprehensive Income, prepared in accordance with International
Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. The revenue return and capital return
columns are supplementary to this and are prepared under guidance published by the Association of Investment Companies.

The notes on pages 69 to 87 form part of these ﬁnancial statements
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Notes

Total equity at 1 November 2020

Called up
share capital
£’000

Share
premium
account
£’000

Capital
redemption
reserve
£’000

Other
capital
reserves
£’000

Revenue
reserve
£’000

Total
£’000

32,289

134,125

12,489

1,043,682

38,386

1,260,971

–

–

–

302,268

28,368

330,636

(51)

–

51

(2,274)

–

(2,274)

589

25,862

–

–

–

26,451

Total comprehensive income:
Proﬁt for the year
Transactions with owners,
recorded directly to equity:
18,20

Buy-back of shares to treasury

18,19

Issue of new shares

19

Share issue costs

–

(190)

–

–

–

(190)

20

Costs relating to sub-division of
shares

–

–

–

(45)

–

(45)

Ordinary dividends paid

–

–

–

–

(28,165)

(28,165)

32,827

159,797

12,540

1,343,631

38,589

1,587,384

Called up
share capital
£’000

Share
premium
account
£’000

Capital
redemption
reserve
£’000

Other
capital
reserves
£’000

Revenue
reserve
£’000

Total
£’000

30,986

78,541

12,489

997,213

43,980

1,163,209

–

–

–

38,264

21,372

59,636

–

–

–

8,205

–

8,205

1,303

55,714

–

–

–

57,017

–

(130)

–

–

–

(130)

10

Total equity at 31 October 2021

Year ended 31 October 2020

Notes

Total equity at 1 November 2019
Total comprehensive income:
Proﬁt for the year
Transactions with owners,
recorded directly to equity:
18,20

Sale of shares from treasury

18,19

Issue of new shares

19
10

Share issue costs
Ordinary dividends paid
Total equity at 31 October 2020

–

–

–

–

(26,966)

(26,966)

32,289

134,125

12,489

1,043,682

38,386

1,260,971

The notes on pages 69 to 87 form part of these ﬁnancial statements
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Notes

At 31 October
2021
£’000

At 31 October
2020
£’000

1,692,169

1,246,546

Non-current assets
11

Investments held at fair value through proﬁt or loss
Current assets

12

Investments held at fair value through proﬁt or loss

8,598

24,770

13

Other receivables

3,621

3,267

25,429

54,221

37,648

82,258

1,729,817

1,328,804

(3,750)

(3,001)

(3,750)

(3,001)

1,726,067

1,325,803

(15,000)

(15,000)

Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets
Current liabilities
14

Other payables
Total assets less current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

15

Debenture stocks

15

Unsecured loan notes
Net assets

(123,683)

(49,832)

(138,683)

(64,832)

1,587,384

1,260,971

Equity attributable to equity shareholders
18

Share capital

19

Share premium account

20

Capital redemption reserve

32,827

32,289

159,797

134,125

12,540

12,489

1,343,631

1,043,682

38,589

38,386

1,587,384

1,260,971

Retained earnings:
20

Other capital reserves

21

Revenue reserves
Total equity

17
1

Net asset value per ordinary share

1

120.9p

97.6p

Comparative ﬁgures for the year ended 31 October 2020 have been restated due to the sub-division of each ordinary share of 25p into 10 ordinary shares of 2.5p
each on 1 March 2021

The ﬁnancial statements on pages 65 to 68 were approved and authorised by the Board of Directors on 17 January 2021 and
signed on its behalf by:

Sue Inglis
Chair

The notes on pages 69 to 87 form part of these ﬁnancial statements
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Notes

Year ended
31 October 2021
£’000

Year ended
31 October 2020
£’000

333,341

61,476

3,460

3,048

(308,991)

(44,013)

42

(62)

2

38

Increase in other payables

374

1,309

Purchases of investments

(614,490)

(407,280)

Sales of investments

478,300

333,019

Purchases of current asset investments

(67,151)

(57,674)

Sales of current asset investments

83,323

77,897

Reconciliation of proﬁt before taxation to net cash ﬂow from operating activities
Operating activities
Proﬁt before taxation
Add back interest payable ('ﬁnance costs')

2

Less: gains on investments held at fair value through proﬁt or loss
Decrease/(increase) in accrued income
Decrease in other receivables

Increase in securities sold for future settlement

–

980

Increase in securities purchased for future settlement

–

(2,866)

(91,790)

(34,128)

Interest paid

(3,072)

(3,039)

Taxation on investment income

(3,103)

(1,929)

(97,965)

(39,096)

Equity dividends paid (net of refund of unclaimed distributions)

(28,165)

(26,966)

Issue of loan notes (net of issue costs)

74,232

–

(45)

–

26,451

65,222

Net cash outﬂow from operating activities before interest and taxation1

Net cash outﬂow from operating activities
Financing activities
10

Costs relating to sub-division of shares
Share issue proceeds
Share issue costs

(190)

(130)

(2,274)

–

Net cash inﬂow from ﬁnancing activities

70,009

38,126

Decrease in cash

(27,956)

(970)

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the year

54,221

54,944

(836)

247

25,429

54,221

Share buy-backs

Exchange movements
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
1

In accordance with IAS 7.31 cash inﬂow from dividends was £34,960,000 (2020: £26,394,000) and cash inﬂows from interest was £26,000 (2020: £131,000)

The notes on pages 69 to 87 form part of these ﬁnancial statements
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Notes to the Financial Statements
1

Accounting policies

a)

Basis of preparation
The Bankers Investment Trust PLC is a company incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom under the Companies
Act 2006. The ﬁnancial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 October 2021 have been prepared in accordance
with International Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirements of the Act applicable to companies reporting
under International Accounting Standards.
The ﬁnancial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and on the historical cost basis, except for the
revaluation of certain ﬁnancial instruments held at fair value through proﬁt or loss. The principal accounting policies
adopted are set out below. These policies have been applied consistently throughout the year. Where presentational
guidance set out in the Statement of Recommended Practice (‘the SORP’) for investment companies issued by the
Association of Investment Companies (‘the AIC’) in October 2019 is consistent with the requirements of IFRS, the Directors
have sought to prepare the ﬁnancial statements on a basis consistent with the recommendations of the SORP.
Going concern
In reviewing viability (see pages 36 and 37) and going concern, the Directors have considered, among other things, cash
ﬂow forecasts, a review of covenant compliance including the headroom above the most restrictive covenants and an
assessment of the liquidity of the portfolio and the impact of Covid-19. The assets of the Company consist mainly of
securities that are listed and readily realisable. Thus, after making due enquiry, the Directors believe that the Company has
adequate ﬁnancial resources to meet its ﬁnancial obligations, including the repayment of any borrowings, and to continue in
operational existence for at least 12 months from the date of approval of the ﬁnancial statements. Accordingly, the Directors
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the ﬁnancial statements.
Accounting standards
i) New and amended standards adopted by the Company.
The following new or amended standards were adopted by the Company during the year.
O

IAS 1 and 8 Amendments – Deﬁnition of Material (effective 1 January 2020)

O

IAS 39, IFRS 7 and 9 Amendments Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Phase 1) (effective 1 January 2020)

The International Accounting Standards Board has reﬁned its deﬁnition of ‘material’ and issued practical guidance on
applying the concept of materiality. The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s
ﬁnancial statements.
ii) New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not effective for the current ﬁnancial year and not early
adopted by the Company.
O

IAS 1 Amendments – Classiﬁcation of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (effective 1 January 2023)

O

IAS 8 Amendments – Deﬁnition of Accounting Estimates (effective 1 January 2023)

O

IAS 12 Amendments – Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (effective
1 January 2023)

O

IAS 39, IFRS 4, 7, 9 and 16 Amendments – Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Phase 2) (effective 1 January 2021)

Amendments to IAS 1, 8 and 12 are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s ﬁnancial statements.
iii) New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not effective for the current ﬁnancial year and not relevant
to the Company’s operations.
A number of new standards, amendments and interpretations have been issued that are not effective for the current
ﬁnancial year end and not relevant or material to the Company’s operations. They will therefore have no impact on the
Company’s ﬁnancial statements when they become effective.

b)

Investments held at fair value through proﬁt or loss
All investments are classiﬁed as held at fair value through proﬁt or loss, because they fail the contractual cash ﬂow test and
they are held in a portfolio of assets managed on a fair value basis. Investment transactions are accounted for on a trade
date basis. Assets are de–recognised at the trade date of the disposal. Proceeds are measured at fair value, which are
regarded as the proceeds of sale less any transaction costs. The fair value of the ﬁnancial instruments in the statement
of ﬁnancial position is based on their quoted bid price at the statement of ﬁnancial position date, without deduction of the
estimated future selling costs. Unquoted investments are valued by the Directors using primary valuation techniques such
as earnings multiples, recent transactions and net assets.
Changes in the fair value of investments held at fair value through proﬁt or loss and gains and losses on disposal are
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as ‘Gains/(losses) on investments held at fair value through proﬁt or
loss’. Also included within this caption are transaction costs in relation to the purchase or sale of investments, including the
difference between the purchase price of an investment and its bid price at the date of the purchase.
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Accounting policies (continued)

c)

Presentation of Statement of Comprehensive Income
In accordance with guidance issued by the AIC, supplementary information which analyses the statement of
comprehensive income between items of a revenue and capital nature has been presented alongside the statement of
comprehensive income. The net revenue is the measure the Directors believe appropriate in assessing the Company’s
compliance with certain requirements set out in section 1158 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010.

d)

Income
Dividends receivable on equity shares are recognised as revenue for the year on an ex–dividend basis. Special dividends are
treated as revenue return or as capital return, depending on the facts of each individual case. Income from ﬁxed interest debt
securities is recognised based on the coupon payable by the instrument adjusted to spread any premium or discount on purchase
or redemption over its remaining life. Bank deposit interest and stock lending income are accounted for on an accruals basis.
Where the Company enters into a commitment to underwrite an issue of securities in exchange for the receipt of
commission, commission income is allocated to the revenue return. Gains or losses arising from the take up of shares
are allocated to the capital return.

e)

Expenses
All expenses and interest payable are accounted for on an accruals basis. On the basis of the Board’s expected long term
split of total returns in the form of capital and revenue returns of 70% and 30% respectively, the Company charges 70% of its
ﬁnance costs and investment management fees to capital. Expenses which are incidental to the purchase or sale of an
investment are charged to the capital return column of the statement of comprehensive income and allocated to other capital
reserves. All other operating expenses are charged to the revenue return column of the statement of comprehensive income.

f)

Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
The tax currently payable is based on the taxable proﬁt for the year. Taxable proﬁt differs from net proﬁt as reported in the
statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The liability for current tax is calculated using
the effective tax rate of corporation tax for the accounting period.
In line with the recommendations of the SORP, the allocation method used to calculate tax relief on expenses presented
against capital returns in the supplementary information in the statement of comprehensive income is the ‘marginal basis’.
Under this basis, if taxable income is capable of being offset entirely by expenses presented in the revenue return column
of the statement of comprehensive income, then no tax relief is transferred to the capital return column.
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the ﬁnancial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable proﬁt, and is
accounted for using the statement of ﬁnancial position liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable proﬁts will be
available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Investment trusts which have approval as such
under section 1158 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 are not liable for UK taxation or taxation in the UK on capital gains.
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is
realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the statement of comprehensive income, except when it relates to items
charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

g)

Dividends payable to shareholders
Dividends payable to shareholders are recognised in the ﬁnancial statements when they are paid or, in the case of ﬁnal
dividends, when they are approved by shareholders. Dividends paid are disclosed in the statement of changes in equity.

70

The Bankers Investment Trust PLC

Annual Report 2021

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
1

Accounting policies (continued)

h)

Foreign currency
For the purposes of the ﬁnancial statements, the results and ﬁnancial position is expressed in pounds sterling, which
is the functional currency of the Company and the presentational currency of the Company. Sterling is the functional
currency because it is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates and its primary
capital raising currency.
Transactions recorded in overseas currencies during the year are translated into sterling at the appropriate daily exchange
rates. Monetary assets and liabilities and equity investments held at fair value through proﬁt or loss that are denominated in
overseas currencies at the statement of ﬁnancial position date are translated into sterling at the exchange rates ruling at
that date. Exchange gains and losses on investments held at fair value through proﬁt or loss are included within ‘Gains/
(losses) on investments held at fair value through proﬁt or loss’.

i)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises cash in hand and on demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short–term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and that are subject to an insigniﬁcant risk of changes in value, which are
used to meet short term cash commitments.

j)

Borrowings
Interest–bearing bank loans, overdrafts, debentures and loan notes are recorded initially at fair value, being the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Finance costs, including premiums
payable on settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, are accounted for on an accruals basis in the statement of
comprehensive income using the effective interest rate method and are added to the carrying amount of the instrument to
the extent that they are not settled in the period in which they arise.

k)

Issue and repurchase of ordinary shares
The proceeds from the issue of new ordinary shares (including those relating to the sale of shares out of treasury) and the
aggregate cost of repurchasing ordinary shares including related stamp duty and transaction costs are taken directly to
equity and disclosed in the statement of changes in equity. Issue costs incurred in respect of shares sold out of treasury
are offset against proceeds received and dealt with in other capital reserves. Share issues and repurchase transactions are
accounted for on a trade date basis. The nominal value of ordinary share capital repurchased and cancelled is transferred
out of called–up share capital and into the capital redemption reserve.

l)

Capital reserves
Other capital reserves are split into two components, the capital reserve arising on investments sold and the capital
reserve arising on revaluation of investments held, together ’Other capital reserves’. The following analyses what is
accounted for in each of these components.
Capital reserve arising on investments sold
The following are accounted for in this reserve:
O
gains and losses on the disposals of investments;
O
expenses and ﬁnance costs allocated to capital net of tax relief;
O
realised foreign exchange differences of a capital nature; and
O
costs of repurchasing ordinary share capital.
Capital reserve arising on revaluation of investments held
The following are accounted for in this reserve:
O
increases and decreases in the valuation of investments held at the year end; and
O
unrealised foreign exchange differences of a capital nature.
Revenue reserve
The revenue reserve represents accumulated revenue proﬁts retained by the Company that have not currently been
distributed to shareholders as a dividend.
Capital redemption reserve
The capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of ordinary shares repurchased and cancelled.

71

The Bankers Investment Trust PLC

Annual Report 2021

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
1

Accounting policies (continued)
Share capital
Share capital represents the nominal value of ordinary shares in issue.
Share premium
The share premium account represents the premium above nominal value received by the Company on issuing shares net
of issue costs.

m)

Distributable reserves
The Company’s capital reserve arising on investments sold and revenue reserve may be distributed by way of a dividend.

n)

Key estimates and assumptions
Estimates and assumptions used in preparing the ﬁnancial statements are reviewed on an ongoing basis and are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The results of
these estimates and assumptions form the basis of making judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources.
There are no estimates and assumptions that may cause material adjustment to the carrying value of assets and liabilities
within the next ﬁnancial year. The decision to allocate special dividends as income or capital is a judgement but not
deemed to be material.

o)

Receivables
Receivables are amounts due from securities sold for future settlement, withholding tax recoverable, prepayments and
accrued income in the ordinary course of business. If collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classiﬁed as current assets. If not, they are presented as non–current assets.
Receivables are recognised initially at fair value based on contractual settlement amounts and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. The Company records any impairment allowances on ﬁnancial
assets at amortised cost using the expected credit loss model under the simpliﬁed method.

p)

Payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for securities purchased for future settlement, accruals and deferred income that
have been acquired/incurred in the ordinary course of business. Accounts payable are classiﬁed as current liabilities if
payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of business if longer). If not, they are presented as
non–current liabilities. Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value based on contractual settlement amounts and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

q)

Policy on operating segments
Under IFRS 8, operating segments are considered to be the components of an entity, about which separate ﬁnancial
information is available, that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision–maker (the Board, with support from
Janus Henderson) in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The Directors meet regularly to
consider investment strategy and to monitor the Company’s performance. The Fund Manager, who has been appointed to
manage the Company’s investments, attends all Board meetings at which investment strategy and performance are
discussed. The Directors consider that the Company has one operating segment, which invests in shares and securities
primarily for capital appreciation and dividend growth in accordance with the Company’s published investment objective.
The business is not managed on a geographical basis. However, disclosure by geographical segment has been provided in
note 3 and on page 10. Further analyses of expenses, investment gains or losses, proﬁt and other assets and liabilities by
country have not been given as either it is not possible to prepare such information in a meaningful way or the results are
not considered to be signiﬁcant.

2

Gains/(losses) on investments held at fair value through proﬁt or loss
2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Gains on sale of investments based on historical cost

99,844

38,871

Revaluation gains recognised in previous years

(66,013)

(63,580)

Gains/(losses) on investments sold in the year based on carrying value at previous
statement of ﬁnancial position date
Revaluation of investments held at 31 October
Exchange (losses)/gains

72

33,831

(24,709)

275,602

68,475

(442)

247

308,991

44,013
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Investment income

UK dividend income – listed
UK dividend income – special dividends

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

10,461

9,332

673

73

22,257

16,893

1,395

115

153

148

34,939

26,561

11,287

9,840

Europe (ex UK)

8,202

4,722

North America

4,683

2,901

Japan

3,726

3,211

Paciﬁc (ex Japan, China)

5,117

4,058

Overseas dividend income – listed
Overseas dividend income – special dividends
Property income distributions
Analysis of investment income by geographical region:
UK

China

4

1,924

1,829

34,939

26,561

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

24

108

Other operating income
Bank interest
Underwriting income
Stock lending revenue
Other income

–

7

60

71

4

14

88

200

At 31 October 2021 the total value of securities on loan by the Company for stock lending purposes was £71,929,000
(2020: £56,367,000). The maximum aggregate value of securities on loan at any one time during the year ended
31 October 2021 was £98,840,000 (2020: £119,390,000). The Company’s agent (BNP Paribas Securities Services) held
collateral at 31 October 2021 with a value of £79,628,000 (2020: £61,262,000) in respect of securities on loan. The value of
securities held on loan, comprising Corporate and Government Bonds with a minimum market value of 105% (2020: 105%)
of the market value of any securities on loan, is reviewed on a daily basis.

5

Management fees
2021

Investment management

2020

Revenue
return
£’000

Capital
return
£’000

Total
return
£’000

Revenue
return
£’000

Capital
return
£’000

Total
return
£’000

1,843

4,300

6,143

1,549

3,615

5,164

1,843

4,300

6,143

1,549

3,615

5,164

A summary of the terms of the management agreement is given in the Business Model on page 29.
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Other expenses
2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Directors' fees and expenses (see page 54)

165

153

Auditors' remuneration – for audit services

40

35

3

3

Expenses payable to Janus Henderson (relating to marketing services)

115

115

Bank/custody charges

1

Auditors' remuneration – for non-audit services

258

175

Depositary fees

55

52

Registrar fees

59

55

AIC subscriptions

21

21

Printing expenses

43

39

Legal fees2

35

165

–

16

Listing fees

98

82

Irrecoverable VAT

19

35

Loan arrangement & non-utilisation fees

51

30

112

110

1,074

1,086

Overseas compliance fees

Other expenses

The compensation payable to key management personnel in respect of short term employment beneﬁts was £165,000
(2020: £153,000) which relates wholly to the fees and expenses payable to the Directors in respect of the year.

7

1

Non-audit services relate to the provision of a debenture covenant compliance certiﬁcate

2

Legal fees have continued to be incurred in respect of costs to reclaim withholding tax suffered on manufactured overseas dividends but have decreased
overall following the conclusion of defending the Company from a claim made against it. Following mediation, settlement was agreed and ﬁled and
approved with the US court. A settlement payment of £1,553,000 (US $2,085,000) was made in December 2020. The Company also paid £495,000 to
the claimant which represented 50% of the proceeds (less costs) received from a tax reclaim of £993,000 (US $1,375,000) the Company made with the
US Internal Revenue Service. The total net value of the settlement has been included within the capital return in note 20 under the gains from investments
within the capital reserve arising on investments sold and is a loss of £2,048,000 less the tax reclaim of £993,000, a net amount of £1,055,000. The
Company’s position on the legal case in respect of the manufactured overseas dividends is expected to become clearer once the judgement is issued
following the Supreme Court hearing in November 2021

Finance costs
2021
Capital
return
£’000

Total
return
£’000

Revenue
return
£’000

Capital
return
£’000

Total
return
£’000

360

840

1,200

360

840

1,200

677

1,583

2,260

554

1,294

1,848

1,037

2,423

3,460

914

2,134

3,048

Interest on debentures repayable:
– between one and ﬁve years
Interest on unsecured loan notes repayable:
– after ﬁve years1

1

74

2020

Revenue
return
£’000

Includes amortisation of issue costs and may therefore vary from year to year
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Taxation

a)

Analysis of the charge for the year
2021
Capital
return
£’000

Total
return
£’000

Revenue
return
£’000

Capital
return
£’000

Total
return
£’000

3,103

–

3,103

2,233

–

2,233

(398)

–

(398)

(393)

–

(393)

2,705

–

2,705

1,840

–

1,840

Revenue
return
£’000

Capital
return
£’000

Total
return
£’000

Revenue
return
£’000

Capital
return
£’000

Total
return
£’000

31,073

302,268

333,341

23,212

38,264

61,476

Corporation tax for the year at 19% (2020: 19%)

5,904

57,431

63,335

4,410

7,270

11,680

Non-taxable UK dividends

(2,117)

–

(2,117)

(1,767)

–

(1,767)

Overseas income and non-taxable scrip dividends

(4,294)

–

(4,294)

(3,069)

–

(3,069)

Overseas withholding tax suffered

2,705

–

2,705

1,840

–

1,840

420

1,084

1,504

376

979

1,355

Overseas tax suffered
Overseas tax reclaimable
Total tax charge for the year

b)

2020

Revenue
return
£’000

Factors affecting the tax charge for the year
The differences are explained below:
2021

Proﬁt before taxation

Excess management expenses and loan relationships
Interest capping restriction
Capital gains not subject to tax

c)

2020

87

193

280

50

113

163

–

(58,708)

(58,708)

–

(8,362)

(8,362)

2,705

–

2,705

1,840

–

1,840

Provision for deferred taxation
No provision for deferred taxation has been made in the current year or in the prior year.
The Company has not provided for deferred tax on capital gains or losses arising on the revaluation or disposal of
investments as it is exempt from tax on these items because of its status as an investment trust, which it intends to
maintain for the foreseeable future.

d)

Factors that may affect future tax charges
The Company can offset management fees, other administrative expenses and interest costs against taxable income to
eliminate any tax charge on such income. The tax legislation refers to these as management expenses (management fees
and other administrative expenses) and non-trade loan relationship deﬁcits (interest costs) and these are captured together
under the heading ‘Excess management expenses and loan relationships’ in the table above. Where these are not fully
utilised, they can be carried forward to future years. As the Company is unlikely to generate future taxable proﬁts to utilise
these amounts, the Company cannot recognise an asset to reﬂect them, but must still disclose the deferred tax amount
carried forward arising from any unutilised amounts.
Consequently, the Company has not recognised a deferred tax asset totalling £17,695,000 (2020: £11,920,000) arising as a
result of having unutilised management expenses and unutilised non-trade loan relationship deﬁcits totalling £70,780,000
(2020: £62,736,000) and based on the prospective tax rate of 25% (2020: 19%).
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Earnings per ordinary share
The total earnings per ordinary share is based on the net proﬁt attributable to the ordinary shares of £331,698,000
(2020: £59,636,000) and on 1,306,988,584 ordinary shares (2020: 1,269,959,9301), being the weighted average number of
shares in issue during the year.
The total earnings can be further analysed as follows:

Revenue proﬁt

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

28,368

21,372

Capital proﬁt

302,268

38,264

Proﬁt for the year

330,636

59,636

1,306,988,584

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

1,269,959,9301

2.17p

1.68p1

Capital earnings per ordinary share

23.13p

3.02p1

Earnings per ordinary share

25.30p

4.70p1

Revenue earnings per ordinary share

1

Comparative ﬁgures for the year ended 31 October 2020 have been restated due to the sub-division of each ordinary share of 25p into 10 ordinary shares
of 2.5p each on 1 March 2021

The Company does not have any dilutive securities therefore basic and diluted earnings are the same.

10

Dividends on ordinary shares
Dividends on ordinary shares

Third interim dividend (0.535p2) for the year ended
31 October 2019
Final dividend (0.535p2) for the year ended
31 October 2019
First interim dividend (0.535p2) for the year ended
31 October 2020
Second interim dividend (0.535p2) for the year
ended 31 October 2020
Third interim dividend (0.542p2) for the year ended
31 October 2020
Final dividend (0.542p2) for the year ended
31 October 2020
First interim dividend (0.538p) for the year ended
31 October 2021
Second interim dividend (0.538p) for the year
ended 31 October 2021

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

29 November 2019

–

6,560

23 January 2020

28 February 2020

–

6,685

23 April 2020

29 May 2020

–

6,835

23 July 2020

28 August 2020

–

6,886

23 October 2020

30 November 2020

6,989

–

29 January 2021

26 February 2021

7,053

–

30 April 2021

28 May 2021

7,050

–

30 July 2021

31 August 2021

Record date

Payment date

24 October 2019

7,073

–

28,165

26,966

The total dividends payable in respect of the ﬁnancial year, which form the basis of the calculation of the retention test
under section 1158 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010, are set out below. All dividends have been paid or will be paid out of
revenue proﬁts.

Revenue available for distribution by way of dividend for the year
First interim dividend (0.538p) (2020: 0.535p2)
2

Second interim dividend (0.538p) (2020: 0.535p )
2

Third interim dividend (0.55p) paid on 30 November 2021 (2020: 0.542p paid on 30 November 2020)
2

1

Final dividend (0.55p) payable on 28 February 2022 (2020: 0.542p paid on 26 February 2021)
Transfer from revenue reserve
1
2

76

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

28,368

21,372

(7,050)

(6,835)

(7,073)

(6,886)

(7,222)

(6,990)

(7,222)

(7,053)

(199)

(6,392)

Based on the number of shares in issue, excluding shares held in treasury, of 1,313,071,076 on 13 January 2021 being the latest practicable date prior to
the publication of this report
Figures have been restated due to the sub-division of each ordinary share of 25p into 10 ordinary shares of 2.5p each on 1 March 2021
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Investments held at fair value through proﬁt or loss
Valuation at start of year

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

1,246,546

1,128,519

Investment holding gain at start of year

(328,456)

(323,561)

Cost at start of year

918,090

804,958

Acquisitions at cost

614,490

407,280

Disposals at cost
Cost at end of year
Investment holding gains at end of year
Valuation of investments at end of year

(378,456)

(294,148)

1,154,124

918,090

538,045

328,456

1,692,169

1,246,546

At 31 October 2021 convertible or ﬁxed interest securities held in the portfolio which were also unquoted investments
shown at the Directors’ fair valuation were £1,000 (2020: £3,000). See note 16.5 on page 83.
The Company received £479,336,000 (2020: £333,016,000) from investments sold in the year. The book cost of these
investments when they were purchased were £378,456,000 (2020: £294,148,000). These investments have been revalued
over time, until they were sold any unrealised gains/losses were included in the fair value of investments.
Purchase and sale transaction costs for the year ended 31 October 2021 were £1,001,000 and £261,000 respectively
(2020: transaction costs of purchases £507,000; transaction costs of sales £211,000). These comprise mainly stamp duty
and commission.
The Company has no interests of 3% or more of any class of capital of the companies in its portfolio (2020: nil%).

12

Current asset investment
The Company has a holding in Deutsche Global Liquidity Series Fund, a money market fund which is viewed as a readily
disposable store of value and which is used to invest cash balances that would otherwise be placed on short-term deposit.
At 31 October 2021 this holding had a value of £8,598,000 (2020: £24,770,000).

13

Other receivables
2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Other taxes recoverable

1,579

1,181

Prepayments and accrued income

1,987

2,029

55

57

3,621

3,267

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

3,344

2,625

406

376

3,750

3,001

Other receivables

14

Current liabilities
Accruals
Other payables
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Non-current liabilities: amounts falling due after more than one year
2021
£’000

2020
£’000

15,000

15,000

49,841

49,832

Borrowings: Debenture stock (secured):
8% debenture stock 2023
Borrowings: Loan notes (unsecured):
3.68% loan notes 2035
1.67% loan notes 2041 (Euro)

36,994

–

2.28% loan notes 2045

36,848

–

138,683

64,832

The 8% debenture stock 2023 is secured by ﬂoating charges over the whole of the undertaking and all the property and
assets of the Company. The 8% debenture stock 2023 is redeemable at par on 31 October 2023.
The £50,000,000 3.68% unsecured loan notes 2035 are redeemable at par on 27 May 2035. They are shown on the
balance sheet on the effective interest basis. The unsecured loan notes were issued net of costs totalling £210,000.
The €44,000,000 1.67% unsecured loan notes 2041 were issued on 3 August 2021 and are redeemable at par on
3 August 2041. They are shown on the balance sheet on the effective interest basis. The unsecured loan notes were
issued net of costs totalling £155,000.
The £37,000,000 2.28% unsecured loan notes 2045 were issued on 3 August 2021 and are redeemable at par on
3 August 2045. They are shown on the balance sheet on the effective interest basis. The unsecured loan notes were
issued net of costs totalling £152,000.

16

Risk management policies and procedures

16.1

Market risk
Janus Henderson assesses the exposure to market risk when making each investment decision and monitors the overall
level of market risk on the whole of the investment portfolio on an ongoing basis.

16.1.1 Market price risk
Market price risk (i.e. changes in market prices other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk) may affect
the fair value of quoted and unquoted investments.
Management of the risk
The Board of Directors manages the risks inherent in the investment policy by ensuring full and timely reporting of relevant
information from Janus Henderson. Investment performance is reviewed at each Board meeting. The Board monitors
Janus Henderson’s compliance with the Company’s objectives and is directly responsible for investment strategy and
asset allocation, including between countries and economies.
The Company’s exposure to changes in market prices on its investments was as follows:

Equities
Fixed interest

78

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

1,692,168

1,246,543

1

3

1,692,169

1,246,546
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Risk management policies and procedures (continued)

16.1.1 Market price risk (continued)
Market price risk sensitivity
The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the proﬁt after taxation for the year and the Company’s net assets to an increase
or decrease of 20% (2020: 20%) in the fair values of the Company’s investments at each statement of ﬁnancial position date.
This level of change is considered to be reasonably possible based on observation of current market conditions.
2021
Increase in
fair value
£’000

2020
Decrease in
fair value
£’000

Increase in
fair value
£’000

Decrease in
fair value
£’000

Statement of comprehensive income – proﬁt after tax
Revenue return

(406)

Capital return
Change to proﬁt after tax for the year and net assets

406

(299)

299

337,486

(337,486)

248,611

(248,611)

337,080

(337,080)

248,312

(248,312)

16.1.2 Currency risk
A signiﬁcant proportion of the Company’s assets, liabilities and income are denominated in currencies other than sterling
(the Company’s functional currency and presentational currency). As a result, movements in exchange rates may affect the
sterling value of those items.
Management of the risk
Janus Henderson monitors the Company’s exposure to foreign currencies on a daily basis and reports to the Board at each
Board meeting. Janus Henderson measures the risk to the Company of the foreign currency exposure by considering the
effect on the Company’s net asset value and total return of a movement in the exchange rates to which the Company’s
assets, liabilities, income and expenses are exposed.
Foreign currency borrowings may be used to limit the Company’s exposure to future changes in exchange rates which might
otherwise adversely affect the value of the portfolio of investments. These borrowings are limited to 20% of the adjusted net
asset value at the time of any draw down.
Investment income denominated in foreign currencies is converted into sterling on receipt. The Company did not use
ﬁnancial instruments to mitigate the currency exposure in the period between the time that income is included in the ﬁnancial
statements and its receipt.
During the year, derivative contracts were not used to hedge against exposure to currency risk.
Foreign currency exposure
The fair values of the Company’s monetary items that have foreign currency exposure at 31 October are shown below.
Where the Company’s equity investments (which are not monetary items) are denominated in a foreign currency, they have
been included separately in the analysis so as to show the overall level of exposure.
US
$
£’000

Euro
£’000

Japanese
Yen
£’000

Hong Kong
$
£’000

Other
£’000

184

677

1,352

–

936

Cash and cash equivalents

–

–

–

–

1,838

Non-current liabilities

–

(36,994)

–

–

–

184

(36,317)

1,352

–

2,774

2021

Other receivables

Total foreign currency exposure on net monetary
items
Investments at fair value through proﬁt or loss that are
equities

627,395

236,818

199,230

55,419

257,856

Total net foreign currency exposures

627,579

200,501

200,582

55,419

260,630

79

The Bankers Investment Trust PLC

Annual Report 2021

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
16

Risk management policies and procedures (continued)

16.1.2 Currency risk (continued)

2020

Other receivables

US
$
£’000

Euro
£’000

Japanese
Yen
£’000

138

517

1,167

–

727

–

–

–

–

14,444

Cash and cash equivalents
Total foreign currency exposure on net monetary items

Hong Kong
$
£’000

Other
£’000

138

517

1,167

–

15,171

Investments at fair value through proﬁt or loss that are equities

477,040

146,596

154,517

45,010

177,051

Total net foreign currency exposures

477,178

147,113

155,684

45,010

192,222

Foreign currency sensitivity
The table below illustrates the sensitivity of the total proﬁt after tax for the year and the net assets in regard to movements
in the Company’s foreign currency ﬁnancial assets and ﬁnancial liabilities caused by changes in the exchange rates for the
US dollar/sterling, euro/sterling, Japanese yen/sterling and Hong Kong dollar/sterling.
It assumes the following changes in exchange rates:
US dollar/sterling +/- 10% (2020: 10%), euro/sterling +/- 10% (2020: 10%), Japanese yen/sterling +/- 10% (2020: 10%),
Hong Kong dollar/sterling +/- 10% (2020: 10%).
These percentages are deemed reasonable based on the average market volatility in exchange rates in recent years.
The sensitivity analysis is based on the Company’s foreign currency ﬁnancial assets and ﬁnancial liabilities held at each
statement of ﬁnancial position date, with all other variables held constant.
The impact on the total proﬁt after tax and the year end net assets of a depreciation of 10% in the year end exchange rate
for sterling against the currencies shown would have been as follows:
2021

2020
Hong
Kong
$
£’000

US
$
£’000

Euro
£’000

Japanese
Yen
£’000

Hong
Kong
$
£’000

577

383

344

130

6,141

53,004

16,288

17,169

5,001

6,277

53,581

16,671

17,513

5,131

US
$
£’000

Euro
£’000

Japanese
Yen
£’000

715

695

360

136

69,519

21,959

22,076

70,234

22,654

22,436

Statement of Comprehensive Income –
proﬁt after tax
Revenue return
Capital return
Change to proﬁt after tax for the
year and net assets

The impact on the total proﬁt after tax and the year end net assets of an appreciation of 10% in the year end exchange rate
for sterling against the currencies shown would have been as follows:
2021

2020
Hong
Kong
$
£’000

US
$
£’000

Euro
£’000

(111)

(472)

(313)

(281)

(107)

Hong
Kong
$
£’000

US
$
£’000

Euro
£’000

(585)

(568)

(295)

(56,880) (18,245)

(18,062)

(5,024) (43,367) (13,327)

(14,047)

(4,092)

(57,465) (18,813)

(18,357)

(5,135) (43,839) (13,640)

(14,328)

(4,199)

Japanese
Yen
£’000

Japanese
Yen
£’000

Statement of Comprehensive Income –
proﬁt after tax
Revenue return
Capital return
Change to proﬁt after tax for the
year and net assets

In the opinion of the Directors, the above sensitivity analyses are not representative of the year as a whole, since the level
of exposure changes frequently as part of the currency risk management process used to meet the Company’s objective.
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16.1.3 Interest rate risk
Interest rate movements may affect the level of interest receivable from cash at bank, the current asset investments and the
value of ﬁxed interest investments.
Management of the risk
The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk is managed by Janus Henderson and is reported to the Board on a regular basis.
Interest rate exposure
The exposure at 31 October of ﬁnancial assets and (ﬁnancial liabilities) to interest rate risk is shown below. Floating interest
rates exposure is by reference to when the interest rate is due to be re-set.
2021

2020

Within one
year
£’000

More than
one year
£’000

25,429

Total
£’000

Within one
year
£’000

More than
one year
£’000

Total
£’000

–

25,429

54,221

–

54,221

8,598

–

8,598

24,770

–

24,770

Fixed interest investments

–

1

1

–

3

3

Debentures

–

(15,000)

(15,000)

–

(15,000)

(15,000)

Unsecured loan notes

–

(123,683)

(123,683)

–

(49,832)

(49,832)

34,027

(138,682)

(104,655)

78,991

(64,829)

14,162

Exposure to ﬂoating interest rates:
Cash and cash equivalents
Current asset investment
Exposure to ﬁxed interest rates:

The above amounts are not necessarily representative of the exposure to interest rates during the year, as the level of
exposure changes as investments are made and borrowings are drawn down and repaid.
Interest receivable and ﬁnance costs are at the following rates:
O

Interest received on cash balances, or paid on bank overdrafts, is at a margin over LIBOR, its replacement or its
foreign currency equivalent (2020: same).

O

Interest paid on debentures and unsecured loan notes is set out in note 7.

Interest rate sensitivity
The Company is primarily exposed to interest rate risk through its cash balances, bank loans, its current asset investments
and ﬁxed income investments. The sensitivity of each exposure is as follows:
O

Cash – Cash balances vary throughout the year. Cash balances at the year end were £25,429,000 (2020:
£54,221,000) and, if that level of cash was maintained for a full year, a 100 basis points change in interest rates
(up or down) would increase or decrease total net return after taxation by approximately £254,000 (2020: £542,000).

O

Bank loans – Amounts drawn down vary throughout the year. Amount drawn down at the year end was £nil (2020: £nil).

O

Current asset investment sensitivity – The Company’s interest bearing current asset investment at the year end was
£8,598,000 (2020: £24,770,000) and, if that level of investment was maintained for a full year, a 100 basis points
change in interest rates (up or down) would increase or decrease total net return after taxation by approximately
£86,000 (2020: £248,000).

O

Fixed income investment sensitivity – The Company’s ﬁxed income portfolio at the year end was valued at £1,000
(2020: £3,000) and is not currently paying interest and therefore there is no modiﬁed duration (interest rate sensitivity)
(2020: no duration).
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16.2 Liquidity risk
This is the risk that the Company will encounter difﬁculty in meeting obligations associated with ﬁnancial liabilities.
Management of the risk
Liquidity risk is not signiﬁcant as the majority of the Company’s assets are investments in quoted securities that are readily
realisable. During the year the Company arranged unsecured sterling loan facilities with SMBC Bank International plc
totalling £20,000,000; the facility was not drawn down at the year end and expires in February 2022. The Company also
has a debenture and unsecured loan notes, details of which can be found in note 15 on page 78.
The Board gives guidance to Janus Henderson as to the maximum amounts of the Company’s resources that should be
invested in any one company.
The policy is that the Company should generally remain fully invested and that short-term borrowings be used to manage
short-term cash requirements.
Liquidity risk exposure
The remaining contractual maturities of the ﬁnancial liabilities at 31 October, based on the earliest date on which payment
could be required was as follows:
2021

Debenture stock
Unsecured loan notes
Other payables

2020

Due within
three months
£’000

Due between
three months
and one year
£’000

Due after
one year
£’000

–

1,200

920

2,384

Due within
three months
£’000

Due between
three months
and one year
£’000

Due after
one year
£’000

16,200

–

1,200

17,400

179,256

920

920

75,760

3,750

–

–

3,001

–

–

4,670

3,584

195,456

3,921

2,120

93,160

16.3 Credit and counterparty risk
The failure of the counterparty to a transaction to discharge its obligations under that transaction could result in the
Company suffering a loss.
Management of the risk
Credit risk is managed as follows:
O

transactions involving derivatives are entered into only with approved counterparties, the credit rating of which is taken
into account by Janus Henderson so as to minimise the risk to the Company of default;

O

investment transactions are carried out with a large number of approved brokers, whose credit-standard is reviewed
periodically by Janus Henderson, and limits are set on the amount that may be due from any one broker; and

O

cash at bank is held only with reputable banks with high quality external credit ratings and is subject to continual review.

Stock lending transactions are carried out with a number of approved counterparties, whose credit-standard is reviewed
periodically by Janus Henderson, and limits are set on the amount that may be lent to any one counterparty.
Stock lending is the temporary transfer of securities by a lender to a borrower, with an agreement by the borrower to return
equivalent securities to the lender at an agreed future date. Stock lending revenue is received for making the investments
available to the borrower which increases the returns on the portfolio. In all cases securities lent continue to be recognised
on the statement of ﬁnancial position. Details of the securities on loan at the year end, and the collateral held can be found
in note 4 on page 73 and on pages 95 and 96.
Other than stock lending transactions and debenture stock, none of the Company’s ﬁnancial assets or liabilities is secured
by collateral or other credit enhancements.
Outstanding settlements are subject to credit risk. Credit risk is mitigated by the Company through its decision to transact
with counterparties of high credit quality. The Company only buys and sells investments through brokers which are
approved counterparties, thus minimising the risk of default through settlement. The credit ratings of brokers are reviewed
periodically by Janus Henderson, and limits are set on the amount that may be due from any one broker.
The Company is exposed to credit risk through the use of banks for its cash position. Bankruptcy or insolvency of banks
may cause the Company’s rights with respect to cash held by banks to be delayed or limited. The Company’s cash
balances are held by its custodian, BNP Paribas Securities Services. The Directors believe the counterparty is of high
credit quality and, therefore, the Company has minimal exposure to credit risk.
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16.3 Credit and counterparty risk (continued)
None of the Company’s ﬁnancial assets are past due and the expected credit loss within IFRS 9 for calculating impairment
on such balances has not had a material impact on the Company.
Credit risk exposure
The table below summarises the maximum credit risk exposure of the Company as at year end.
2021
£’000

Fixed interest securities
Current asset investment
Cash and cash equivalents

2020
£’000

1

3

8,598

24,770

25,429

54,221

3,621

3,267

37,649

82,261

Receivables:
Other receivables

16.4 Fair values of ﬁnancial assets and ﬁnancial liabilities
Financial assets and ﬁnancial liabilities are either carried in the statement of ﬁnancial position at their fair value (investments
and derivatives) or the statement of ﬁnancial position amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value (due from brokers,
dividend and interest receivable, due to brokers, accruals, cash at bank, bank overdrafts). The par value of the debenture
stock and unsecured loan notes can be found in note 15 on page 78. The fair value of the 8% debenture stock at
31 October 2021 was £17,537,000 (2020: £18,140,000). The fair values are calculated using prices quoted on the exchange
on which the instruments trade and are categorised as Level 1 as described below. In order to comply with fair value
accounting disclosures only, the fair value of the unsecured loan notes has been estimated to be £134,199,000
(2020: £62,990,000) and is categorised as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy as described below. However, for the purpose
of the daily NAV announcements, the unsecured loan notes are valued at amortised cost in the fair value NAV because they
are not traded and the Directors expect them to be held to maturity and, accordingly, the Directors have assessed that is
the most appropriate value to be applied for this purpose.
The fair value of the unsecured loan notes is calculated using a discount rate which reﬂects the yield of a UK gilt of similar
maturity plus a suitable credit spread. The fair value of the Euro unsecured loan notes is calculated using a discount rate
which reﬂects the yield of a Euro swap of similar maturity plus a suitable credit spread.

16.5 Fair value hierarchy disclosures
The table below sets out the fair value measurements using IFRS 13 fair value hierarchy.
Categorisation within the hierarchy has been determined on the basis of the lowest level of input that is signiﬁcant to the fair
value measurement of the relevant asset as follows:
Level 1 – valued using quoted prices in active markets for identical assets.
Level 2 – valued by reference to valuation techniques using observable inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1.
Level 3 – valued by reference to valuation techniques using inputs that are not based on observable market data.
2021
Level 1
£’000

Equity investments
Fixed interest investments
Current asset investments

Level 2
£’000

2020
Level 3
£’000

1,692,168

–

–

–

–

1

8,598

–

–

1,700,766

–

1

Total
£’000

Level 1
£’000

1,692,168 1,246,543

Level 2
£’000

Level 3
£’000

Total
£’000

–

–

1,246,543

–

3

3

1

–

8,598

24,770

–

–

24,770

1,700,767 1,271,313

–

3

1,271,316

A reconciliation of fair value movements within Level 3 is set out below:
2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Opening balance

3

4

Disposal proceeds

(2)

(1)

1

3

Level 3 investments at fair value through proﬁt or loss

The total value of unquoted investments at 31 October 2021 was £1,000 (2020: £3,000).
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16.6 Capital management policies and procedures
The Company’s capital management objectives are:
O

to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern; and

O

to generate total return to its equity shareholders in accordance with its investment objectives through an appropriate
balance of equity capital and debt.

The portfolio includes unquoted investments which represent 0.00006% (2020: 0.0002%) of the total portfolio and which
are held at Directors’ fair value.
The Company’s capital at 31 October 2021 comprised its equity share capital, reserves and debt that are shown in the
statement of ﬁnancial position at a total of £1,726,067,000 (2020: £1,325,803,000).
The Board, with the assistance of Janus Henderson, monitors and reviews the broad structure of the Company’s capital on
an ongoing basis. This review includes:
O

the desirability to buy back equity shares for cancellation or to be held in treasury, which takes account of the
difference between the net asset value per share and the share price (i.e. the level of share price discount or premium);

O

the desirability for new issues of equity shares; and

O

the extent to which revenue in excess of that which is required to be distributed should be retained.

The Company’s policies and processes for managing capital are unchanged from the preceding accounting period.
The Company is subject to several externally imposed capital requirements:
O

as a public company, the Company has a minimum share capital of £50,000;

O

in order to be able to pay dividends out of proﬁts available for distribution by way of dividends, the Company has to be
able to meet one of the capital restriction tests imposed on investment companies by law and its Articles of
Association;

O

the terms of the debenture trust deed have various covenants which prescribe that moneys borrowed should not
exceed 100% of the adjusted total of capital and reserves as deﬁned in the debenture trust deed. These are measured
in accordance with the policies used in the annual ﬁnancial statements; and

O

the terms of the loan notes have various covenants which must also be observed, including that total indebtedness
shall not exceed 40% of net asset value and that the net asset value shall not be less than £500 million.

These requirements were updated following the issue of the new unsecured loan notes and the Company has complied
with them throughout the year.

17

Net asset value per ordinary share
The net asset value per ordinary share is based on net assets attributable to ordinary shares of £1,587,384,000 (2020:
£1,260,971,000) and on 1,313,071,076 ordinary shares in issue at 31 October 2021 (2020: 1,291,577,8301). The Company
has no securities in issue that could dilute the net asset value per ordinary share.
The movements during the year in net assets attributable to the ordinary shares were as follows:

Net assets attributable to ordinary shares at start of year
Total net proﬁt on ordinary activities after taxation

2020
£’000

1,260,971

1,163,209

330,636

59,636

Issue of shares

23,942

65,092

Dividends paid

(28,165)

(26,966)

1,587,384

1,260,971

Net assets attributable to ordinary shares at end of year
1

84

2021
£’000

The comparative ﬁgure for the year ended 31 October 2020 has been restated due to the sub-division of each ordinary share of 25p into 10 ordinary
shares of 2.5p each on 1 March 2021
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Called up share capital
Number of
shares held
in treasury

Number of
shares entitled
to dividend

Total number
of shares

Nominal value
of shares £’000

At 1 November 2020

–

129,157,783

129,157,783

32,289

Issue of new ordinary shares 25p

–

975,000

975,000

244

–

130,132,783

130,132,783

32,533

Issue of new ordinary shares following 10:1
stock split

–

1,171,195,047

1,171,195,047

–

Issue of new ordinary shares of 2.5p

–

13,775,000

13,775,000

345

Buy-back of ordinary shares

2,031,754

(2,031,754)

–

(51)

At 31 October 2021

2,031,754

1,313,071,076

1,315,102,830

32,827

Ordinary shares

During the year 975,000 shares were issued prior to the 10 for 1 share split and 13,775,000, following the 10 for 1 share split
for proceeds of £26,261,000 and 2,031,754 shares were bought back in to treasury for a net payment of £2,274,000.
Number of
shares held
in treasury

Number of
shares entitled
to dividend

Total number
of shares

Nominal value
of shares £’000

At 1 November 2019

1,338,509

122,606,783

123,945,292

30,986

Sale of treasury shares

(1,338,509)

1,338,509

–

–

Issue of new ordinary shares

–

5,212,491

5,212,491

1,303

At 31 October 2020

–

129,157,783

129,157,783

32,289

Ordinary shares

In the year ended 31 October 2020 5,212,491 new shares were issued and 1,338,509 shares held in treasury were sold for
a net consideration of £69,092,000.
Since the year end, the Company has not issued, sold out of treasury or bought back any shares.

19

Share premium account
2021
£’000

2020
£’000

At start of year

134,125

78,541

Issue of shares

25,862

55,714

(190)

(130)

159,797

134,125

Less: issue costs
At end of year
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Capital redemption and other capital reserves
Capital
redemption
reserve
£’000

Capital reserve
arising
on investments
sold
£’000

Capital reserve
arising on
revaluation of
investments held
£’000

Total other
capital
reserves
£’000

12,489

715,226

328,456

1,043,682

Transfer on disposal of assets

–

66,013

(66,013)

–

Net gains on investments

–

33,831

275,602

309,433

Net (losses)/gains on foreign exchange

–

(836)

394

(442)

Costs relating to sub-division of shares

–

(45)

–

(45)

51

(2,274)

–

(2,274)

–

(6,723)

–

(6,723)

12,540

805,192

538,439

1,343,631

Capital
redemption
reserve
£’000

Capital reserve
arising
on investments
sold
£’000

Capital reserve
arising on
revaluation of
investments held
£’000

Total other
capital
reserves
£’000

12,489

673,657

323,556

997,213

–

63,580

(63,580)

–

Net (losses)/gains on investments

–

(24,709)

68,475

43,766

Net gains on foreign exchange

–

242

5

247

Sale of 1,338,509 shares from treasury

–

8,205

–

8,205

At 1 November 2020

Buy-back of 2,031,754 shares to treasury
Expenses and ﬁnance costs allocated
to capital
At 31 October 2021

At 1 November 2019
Transfer on disposal of assets

Expenses and ﬁnance costs allocated
to capital
At 31 October 2020

21

(5,749)

–

(5,749)

715,226

328,456

1,043,682

Revenue reserve
At start of year

86

–
12,489

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

38,386

43,980

Net revenue proﬁt after tax for the year

28,368

21,372

Dividends paid

(28,165)

(26,966)

At end of year

38,589

38,386
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Reconciliation of liabilities arising from ﬁnancing activities
The following table shows the movements during the period of ﬁnancial liabilities in the statement of ﬁnancial position:

Non-cash changes
At 1 November
2020
£’000

Cash
ﬂows
£’000

Amortisation
of issue costs
£’000

Financing liabilities

64,832

74,232

13

(394)

138,683

Closing liabilities from ﬁnancing activities

64,832

74,232

13

(394)

138,683

At 1 November
2019
£’000

Cash
ﬂows
£’000

Amortisation
of issue costs
£’000

Financing liabilities

64,823

–

Closing liabilities from ﬁnancing activities

64,823

–

Foreign
exchange
£’000

At 31 October
2021
£’000

Financing activities

Non-cash changes
Foreign
exchange
£’000

At 31 October
2020
£’000

9

–

64,832

9

–

64,832

Financing activities
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Contingent Liabilities, Guarantees and Financial Commitments
At 31 October 2021 there were no contingent liabilities, guarantees or ﬁnancial commitments (2020: £nil).

24

Transactions with Janus Henderson
Under the terms of an agreement effective from 22 July 2014, the Company appointed Janus Henderson to provide
investment management and accounting, administrative and secretarial services. Janus Henderson has contracted with
BNP Paribas Securities Services to provide accounting and administration services. Details of the management fee
arrangements for these services are given in the Business Model on page 29. The total fees paid or payable under this
agreement to Janus Henderson in respect of the year ended 31 October 2021 were £6,143,000 (2020: £5,164,000),
of which £2,190,000 is included in accruals at 31 October 2021 (2020: £1,834,000).
In addition to the above services, Janus Henderson facilitates marketing activities with third parties which are recharged
to the Company. The total fees paid or payable for these activities for the year ended 31 October 2021 amounted to
£115,000 (2020: £115,000), of which £70,000 was outstanding at 31 October 2021 (2020: £87,000). Janus Henderson
also provides marketing services, there is no separate charge for these services.
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Alternative Investment Fund Managers
Directive (‘AIFMD’)
Agreed by the European Parliament and the Council of the
European Union and adopted into UK legislation, the AIFMD
classiﬁes certain investment vehicles, including investment
companies, as Alternative Investment Funds (‘AIFs’) and requires
them to appoint an Alternative Investment Fund Manager
(‘AIFM’) and Depositary to manage and oversee the operations
of the investment vehicle. The Board of the Company retains
responsibility for strategy, operations and compliance and the
Directors retain a ﬁduciary duty to shareholders.

Association of Investment Companies (‘AIC’)
The Company is a member of the AIC which is the trade body
for investment companies and represents the industry in relation
to various matters which impact the regulation of such entities.

Gearing
Gearing means borrowing money to buy assets with the
expectation that the return on investments bought exceeds
the interest cost of the borrowings. The gearing percentage
reﬂects the amount of borrowings (e.g. bank loans, overdrafts
and debt securities) the Company has used to invest in the
market and is calculated by taking the difference between
non-current asset investments (see note 11) and equity
shareholders’ funds (see statement of ﬁnancial position)
dividing by equity shareholders’ funds and multiplying by 100.
The Company can use synthetic gearing through derivatives.
None were used in the year under review.

Investment trusts

The Custodian is responsible for ensuring the safe custody of
the Company’s assets and that all transactions in the
underlying holdings are transacted in an accurate and timely
manner.

Investment trusts are public limited companies, listed on the
London Stock Exchange, which provide shareholders with a
professionally managed portfolio of investments. Investment
trusts are exempt from tax on the capital gains arising on their
investments subject to meeting certain criteria. Income, net of
expenses and tax, is substantially distributed to shareholders.
Investment trusts are also known as investment companies
although the tax legislation retains the reference to
investment trusts.

Depositary

Liquidity

From 22 July 2014 AIFs were required to appoint a Depositary
which has responsibility for overseeing the operations of the
Company, including safekeeping, cash monitoring and
veriﬁcation of ownership and valuation of the underlying
holdings. The Depositary is strictly liable for the loss of any
investments or other assets in its custody unless it has notiﬁed
that it has discharged its liability in certain markets.
The Depositary has conﬁrmed that it has not discharged
liability in relation to any of the Company’s assets.

In the context of the liquidity of shares in the stock market,
this refers to the availability of buyers in the market for the
share in question. Where the market in a particular share is
described as liquid that share is in demand and holders
wishing to sell their shares should ﬁnd ready buyers.
Conversely, where the market in a share is illiquid the difﬁculty
of ﬁnding a buyer tends to depress the price that might be
negotiated for a sale.

Custodian

Derivative
A contract between two or more parties in relation to an
underlying security. The value of a derivative will ﬂuctuate in
accordance with the value of the security and is a form of
gearing as the ﬂuctuations in value are usually greater than the
ﬂuctuations in the underlying security’s value. Examples of
derivatives are put and call options, swap contracts, futures
and contracts for difference.

Market capitalisation (‘market cap’)
The market value of a company calculated by multiplying the
mid-market price per share by the number of shares in issue.

Treasury shares
Shares repurchased by the Company but not cancelled.

Dividend dates
When declared or recommended, each dividend has three key
dates applied to it. The payment date is the date on which
shareholders are to receive their dividend either by BACS
transfer or by receipt of a dividend cheque. The record date
applied to the dividend is used as a cut-off for the Company’s
Registrars to know which shareholders should be paid a
dividend. Only shareholders on the register of members at the
close of business on the record date will receive the dividend.
The ex-dividend date is the business day before the record
date and is the date upon which the Company’s net asset
value per share and share price is to be disclosed ex-dividend.
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Alternative Performance Measures
The Company uses the following Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) throughout the Annual Report, ﬁnancial statements
and notes to the ﬁnancial statements. The APMs are reconciled to the ﬁnancial statements through the narrative below.
The Board believes that each of the APMs, which are typically used within the investment trust sector, provide additional
useful information to shareholders to help assess the Company’s performance against its peer group.

Dividend growth
The amount by which the Company’s annual dividend has increased compared to the previous year, expressed as a percentage
of the previous annual dividend.

Discount or premium
The amount by which the market price per share of an investment trust is either higher (premium) or lower (discount) than the
NAV per share, expressed as a percentage of the NAV per ordinary share.
31 October 2021

31 October 2020

Net asset value per ordinary share (pence)

(A)

120.9

97.61

Share price per share (pence)

(B)

114.0

98.01

(Discount) or Premium (C= (B-A)/A) (%)

(C)

(5.7)

0.4

Gearing/(net cash)
Gearing represents the excess amount above shareholders’ funds of total investments, expressed as a percentage of the
shareholders’ funds. If the amount calculated is negative, this is a ‘net cash’ position and no gearing.
2021

2020

(A)

1,692,169

1,246,546

Net assets (page 67) (£’000)

(B)

1,587,384

1,260,971

Gearing/(net cash) (C = (A/B) – 1) (%)

(C)

6.6

(1.1)

Investments held at fair value through proﬁt or loss (page 77) (£’000)

Net asset value (‘NAV’) per ordinary share
The value of the Company’s assets (i.e. investments held at fair value through proﬁt or loss (see note 11) and cash held (see
statement of ﬁnancial position)) less any liabilities (i.e. ﬁnancial liabilities (see notes 14 and 15)) for which the Company is
responsible divided by the number of ordinary shares in issue (see note 18). The aggregate NAV is also referred to as Total equity
in the statement of ﬁnancial position. The NAV per ordinary share is published daily and the year end NAV can be found on
page 67 and further information is available on page 84 in note 17 within the notes to the ﬁnancial statements.

Net asset value (‘NAV’) with debt at market value
The Company’s debt (bank borrowings, debentures and secured notes, further details can be found in note 15 on page 78) is
valued in the statement of ﬁnancial position (page 67) at amortised cost, which is materially equivalent to the repayment value of
the debt on assumption that it is held to maturity. This is often referred to as ‘Debt at Par’. The current market value of the debt,
which assumes it is repaid under current market conditions, is referred to as ‘Debt at Market Value’. This market value is detailed
in note 16.4 on page 83 but excludes the market value of the unsecured loan notes which remains valued at amortised cost for
the calculation of NAV with debt at market value. The difference between the market and par values of the debt is subtracted
from or added to the statement of ﬁnancial position on page 67 to derive the NAV with debt at market value. The NAV with debt
at market value at 31 October 2021 was £1,584,847,000 (120.7p per ordinary share) and the NAV with debt at par was
£1,587,384,000 (120.9p per ordinary share).

1
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Alternative Performance Measures (continued)
Ongoing charge
The ongoing charge has been calculated in accordance with guidance issued by the AIC as the total investment management
fees and administrative expenses and expressed as a percentage of the average daily net asset values throughout the year.
2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Management fee (note 5)

6,143

5,164

Other administrative expenses (note 6)

1,074

1,086

Less: non-recurring expenses
Ongoing charge
Average net assets¹
Ongoing charge
1

(76)

(162)

7,141

6,088

1,472,895

1,225,145

0.48%

0.50%

Calculated using the average daily net asset value

The ongoing charge calculated above is different from the ongoing costs provided in the Company’s Key Information Document
(‘KID’), which are calculated in line with the PRIIPs regulations. The ongoing costs in the KID includes ﬁnance costs, stock
lending fees and costs of holding other investment funds within the Company’s investment portfolio.

Revenue return per share
The revenue return per share is the revenue return for the year (see statement of comprehensive income) divided by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year (see note 9 on page 76).

Total return
The return on the share price or NAV with debt at market value taking into account both the rise and fall of NAVs/share prices and
dividends paid to shareholders. Any dividends received by a shareholder are assumed to have been reinvested in either additional
shares (for share price total return) or the Company’s assets (for NAV with debt at market value total return). Dividends paid and
payable are set out in note 10 on page 76.
The Company’s NAV performance is calculated using the published NAV with debt at market value. This NAV includes the value of
the debentures at market value rather than amortised cost.
NAV per share
with debt at
market value

Share price

NAV/share price per share at 31 October 2020 (pence)

97.4

98.0

NAV/share price per share at 31 October 2021 (pence)

120.7

114.0

1

Change in the year
Impact of dividends reinvested
Total return for the year

23.9%

16.3%

1.9%

1.9%

26.4%

18.6%

Yield
The yield is the annual dividend expressed as a percentage of the year end share price.
31 October
2021

31 October
2020

Annual dividend (pence)

(A)

2.176

2.1541

Share price (pence)

(B)

114.0

98.01

Yield (C=A/B) (%)

(C)

1.9

2.2

1

Prior year numbers have been adjusted for the 10 for 1 sub-division of shares on 1 March 2021
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General Shareholder Information
AIFMD disclosures
In accordance with the Alternative Investment Fund
Managers Directive (‘AIFMD’), information in relation to the
Company’s leverage and remuneration of Janus Henderson,
as the Company’s Alternative Investment Fund Manager
(‘AIFM’) are required to be made available to investors. These
disclosures, including those on the AIFM’s remuneration
policy, are contained in a separate document called ‘AIFMD
Disclosure’ which can be found on the Company’s website
www.bankersinvestmenttrust.com.

BACS
Dividends can be paid to shareholders by means of BACS
(Bankers’ Automated Clearing Services); mandate forms for
this purpose are available from the UK Registrar, Equiniti
Limited. Alternatively, shareholders can write to the UK
Registrar (the address is given on page 94) to give their
instructions; these must include the bank account number,
the bank account title and the sort code of the bank to which
payments are to be made.

FATCA is a United States federal law enacted in 2010 whose
intent is to enforce the requirement for United States persons
(including those living outside the US) to ﬁle yearly reports on
their non-US ﬁnancial accounts. As a result of HMRC’s
change of interpretation on the meaning of shares and
securities ‘regularly traded on an established securities
market’, investment trusts now need to monitor each year the
trading volume and frequency of their shares and securities to
assess whether they have ﬁnancial accounts. The Company
therefore needs to make an annual assessment, before the
FATCA return is due, to determine if the shares represent
ﬁnancial accounts and, where they do, needs to identify and
report US reportable accounts to HMRC, as required.

General Data Protection Regulation (‘GDPR’)
GDPR came into force on 25 May 2018. A privacy statement
can be found on the website www.janushenderson.com.

Shareholders on the register in New Zealand can have their
dividends paid in New Zealand dollars by writing to the New
Zealand Registrar, Computershare Investor Services Limited
(the address is given on page 94).

ISA

Common Reporting Standard

Non-Mainstream Pooled Investments
(‘NMPI’) status

Tax legislation under the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development Common Reporting Standard for
Automatic Exchange of Financial Account Information was
introduced with effect from 1 January 2016. The legislation
requires the Company to provide personal information to
HMRC on certain investors who purchase shares in investment
trusts. This information is provided annually to the local tax
authority of the tax residencies of a number of non-UK based
certiﬁcated shareholders and corporate entities.

Equality Act 2010
Copies of this report and other documents issued by
the Company are available from the Corporate Secretary.
If needed, copies can be made available in a variety of
formats, including Braille or larger type as appropriate.
You can contact the UK Registrar, which has installed
textphones to allow speech and hearing impaired people
who have their own textphone to contact them directly,
without the need for an intermediate operator by dialling
0371 384 2255. Specially trained operators are available during
normal business hours to answer queries via this service.
Alternatively, if you prefer to go through a ‘typetalk’ operator
(provided by the Royal National Institute for Deaf People) dial
18001 followed by the number you wish to dial.
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Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act
(‘FATCA’)

The Company intends to continue to manage its affairs in
order to qualify as an eligible investment for a stocks and
shares ISA.

The Company currently conducts its affairs so that its ordinary
shares of 2.5p each can be recommended by IFAs to ordinary
retail investors in accordance with the Financial Conduct
Authority’s (‘FCA’) rules in relation to non-mainstream
investment products and intends to continue to do so for the
foreseeable future. The shares are excluded from the FCA’s
restrictions which apply to non-mainstream investment
products because they are shares in an investment trust.

Packaged Retail and Insurance-based
Investment Products Regulation (‘PRIIPs’)/
Key Information Document (‘KID’)
Investors should be aware that the PRIIPs Regulation requires
the Manager, as the PRIIP manufacturer, to prepare a key
information document in respect of the Company. This KID
must be made available by the Manager to retail investors
prior to them making any investment decision and is available
on the Company’s website. The Company is not responsible
for the information contained in the KID and investors should
note that the procedures for calculating the risks, costs and
potential returns are prescribed by the law. The ﬁgures in the
KID may not reﬂect the expected returns for the Company and
anticipated performance returns cannot be guaranteed.
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General Shareholder Information (continued)
Performance details/share price information
Details of the Company’s share price and NAV per share can
be found on www.bankersinvestmenttrust.com. The
Company’s NAV per share is published daily.

Shareholder details
Shareholders who hold their shares in certiﬁcated form can
check their shareholding with the Registrar (contact details
can be found on page 94).
There is now a range of shareholder information online.
You can check your holding and ﬁnd practical help on transferring
shares or updating your details at www.shareview.co.uk.

Share price listings
The market price of the Company’s ordinary shares is published
daily in the Financial Times. The Financial Times also shows
ﬁgures for the estimated NAV per share and the discount.
The market price of the Company’s shares can be found in
the London Stock Exchange Daily Ofﬁcial List.

Warning to shareholders
Many companies have become aware that their shareholders have received unsolicited phone calls or correspondence
concerning investment matters. These are typically from overseas-based ‘brokers’ who target UK shareholders offering to
sell them what often turn out to be worthless or high risk shares in US or UK investments. They can be very persistent and
extremely persuasive. Shareholders are therefore advised to be very wary of any unsolicited advice, offers to buy shares at
a discount or offers of free company reports.
Please note that it is very unlikely that either the Company or the Company’s UK Registrar, Equiniti Limited, or the New Zealand
Registrar, Computershare Investor Services Limited, would make unsolicited telephone calls to shareholders and that any such
calls would relate only to ofﬁcial documentation already circulated to shareholders and never in respect of investment ‘advice’.
If you are in any doubt about the veracity of an unsolicited phone call, please call either the Corporate Secretary or the
Registrar at the numbers provided on page 94.
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Service Providers
Registered ofﬁce

Financial calendar

201 Bishopsgate
London EC2M 3AE

Henderson Investment Funds Limited
201 Bishopsgate
London EC2M 3AE

Annual results
Ex dividend date
Dividend record date
Annual General Meeting
Final dividend payable on
1st interim dividend payable on
Half year results
2nd interim dividend payable on
3rd interim dividend payable on

Corporate Secretary

Information sources

Henderson Secretarial Services Limited
201 Bishopsgate
London EC2M 3AE
Telephone: 020 7818 1818

For more information about The Bankers Investment Trust PLC,
visit the website at www.bankersinvestmenttrust.com.

Service providers
Alternative Investment Fund Manager

Depositary and Custodian
BNP Paribas Securities Services
10 Harewood Avenue
London NW1 6AA

announced January 2022
27 January 2022
28 January 2022
24 February 2022
28 February 2022
31 May 2022
announced June/July 2022
31 August 2022
30 November 2022

To sign up for expert insights about investment trusts,
updates from our fund managers as well as AGMs and Trust
TV episodes, please visit this page: www.janushenderson.
com/en-gb/investor/subscriptions. Follow the Janus
Henderson Investment Trusts on LinkedIn – Janus Henderson
Investment Trusts, UK.

Stockbrokers
UK
JP Morgan Cazenove
25 Bank Street
Canary Wharf, London E14 5JP

New Zealand
Jarden Securities Limited
Level 20
ANZ Centre
23-29 Albert Street
PO Box 5333
Auckland, New Zealand

Registrar
UK
Equiniti Limited
Aspect House
Spencer Road
Lancing, West Sussex BN99 6DA
Telephone: 0371 384 2471 (or +44 121 415 7049 if calling from
overseas). Lines are open 8.30 am to 5.30 pm, UK time Monday
to Friday excluding public holidays in England and Wales.

New Zealand
Computershare Investor Services Limited
Private Bag 92119
Victoria Street West
Auckland 1142, New Zealand
Telephone: (New Zealand) (64) 09 488 8777

Independent Auditor
Ernst & Young LLP
25 Churchill Place
London E14 5EY
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Investing
Shares can be purchased in the market via a stockbroker or
through share dealing platforms. They can also be held through
share plans, ISAs or pensions and links to various providers are
included on the website.
Potential investors are reminded that the value of investments
and the income from them may go down as well as up and
investors may not receive back the full amount invested. Tax
beneﬁts may vary as a result of statutory changes and their value
depends on individual circumstances.

Nominee share code
Where notiﬁcation has been provided in advance, the Company
arranges for copies of shareholder communications to be
provided to the operators of nominee accounts. Nominee
investors may attend general meetings and speak at them when
invited to do so by the Chair.
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Securities Financing Transactions
The Company engages in securities ﬁnancing transactions (as deﬁned in Article 3 of Regulation (EU) 2015-2365, securities
ﬁnancing transactions include repurchase transactions, securities or commodities lending and securities or commodities
borrowing, buy-sell back transactions and margin lending transactions). In accordance with Article 13 of the Regulation, the
Company’s involvement in and exposures related to securities lending for the year ended 31 October 2021 are detailed below.

Global data
The amount of securities on loan as a proportion of total lendable assets and the Company’s net assets as at 31 October 2021
are disclosed below:
Stock lending
Market value of securities on loan £’000
71,929

% of lendable assets

% of assets under management

4.25

4.53

Concentration data
The 10 largest collateral issuers across all the securities ﬁnancing transactions as at 31 October 2021 are disclosed below:

Issuer

Market value of
collateral received
£’000

UK Treasury

27,170

US Treasury

20,520

Government of France

13,897

Government of Belgium

11,105

Government of Japan

3,552

Land Niedersachsen

2,095

KFW

1,289
79,628

All counterparties are shown.

Issuer

BNP Paribas

Market value of
securities on loan
£’000

59,824

HSBC

7,409

Société Générale

4,696
71,929

All counterparties are shown.
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Securities Financing Transactions (continued)
Aggregate transaction data
The following table discloses a summary of aggregate transaction data related to the collateral received from securities on loan
as at 31 October 2021:
Stock lending
Counterparty

Counterparty
country of origin Type

BNP Paribas

France

Government Bond Investment Grade Euro

Tri-party

BNP Paribas

26,999

BNP Paribas

France

Government Bond Investment Grade US Dollar

Tri-party

BNP Paribas

20,520

BNP Paribas

France

Government Bond Investment Grade Sterling

Tri-party

BNP Paribas

19,384

HSBC

UK

Government Bond Investment Grade Sterling

Tri-party

BNP Paribas

7,786

Société Générale

France

Government Bond Investment Grade Japanese Yen

Tri-party

BNP Paribas

3,552

Quality

Settlement
Collateral currency basis

Market value
of collateral
received
£'000

Custodian

Société Générale

France

Corporate Bond

Investment Grade Euro

Tri-party

BNP Paribas

1,289

Société Générale

France

Government Bond Investment Grade Euro

Tri-party

BNP Paribas

98
79,628

The lending and collateral transactions are on an open basis and can be recalled on demand.

Re-use of collateral
The Company does not engage in any re-use of collateral.

Return and cost
The return and cost of engaging in securities lending by the Company and the securities lending agent in absolute terms and as
a percentage of overall returns are disclosed below:
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Total gross amount of
securities lending income

Direct and indirect costs and
fees deducted by securities
lending agent

% return of the securities
lending agent

Net securities lending income
retained by the Company

% return of the Company

£71,000

£11,000

15

£60,000
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Strategic Report
US economy
forecast to grow

World economy
forecast to grow

3.7%

4.1%

in 2022 (2021: 5.6%)

Investment objective
Over the long term, the Company
aims to achieve capital growth in
excess of the FTSE World Index and
dividend growth greater than inﬂation, as
measured by the UK Consumer Price
Index (‘CPI’), by investing in companies
listed throughout the world.

in 2022 (2021: 5.5%)

Global
Spotlight
US 10 year treasury yield
forecast

Forecast increase in global
earnings per share

2.3%

7.3%

for 2022 (2021: 1.75%)

A brief history
The Company was incorporated
in 1888. Since seven of the nine
original Directors were bankers by
profession, the name The Bankers’
Investment Trust, Limited
was considered appropriate.
The Company has paid dividends on
the ordinary shares every year since
incorporation except in
the years 1892 and 1893 and
has increased dividends paid
each year since 1966.

to 31 December 2022
(2021: 51.1%)

Sources: J.P.Morgan and World Bank
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